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The Issuer and the Guarantors have confirmed that this Prospectus contains all information regarding
the Issuer, the Guarantors and the Group (as defined below) and the Notes which is (in the context of
the issue of the Notes and the giving of the Guarantees (as defined herein)) material; such information
is true and accurate in all material respects and is not misleading in any material respect; any
opinions, predictions or intentions expressed in this Prospectus on the part of the Issuer or the
Guarantors are honestly held or made and are not misleading in any material respect; this Prospectus
does not omit to state any material fact necessary to make such information, opinions, predictions or
intentions (in such context) not misleading in any material respect.
The Issuer and the Guarantors accept responsibility for the information contained in this Prospectus
and declare that, having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, the information
contained in this Prospectus to the best of their knowledge is in accordance with the facts and contains
no omission likely to affect its import.
None of the Issuer or the Guarantors have authorised the making or provision of any representation or
information regarding the Issuer, the Guarantors, the Notes or the Guarantees other than as contained
in this Prospectus or as approved for such purpose by the Issuer and the Guarantors. Any such
representation or information should not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer, the
Guarantors, the Trustee, the Paying Agents (each as defined herein) or the Managers.
Neither the Issuer nor the Guarantors nor the Managers have authorised, nor do they authorise, the
making of any offer of the Notes through any financial intermediary, other than offers made by the
Managers which constitute the final placement of the Notes contemplated in this Prospectus.
The distribution of this Prospectus and the offering, sale and delivery of the Notes in certain
jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Prospectus comes are
required by the Issuer, the Guarantors and the Managers to inform themselves about and to observe
any such restrictions. This Prospectus may only be used for the purposes for which it has been
published. For a description of certain restrictions on offers, sales and deliveries of the Notes and on
distribution of this Prospectus and other offering material relating to the Notes, see “Subscription and
Sale”.
In particular, the Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and are
subject to United States tax law requirements. Subject to certain exceptions, the Notes may not be
offered, sold or delivered in the United States or to U.S. persons. The Notes are subject to restrictions
on transferability and resale and may not be transferred or resold in the United States or to
U.S. persons except as permitted under applicable U.S. federal and state securities laws pursuant to a
registration statement or an exemption from registration.
In addition, this Prospectus has not been submitted to the clearance procedure of CONSOB and may
not be used in connection with the offering of the Notes in the Republic of Italy, its territories and
possessions and any areas subject to its jurisdictions other than in accordance with applicable Italian
securities laws and regulations, as more fully set out under “Subscription and Sale”.
Neither the delivery of this Prospectus nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Note shall in any
circumstances create any implication that there has been no adverse change, or any event reasonably
likely to involve any adverse change, in the condition (financial or otherwise) of the Issuer or the
Guarantors or the Group since the date of this Prospectus.
None of the Managers, the Trustee or the Paying Agents make any representation or warranty,
expressed or implied, or accept any responsibility, with respect to the accuracy or completeness of any
of the information in this Prospectus. This Prospectus is not intended to provide the basis for any
credit or other evaluation and should not be considered as a recommendation by the Issuer, the
Guarantors, the Managers, the Trustee or the Paying Agents that any recipient of this Prospectus
should purchase the Notes. In making an investment decision, prospective investors must rely on
their own examination of the Issuer’s and the Guarantors’ businesses and the terms of the offering.
(ii)

Prospective investors should not consider any information contained in this Prospectus to be
investment, legal, business or tax advice. Each prospective investor should consult its own counsel,
business advisor, accountant, tax advisor and other advisors for legal, financial, business, tax and
related advice regarding an investment in the Notes.
Prospective investors should understand that they may have to bear the financial risks of their
investment for an indefinite period of time.
The information set out in the sections of this Prospectus describing clearing arrangements is subject
to any change or reinterpretation of the rules, regulations and procedures of Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg, in each case as currently in effect. The information in such sections
concerning the Clearing Systems has been obtained from sources that the Issuer and the Guarantors
believe to be reliable, but the Issuer and the Guarantors take no responsibility for the accuracy of such
information. If prospective investors wish to use the facilities of any of the Clearing Systems, they
should confirm the continued applicability of the rules, regulations and procedures of the relevant
Clearing System. The Issuer and the Guarantors will not be responsible or liable for any aspect of the
records relating to, or payments made on account of, book-entry interests held through the facilities of
any Clearing System or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such bookentry interests.
The language of this Prospectus is English. Certain legislative references and technical terms have
been cited in their original language in order that the correct technical meaning may be ascribed to
them under applicable law.
Certain figures included in this Prospectus have been subject to rounding adjustments; accordingly,
figures shown for the same category presented in different tables may vary slightly and figures shown
as totals in certain tables, including percentages, may not be an arithmetic aggregation of the figures
which precede them.
______________________
STABILISATION
In connection with the issue of the Notes, UniCredit Bank AG (the “Stabilising Manager”) (or
any person acting for the Stabilising Manager) may over-allot Notes or effect transactions with
a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might
otherwise prevail in the open market. However, there can be no assurance that the Stabilising
Manager (or any person acting on its behalf) will undertake stabilisation action. Any
stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the
terms of the offer of the Notes is made and, if begun, may be discontinued at any time, but must
end no later than the earlier of thirty (30) days after the issue date of the Notes or sixty (60) days
after the date of allotment of the Notes. Such stabilising shall be in compliance with all
applicable laws, regulations and rules.
___________________________
MARKET SHARE INFORMATION AND STATISTICS
This Prospectus contains information and statistics which are derived from, or are based upon, the
Issuer’s analysis of data obtained from miscellaneous sources quoted in “Description of the Issuer –
Competitive Position” on page 101. Such information has been reproduced accurately in this
Prospectus and, as far as the Issuer and the Guarantors are aware, no facts have been omitted which
would render such reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.
___________________________

(iii)

NON-IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES
This Prospectus contains certain non-IFRS financial measures including EBITDA and EBIT.
EBITDA is the difference between revenues from sales and costs of materials, services, and labour,
net of operating income/expenses. It therefore represents the margin achieved prior to amortisation
and depreciation, financial management and taxation.
EBIT is the difference between the gross operating margin and the value of amortisation and
depreciation. It therefore represents the margin achieved prior to financial management and taxation.
It should be noted that EBITDA and EBIT are not recognised as measures of performance or liquidity
under IFRS and should not be recognised as alternatives to operating income or net profit or any other
performance measures derived in accordance with IFRS or any other generally accepted accounting
principles. EBITDA and EBIT are used by management to monitor the underlying performance of
the business and operations. However, EBITDA and EBIT are not indicative of the Group’s historical
operating results, nor are they meant to be predictive of future results. Since not all companies
calculate these measures in an identical manner, the Group’s presentation may not be consistent with
similar measures used by other companies. Therefore, undue reliance should not be placed on these
data. In addition, investors should be aware that the above definition of EBITDA is different from the
definition of “Consolidated EBITDA” in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, which should be
examined with care.
___________________________
CERTAIN DEFINED TERMS
References to the “Issuer” or “LGH” are to Linea Group Holding S.p.A.; references to the “Group”
or the “LGH Group” are to the Issuer and its Subsidiaries (including the Guarantors) taken as a
whole; reference to the “Guarantors” are to AEM Gestioni S.r.l., Astem Gestioni S.r.l., Ecolevante
S.p.A., Greenambiente S.r.l. and Linea Più S.p.A.; and “Subsidiaries” has the meaning given to it in
“Terms and Conditions of the Notes”.
References to the “Joint Lead Managers” are to Banca IMI S.p.A. and UniCredit Bank AG.
References to the “Co-Lead Manager” are to Barclays Bank PLC.
References to the “Managers” are to the Joint Lead Managers together with the Co-Lead Manager.
References to the “Trust Deed” are to the trust deed constituting the Notes dated on or about the
Closing Date (as defined herein) between the Issuer, the Guarantors and BNY Mellon Corporate
Trustee Services Limited in its capacity as trustee, and references to the “Trustee” are to BNY
Mellon Corporate Trustee Services Limited.
References to “€” or “Euro” are to the single currency introduced at the start of the third stage of the
European Economic and Monetary Union pursuant to the Treaty on the functioning of the European
Union, as amended, references to “U.S.$” and “U.S. dollars” are to the lawful currency of the United
States.
Except where indicated, references to “IFRS” in this Prospectus are to International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Commission for use by companies listed on markets
in the European Union.
___________________________
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Prospectus contains certain statements that are, or may be deemed to be, forward-looking,
including statements with respect to the Issuer’s, the Guarantors’ and the Group’s business strategies,
expansion of operations, trends in their business and their competitive advantage, information on
technological and regulatory changes and information on exchange rate risk and generally includes all
statements preceded by, followed by or that include the words “believe”, “expect”, “project”,
“anticipate”, “seek”, “estimate” “aim”, “intend”, “plan”, “continue” or similar expressions. By their
nature, forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties because they
relate to events and depend on circumstances that may or may not occur in the future. Such forwardlooking statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve risks and uncertainties, and
actual results may differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements as a result of various
factors. Potential investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements,
which speak only as of the date hereof.
Any forward-looking statements are only made as of the date of this Prospectus, and the Issuer and
the Guarantors do not intend, and do not assume any obligation, to update forward-looking statements
set forth in this Prospectus. Many factors may cause the Issuer’s, the Guarantors’ or the Group’s
results of operations, financial condition, liquidity and the development of the industries in which they
compete to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements
contained in this Prospectus. Given these uncertainties, investors should not rely on forward-looking
statements as a prediction of actual results.
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RISK FACTORS
Each of the Issuer and the Guarantors believe that the following factors may affect its ability to fulfil
its obligations under the Notes or the Guarantees. Most of these factors are contingencies which may
or may not occur and neither the Issuer nor the Guarantors are in a position to express a view on the
likelihood of any such contingency occurring. In addition, factors which are material for the purpose
of assessing the market risks associated with the Notes are also described below.
Each of the Issuer and the Guarantors believe that the factors described below represent the principal
risks inherent in investing in the Notes but the inability of the Issuer or the Guarantors to pay interest,
principal or other amounts on or in connection with the Notes may occur for other reasons which may
not be considered significant risks by the Issuer and the Guarantors based on information currently
available to them or which they may not currently be able to anticipate. In addition, the order in
which the risk factors are presented below is not indicative of the likelihood that each risk will
materialise or of the magnitude of their potential impact on the business, financial condition or results
of operations of the Issuer or the Guarantors.
Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Prospectus
and carefully assess whether an investment in the Notes is suitable for them in light of the information
in this Prospectus and their personal circumstances, based upon their own judgment and upon advice
from such financial, legal and tax advisers as they consider necessary.
Words and expressions defined in “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” or elsewhere in this
Prospectus have the same meaning in this section. References to a “Condition” is to such numbered
condition in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes. Prospective investors should read the whole
Prospectus, including the information incorporated by reference.
Factors that may affect the Issuer’s ability to fulfil its obligations under the Notes and/or the
Guarantors’ ability to fulfil their obligations under the Guarantees
Please note that the following risk factors affect the Issuer and each of the Guarantors as they form
part of the same Group and operate in the same industry.
The evolution in the legislative and regulatory framework for the electricity, natural gas and waste
sectors poses a risk to the Group.
The LGH Group operates in the utilities sector in Italy, which is heavily regulated by legislation and
subject to close scrutiny by governments and government-appointed regulators. Changes in
applicable legislation and regulation, whether at a national or European level, as well as the
regulations of particular regulatory agencies, including the Authority for Electricity and Gas (Autorità
per I’Energia Elettrica e il Gas) (the “AEEG”) and the manner in which they are interpreted could
affect the Group’s earnings and operations, both through the effect on current operations and also
through the impact on the cost and revenue-earning capabilities of current and future planned
developments in sectors in which the Group conducts its business. Such changes could include
changes in tax rates, legislation and policies, changes in environmental, safety or other workplace
laws. Public policies related to waste, energy, energy efficiency and/or air emissions, may have an
impact on the overall market and particularly the public sector. The Group operates its business in a
political, legal, and social environment which is expected to continue to have a material impact on the
performance of the Group. Regulation affects many aspects of the Group’s business and, in many
respects, determines the manner in which the Group conducts its business and the fees it charges or
obtains for its products and services. Any new or substantially altered rules and standards may
adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
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The Group is dependent on concessions from local authorities for its regulated activities.
The Group’s regulated activities account for a significant proportion of its revenues (according to the
Issuer’s estimates, more than a third of the Group’s EBITDA for the year ended 31 December 2012).
These regulated activities are dependent on concessions from local authorities (in the case of gas
distribution and waste management) and from national authorities (in the case of electricity
distribution), that vary in duration across the Group’s business areas. For further information on the
principal concessions granted to the Group, their original expiry date and the extension regime which
such concessions are subject to, see “Description of the Issuer – Key Concessions”, below. In
addition, legislation in Italy could affect the expiry date of certain concessions (see “– The evolution
in the legislative and regulatory framework for the electricity, natural gas and waste sectors poses a
risk to the Group” above and “– Uncertainty in the current legislation concerning the expiry of
concessions in the waste sector” below). Both in the case of expiry of a concession at its stated expiry
date and in the case of early termination for any reason whatsoever (including failure by a concession
holder to fulfil its material obligations under its concession), each concession holder must continue to
operate the concession until it is replaced by the new incoming concession holder.
Each concession is governed by agreements with the relevant grantor requiring the relevant
concession holder to comply with certain obligations (including performing regular maintenance) and
is subject to penalties or sanctions for the non-performance or default under the relevant concession.
Failure by a concession holder to fulfil its material obligations under a concession could, if such
failure is left unremedied, lead to early termination by the grantor of the concession. Furthermore, in
accordance with general principles of Italian law, a concession can be terminated early for reasons of
public interest. In either case, the relevant concession holder might be required to transfer all of the
assets relating to the operation of the concession to the grantor or to the incoming concession holder.
No assurance can be given that the Group will be successful in renewing its existing concessions or in
obtaining new concessions to permit it to carry on its business once its existing concessions expire, or
that any new concessions entered into or renewals of existing concessions will be on terms similar to
those of its current concessions. Any failure by the Group to obtain new concessions or renew
existing concessions, in each case on similar or otherwise favourable terms, could have a material
adverse impact on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
Uncertainty in the current legislation concerning the expiry of concessions in the waste sector.
Legislation in recent years providing for the early expiry of concessions for local public services has
given rise to concerns as to how it will affect the business of operators in the sector such as the Group.
In particular, under Article 23-bis of Law Decree No. 112 of 25 June 2008 (as amended) provided for
the automatic early expiry of concessions in certain sectors (including waste) that had not originally
been awarded on the basis of a public tender. However, a referendum in June 2011 revoked
Article 23-bis and subsequent legislation fell foul of the Constitutional Court in July 2012, as it was
held to be an attempt to introduce provisions that were analogous to those that had already been
barred by the referendum. The current position leaves considerable room for doubt regarding the
provisions in force and the applicable expiry dates for the Group’s concessions in the waste sector,
and it is not known when the present uncertainty will be resolved. For further information, see
“Regulation – Regulations applicable to the supply of local public services”.
As previously stated, the expiry of any concessions held by the Group may adversely affect its
business, financial condition or results of operations and there can be no assurance that the current
legislative uncertainty will be resolved or that any new legislation will be any more favourable to the
Group.
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The Group’s ability to achieve its strategic objectives could be impaired if the Group is unable to
maintain or obtain the required licences, permits and approvals.
The strategic development plan of the LGH Group provides for considerable investments. The
Group’s activities entail exposure to regulatory, technical, commercial, economic and financial risks
related to the obtaining of the relevant permits and approvals from regulatory, legal, administrative,
tax and other authorities and agencies. The processes for obtaining these permits and approvals are
often lengthy, complex, unpredictable and costly. If the Group is unable to maintain or obtain the
relevant permits and approvals, its ability to achieve its strategic objectives could be impaired, with a
consequent adverse impact on its business, financial condition and results of operations.
The Group is exposed to revision of tariffs in the energy sector.
The Group operates, inter alia, in the energy sector and is exposed to a risk of variation in the tariffs
applied to end users. The tariffs payable by customers in the energy sector (distribution, transmission
and metering) may be subject to certain variations since the components of the tariff are adjusted by
the AEEG with reference to four-year regulatory periods. In particular, during the third regulatory
period for the energy networks market, the AEEG introduced various new regulations governing
tariffs, which continue to give rise to a number of uncertainties resulting from the AEEG’s failure to
define some of the items required to be taken into account for the purposes of setting tariffs. In
particular, as at the date of this Prospectus, there is still a degree of uncertainty regarding the
mechanism for determining costs incurred in the development of electronic metering systems and the
marketing of transport services. Should any such changes and uncertainties result in decreases of the
tariffs, it could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results
of operations.
The Group is exposed to risks associated with fluctuations in the prices of certain commodities.
The Group is exposed to price risk, including related currency risk, on the energy commodities traded,
being electrical energy, natural gas, coal, etc., as both purchases and sales are affected by fluctuations
in the price of such energy commodities directly or through indexing formula. These fluctuations
affect the Group’s results both directly and indirectly, through indexing mechanisms contained in
pricing formulas. The Group seeks to manage risks associated with the misalignment between the
index-linking formulae governing its purchase price for gas and electricity and the index-linking
formulae linked to the price at which it may sell these commodities. Nonetheless, the Group has not
eliminated its exposure to price fluctuations and substantial variations in fuel, raw material or
electricity prices, or any significant interruption in supplies, could have an adverse impact on its
business, results of operations and financial condition.
The economic downturn in Italy has led to a decline in demand for natural gas and electrical
energy consumption.
The economy in Italy, the Group’s only market, has been affected in recent years by a significant
slowdown. On a countrywide level, for example, 2009 saw the first reduction in demand for electric
power and also for waste services in Italy since 1981. The Issuer expects that, for the remainder of
2013 and for the near future, demand for energy may be lower than the levels reached before the
economic crisis. In addition, the decrease in demand for energy has put pressure on sales margins,
due also to greater competition, particularly in the natural gas sector. Under these conditions, without
corresponding adjustments in the margins achieved by its sales or without an increase in market share,
the Group’s revenues would be reduced and future growth prospects would be limited, which could
have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of operations.
Risks related to fluctuations in electrical energy consumption
Changes in retail electricity consumption could require the Group to acquire or sell additional
electricity on unfavourable terms. Consumption may vary substantially due to factors outside of the
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Group’s control, such as overall economic activity and the weather, and sales volumes may differ
from the supply volumes that the Group previously expected to utilise from electricity purchase
contracts. Differences between actual sales volumes and supply volumes may require the Group to
purchase additional electricity or sell excess electricity, both of which are themselves subject to
market conditions, which may change according to multiple factors, including weather, plant
availability, transmission congestion and input fuel costs. The purchase of additional electricity at
high prices or sale of excess electricity at low prices could adversely affect the business, results of
operations and financial condition of the Group.
The Group faces increasing competition in the energy market.
The energy markets in which the Issuer operates are undergoing a process of gradual liberalisation in
Italy and, as a consequence, the Group faces increasing competition. In particular, the Group already
faces significant competition in the electricity business, in which it competes with national and
international producers and traders who sell electricity in the Italian market to industrial, commercial
and residential clients. Similarly, in the natural gas business, the Group faces increasing competition
from both national and international natural gas suppliers, which may result in reduced natural gas
selling margins. Furthermore, a number of national gas producers from countries with large gas
reserves have begun to sell natural gas directly to final clients in Italy, representing a potential threat
to the market position of operators such as the LGH Group, which resell gas purchased from
producing countries to final customers.
The Group’s ability to develop its businesses and improve its financial results may be constrained by
increased competition and the Group may be unable to offset the financial effects of decreases in
production and sales of electricity through efficiency improvements or expansion into new business
areas or markets. Any failure by the Group to respond effectively to increased competition may have
a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
Service interruptions, systems failures or shortages could adversely affect profitability.
The Group controls and operates plants and infrastructure for the supply of utilities and maintains the
associated assets with the objective of providing a continuous service. In exceptional circumstances,
electricity or gas shortages, or the failure of parts of the network or supporting plant and equipment,
could result in the interruption of service or catastrophic damages resulting in loss of life and/or
environmental damage and/or economic and social disruption. Power interruptions may be caused by
natural disasters, severe weather conditions, increases in demand or by environmental factors, such as
climate change, which may exacerbate seasonal fluctuations in supply availability. In the event of a
shortage or interruption in supplies, the Group may incur additional costs in order to provide
emergency supplies. The Group maintains insurance against some, but not all, of these events but no
assurance can be given that its insurance will be adequate to cover any direct or indirect losses or
liabilities it may suffer. In addition, risk arises from adverse publicity that these events may generate
and the consequent damage to the Issuer’s reputation. The occurrence of any of the events described
above could adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition or results of operations.
Risks related to weather and atmospheric conditions
The Group’s business includes hydroelectric generation and, accordingly, it is dependent upon rainfall
in the areas where its hydroelectric generation facilities are located. If there is a drought, the output of
the Group’s hydroelectric plants is depleted. At the same time, the electrical business is affected by
atmospheric conditions such as average temperatures, which influence consumption. Significant
changes in weather conditions from year to year may affect demand for natural gas and electricity, as
in colder years the demand is normally higher. Accordingly, the results of operations of the gas and
electricity segments and, to a lesser extent, the comparability of results over different periods, may be
affected by such changes in weather conditions. Furthermore, power plants and natural gas fields are
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exposed to extreme weather phenomena that can result in material disruption to the Group’s
operations and consequent loss or damage to properties and facilities.
The Group is exposed to operational risks through its ownership and management of power
stations, waste management and distribution networks and plants.
The main operational risk to which the Issuer is exposed is linked to the ownership and management
of power stations, waste management assets and distribution networks and plants. These risks include
extreme weather phenomena, natural disasters, fire, terrorist attacks, mechanical breakdown of or
damage to equipment or processes, accidents and labour disputes. In particular, these risks could
cause significant damage to the Group’s property, plant and equipment and, in more serious cases,
may compromise the Group’s production capacity. In addition, the Group’s distribution networks are
exposed to malfunctioning and service interruption risks which may be beyond its control and may
result in increased costs. The Issuer’s insurance coverage may prove insufficient to fully compensate
for such losses.
The Group believes that its systems of prevention and protection within each operating area, which
operate according to the frequency and gravity of the particular events, its ongoing maintenance plans,
the availability of strategic spare parts and insurance cover enable the Group to mitigate the economic
consequences of potentially adverse events that might be suffered by any of its plants or networks.
However, there can be no assurance that maintenance and spare parts costs will not rise, that
insurance products will continue to be available on reasonable terms or that any one event or series of
events affecting any one or more plants or networks will not have an adverse impact on the Group’s
business, financial condition and results of operations.
Risks deriving from extensive rules and regulations relating to the areas in which the Group
operates
Compliance with environmental laws, rules and regulations requires the Group to incur significant
costs relating to environmental monitoring, installation of pollution control equipment, emission fees,
maintenance and upgrading of facilities, performing clean-ups (in the event of latent or future damage
to the environment) and obtaining permits. The costs of compliance with existing environmental law
requirements or those not yet adopted may increase in the future. Any increase in such costs could
have an adverse impact on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
The Group may incur significant environmental expenses and liabilities.
The risks of environmental and health and safety accidents and liabilities are inherent in many of the
Group’s operations which, among other things, involve the handling of hazardous substances, such as
fuel and waste. As a result, it is always possible that incidents such as blow-outs, spillover,
contamination and similar events will occur, resulting in damage to the environment, employees
and/or local communities. Although the Group has accrued risk provisions aimed at coping with
existing environmental expenses and liabilities, it may in the future incur significant environmental
expenses and liabilities in addition to the amounts already accrued owing to: (i) unknown
contamination; (ii) the results of ongoing surveys or future surveys on the environmental status of
certain of the Group’s industrial sites as required by applicable regulations on contaminated sites and
(iii) the possibility that proceedings will be brought against the Group in relation to such matters,
resulting in fines for breaches, the loss of licences and damage to its reputation. Any of these matters
could have an adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
Risks related to information technology
The Group’s operations are supported by complex information systems, specifically with regard to its
technical, commercial and administrative divisions. Information technology risk arises in particular
from issues concerning the adequacy of these systems and the integrity and confidentiality of data and
information. Operating risks connected with the IT system include those interfacing with the Power
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Exchange (Borsa Elettrica) and any accidental unavailability of this system could have considerable
financial consequences connected with the failure to submit energy sale or purchase offers. There can
be no assurance that serious system failures, network disruptions or breaches in security will not occur
and any such failure, disruption or breach may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business,
financial condition or results of operations.
There can be no assurances of the success of any of the Group’s future attempts to acquire
additional businesses or of the Group’s ability to integrate any businesses acquired in the future.
The Issuer has in the past made acquisitions aimed at strengthening its core businesses and may
continue to do so in the future. The success of acquisitions depends in part on the Group’s ability to
identify successfully and acquire, on acceptable terms, suitable companies and other assets and, once
they are acquired, on the successful integration into the Group’s operations, as well as its ability to
identify suitable strategic partners and conclude suitable terms with them. Any inability to implement
an acquisition strategy or a failure in any particular implementation of this strategy could have an
adverse impact on the Group’s business, financial position and results of operations.
Risks relating to legal proceedings
The Group is a defendant in a number of legal proceedings, which are incidental to its business
activities. The Issuer made provision in its consolidated financial statements for legal proceedings
which amounted to €410 thousand as at 30 June 2013. (See “Description of the Issuer – Litigation”,
below). The Group may, from time to time, be subject to further litigation and to investigations by
taxation and other authorities. The Group is not able to predict the ultimate outcome of any of the
claims currently pending against it or future claims or investigations that may be brought against it,
which may be in excess of its existing provision. In addition, it cannot be ruled out that the Group
will in future years incur significant losses over and above the amount of provisions already made in
its financial statements in connection with pending legal claims and proceedings or future claims or
investigations which may be brought owing to: (i) uncertainty regarding the final outcome of such
proceedings, claims or investigations; (ii) the occurrence of new developments that management
could not take into consideration when evaluating the likely outcome of such proceedings, claims or
investigations; (iii) the emergence of new evidence and information; and (iv) the underestimation of
likely future losses. Adverse outcomes in existing or future proceedings, claims or investigations
could have an adverse effect on the business, financial condition and results of operations of the
Group.
Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to fluctuations in interest rates, in particular with respect to medium- to
long-term borrowings bearing interest at a floating rate. The Group attempts to reduce its exposure to
increases in interest rates by entering into swap agreements based on a differential between the
relevant floating rate and one or more pre-determined fixed rates. However, there can be no assurance
that the hedging policy adopted by the Group will actually have the effect of reducing any such losses
and, to the extent that it does not, this may have an adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, financial
condition and results of operations.
Credit risk
Credit risk represents the Group’s exposure to potential losses that may be incurred if a commercial or
financial counterparty fails to meet its obligations. The main credit risks for the Group arise from
trade receivables from the sale of electrical energy, district heating (teleriscaldamento), gas and the
provision of waste management services. This risk has intensified in recent years due to the ongoing
crisis and the Group has reacted by implementing a series of preventive measures, which include
stepping up internal and external credit management and making substantial allocations to the
provision for bad debts. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a default by one or more major
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counterparties and/or a general increase in default rates could have an adverse impact on the Issuer’s
business, financial condition and results of operations.
Funding and liquidity risks
The Group’s ability to borrow from banks or in the capital markets to meet its financial requirements
is dependent on favourable market conditions. Borrowing requirements of the Group’s companies are
pooled by the Group’s central finance department in order to optimise the use of financial resources
and manage net positions and the funding of portfolio consistently with management’s plans while
maintaining a level of risk exposure within prescribed limits. The Group’s approach toward funding
risk is aimed at securing competitive financing and ensuring a balance between average maturity of
funding, flexibility and diversification of sources. However, these measures may not be sufficient to
protect the Group fully from such risk and, in addition to the impact of market conditions, the ability
of the Group to obtain new sources of funding may be affected by contractual provisions of existing
financings (such as change of control clauses, requiring the Group to remain under the control of local
authorities, as well as clauses such as negative pledges that restrict the security that can be given to
other lenders). If insufficient sources of financing are available in the future for any reason, the
Group may be unable to meet its funding requirements, which could materially and adversely affect
its business, results of operations and financial condition.
The Group is exposed to tax uncertainties, which would have an impact on its tax results.
The LGH Group determines the taxation it is required to pay based on its interpretation of applicable
tax laws and regulations. As a result, it may face unfavourable changes in those tax laws and
regulations to which it is subject, including any increase in additional income tax (the so-called
“Robin Hood tax”). The above-mentioned tax (which increased from 6.5% to 10.5%) is applicable
for the three tax years 2011, 2012 and 2013 to a number of taxpayers, including companies engaged in
the energy business, and has been extended to companies operating in the power, gas distribution and
transmission and renewable energy sectors. In addition, additional tax liabilities arising from the
application of this tax cannot lawfully be passed on to the Group’s clients. Any additional taxes or
increases in existing or any new laws or changes in the interpretation of existing laws could have a
material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
The Issuer is a holding company and depends on its operating subsidiaries for funds.
The Issuer’s position within the LGH Group is that of a holding company, whereby it provides
miscellaneous corporate and administrative services to the Group as a whole. The Group’s
revenue-generating operations, on the other hand, are carried out through its subsidiaries and, as a
result, the Issuer depends to a significant extent on the earnings, cash flows and distribution of funds
from its subsidiaries to meet its debt obligations, including its obligations with respect to the Notes.
The Issuer’s subsidiaries (other than the Guarantors) have no obligation, contingent or otherwise, to
pay any amounts due under the Notes or to make funds available to the Issuer to enable it to pay any
amounts due under the Notes. Those subsidiaries may at any time have other liabilities, actual or
contingent, including indebtedness owing to trade creditors or to secured and unsecured lenders or to
the beneficiaries of guarantees given by those subsidiaries. In the event of any winding-up of any
such subsidiary, those liabilities would need to be satisfied before any amounts could be distributed to
the subsidiaries’ shareholder (i.e. to the Issuer or its liquidator). As a result, to the extent that it is
necessary to satisfy the Issuer’s obligations in respect of the Notes by realising the assets of the
Issuer’s directly or indirectly owned subsidiaries, those obligations will effectively be subordinated to
the prior payment of all the debts and other liabilities of those subsidiaries, including the rights of
trade and financial creditors, as well as contingent liabilities, all of which could be substantial.
International financial crisis
Since the second half of 2007, disruption in the global credit markets has created increasingly difficult
conditions in the financial markets. These conditions have resulted in decreased liquidity and greater
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volatility in global financial markets, and continue to affect the functioning of financial markets and
the global economy. In Europe, despite measures taken by several governments, international and
supranational organisations and monetary authorities to provide financial assistance to Eurozone
countries in economic difficulty and to mitigate the possibility of default by certain European
countries on their sovereign debt obligations, concerns persist regarding the debt and/or deficit burden
of certain Eurozone countries, including the Republic of Italy, and their ability to meet future financial
obligations, given the diverse economic and political circumstances in individual member states of the
Eurozone. It remains difficult to predict the effect of these measures on the economy and on the
financial system, how long the crisis will exist and to what extent the Issuer’s business, results of
operations and financial condition may be adversely affected. As a result, the Issuer’s ability to
access the capital and financial markets and to refinance debt to meet the financial requirements of the
Issuer and the Group may be adversely impacted and costs of financing may significantly increase.
This could materially and adversely affect the business, results of operations and financial condition
of the Issuer, with a consequent adverse effect on the market value of the Notes and the Issuer’s
ability to meet its obligations under the Notes.
Risks Factors Relating to the Notes
The Notes are fixed rate securities and are vulnerable to fluctuations in market interest rates.
The Notes will bear interest at a fixed rate. A holder of a security with a fixed interest rate is exposed
to the risk that the price of such security falls as a result of changes in the current interest rate on the
capital markets (“Market Interest Rate”). While the nominal interest rate of a security with a fixed
interest rate is fixed during the life of such security or during a certain period of time, the Market
Interest Rate typically changes on a daily basis. As the Market Interest Rate changes, the price of such
security changes in the opposite direction. If the Market Interest Rate increases, the price of such
security typically falls, until the yield of such security is approximately equal to the Market Interest
Rate. Conversely, if the Market Interest Rate falls, the price of a security with a fixed interest rate
typically increases, until the yield of such security is approximately equal to the Market Interest Rate.
Investors should be aware that movements of the Market Interest Rate could adversely affect the
market price of the Notes.
The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors.
Each potential investor in the Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its
own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:
(i)

have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the
merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by
reference in this Prospectus or applicable supplement;

(ii)

have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its
particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact such investment will
have on its overall investment portfolio;

(iii)

have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the
Notes;

(iv)

understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes; and

(v)

be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for
economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear
the applicable risks.

A potential investor should not invest in the Notes, unless the potential investor has the expertise
(either alone or with a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing
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conditions, the resulting effects on the value of the Notes and the impact this investment will have on
the potential investor’s overall investment portfolio.
The Notes and the Guarantees are unsecured obligations.
The Notes and the Guarantees will be direct, unconditional, unsecured (subject as provided in the
“Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Negative Pledge”) and unsubordinated indebtedness of the
Issuer and the Guarantors, respectively. For more information concerning the ranking of the Notes
and the Guarantees, see “Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Guarantees and Status”.
The restrictions on the creation of security interests and incurrence of debt by the Group are
subject to a number of exceptions, which may affect the Noteholders’ position if additional
guarantees are provided or additional debt is incurred by the Group. Furthermore, the restrictions
may limit the Group’s ability to finance its future operations.
The terms and conditions relating to the Notes contain certain restrictions on the amount of additional
debt which the Issuer and its Subsidiaries may incur. However, a number of exceptions apply, as
more fully described in “Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Covenants”. As a result, in the event of
any insolvency or winding-up of the Issuer or the Guarantors, the Notes or the Guarantees (as the case
may be) will rank equally with the Issuer’s or the Guarantors’ other senior unsecured indebtedness
and, accordingly, any increase in the amount of the Issuer’s or the Guarantors’ unsecured senior
indebtedness in the future may reduce the amount recoverable by Noteholders.
In addition, the Notes are unsecured and, although they restrict the giving of security by the Issuer, the
Guarantors and the Material Subsidiaries, such restrictions only apply to security given to secure
certain types of indebtedness and a number of exceptions apply, all as more fully described in “Terms
and Conditions of the Notes – Negative Pledge”. Where security has been granted over assets of the
Issuer to secure indebtedness, in the event of any insolvency or winding up of the Issuer or the
Guarantors, such secured indebtedness will rank in priority over the Notes and other unsecured
indebtedness of the Issuer or the Guarantors in respect of such assets.
Furthermore, the restriction on the incurrence of additional debt to which the Issuer and its
Subsidiaries are subject and the restrictions to the creation of security interests to which the Issuer, the
Guarantors and the Material Subsidiaries are subject may limit the Group’s ability to finance its future
operations and capital needs and to refinance its indebtedness (including the Notes) and its ability to
pursue business opportunities and activities that may be in its interest. Any such inability could have
a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
The claims of the Noteholders are structurally subordinated with respect to entities that are not
guarantors of the Notes.
The operations of the Group are principally conducted through subsidiaries of the Issuer, including
(but not limited to) the Guarantors. Under the Notes and the Guarantees, Noteholders will not have a
claim against any subsidiaries of the Issuer other than the Guarantors. The assets of the Issuer’s nonguarantor subsidiaries will be subject to claims by creditors of those subsidiaries, whether such
creditors are secured or unsecured, and therefore such creditors will have a call on the assets of the
non-guarantor subsidiaries, while the Noteholders will not.
Optional redemption by the Issuer
In accordance with the Conditions of the Notes, the Notes are subject to optional redemption by the
Issuer. This feature is likely to limit the market value of the Notes. During any period when the
Issuer may elect to redeem the Notes, the market value of the Notes generally will not rise
substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any
redemption period.
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The Issuer may be expected to redeem the Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest
rate on the Notes. At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption
proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes and may only be able to
do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of
other investments available at that time.
Redemption prior to maturity for tax reasons
In the event that the Issuer or the Guarantor would be obliged to increase the amounts payable in
respect of the Notes due to any change in or amendment to the laws or regulations of the Republic of
Italy or any political subdivision thereof or of any authority therein or thereof having the power to tax
or in the interpretation or administration thereof, the Issuer may redeem all outstanding Notes in
accordance with the Conditions of the Notes. If this occurs, there can be no assurance that it will be
possible to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on
the Notes.
The Issuer and the Guarantors may not have sufficient funds at the time of occurrence of a change
of control to redeem outstanding Notes.
Upon the occurrence of certain events relating to the Issuer as set out in “Terms and Conditions of the
Notes – Redemption and Purchase – Redemption at the Option of the Holders upon a Change of
Control” under certain circumstances the Noteholders will have the right to require the Issuer to
redeem their outstanding Notes at their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to
the date of redemption. However, it is possible that the Issuer and the Guarantors will not have
sufficient funds at the time of occurrence of such events to make the required redemption of Notes. In
addition, except as specifically set out in “Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Redemption and
Purchase – Redemption at the Option of the Holders upon a Change of Control”, the Notes do not
contain provisions that provide a right to Noteholders to require the Issuer to purchase or redeem the
Notes in any other circumstances.
Payments in respect of the Notes may in certain circumstances be made subject to withholding or
deduction of tax.
All payments in respect of Notes and the Guarantees will be made free and clear of withholding or
deduction of Italian taxation, unless the withholding or deduction is required by law. In that event,
the Issuer will pay such additional amounts as will result in the Noteholders receiving such amounts
as they would have received in respect of such Notes had no such withholding or deduction been
required. The Issuer’s obligation to gross up is, however, subject to a number of exceptions,
including withholding or deduction of:
(a)

Italian substitute tax (imposta sostitutiva), pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree No. 239 of
1 April 1996; and

(b)

withholding tax operated in certain member states of the European Union (each a “Member
State”) pursuant to EC Council Directive 2003/48/EC and similar measures agreed with the
European Union by certain non-EU countries and territories, a brief description of which is
set out below.

See “Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Taxation”.
Prospective purchasers of Notes should consult their tax advisers as to the overall tax consequences of
acquiring, holding and disposing of Notes and receiving payments of interest, principal and/or other
amounts under the Notes, including in particular the effect of any state, regional or local tax laws of
any country or territory. See also “Taxation”.
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Italian Substitute Tax
Italian substitute tax is applied to payments of interest and other income (including the difference
between the redemption amount and the issue price) at a rate of twenty per cent. (20%) to (i) certain
Italian resident Noteholders and (ii) certain non-Italian resident Noteholders who have not filed in due
time with the relevant depository a declaration (autocertificazione) stating, inter alia, that he or she is
resident for tax purposes in a country which allows for an adequate exchange of information with the
Italian tax authorities.
EU Savings Directive
Under EC Council Directive 2003/48/EC (“EU Savings Directive”) on the taxation of savings
income, Member States are required to provide the tax authorities of another Member State with
details of payments of interest (or similar income) paid by a person within its jurisdiction to an
individual resident in that other Member State or to certain limited types of entities established in that
other Member State. However, for a transitional period Luxembourg and Austria are instead required
(unless during that period they elect otherwise) to operate a withholding system in relation to such
payments. The withholding tax system applies for a transitional period with the rate of withholding
currently at 35%. The transitional period is to terminate at the end of the first full tax year following
agreement by certain non-EU countries to the exchange of information relating to such payments. A
number of non-EU countries and territories have agreed to adopt similar measures (either provision of
information or transitional withholding). On 10 April 2013, Luxembourg officially announced that it
will no longer apply the withholding tax system as from 1 January 2015 and will provide details of
payment of interest (or similar income) as from this date.
The European Commission has proposed certain amendments to the EU Savings Directive which
may, if implemented, amend or broaden the scope of the requirements described above. If a payment
were to be made or collected through a Member State which has opted for a withholding system and
an amount of, or in respect of, tax were to be withheld from that payment, neither the Issuer nor any
Paying Agent nor any other person would be obliged to pay additional amounts with respect to any
Note as a result of the imposition of such withholding tax. The Issuer is required to maintain a Paying
Agent in a Member State that is not obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to the EU Savings
Directive.
Investors must rely on the procedures of the Clearing Systems to trade their beneficial interests in
the Notes and to receive payments under the Notes.
The Notes will be deposited with a Common Safekeeper for the Clearing Systems. Except in the
circumstances described in the relevant Global Note, investors will not be entitled to receive
Definitive Notes. The Clearing Systems will maintain records of the beneficial interests in the Global
Notes. While the Notes are represented by one or more Global Notes, investors will be able to trade
their beneficial interests only through the Clearing Systems. While the Notes are represented by one
or more Global Notes, the Issuer and the Guarantors will discharge their payment obligations under
the Notes by making payments to the Clearing Systems for distribution to their accountholders. A
holder of a beneficial interest in a Global Note must rely on the procedures of the Clearing Systems to
receive payments under the relevant Notes. The Issuer and the Guarantors have no responsibility or
liability for the records relating to, or payments made in respect of, beneficial interests in the Global
Notes. Holders of beneficial interests in the Global Notes will not have a direct right to vote in
respect of the relevant Notes. Instead, such holders will be permitted to act only to the extent that they
are enabled by the Clearing Systems to appoint appropriate proxies.
Minimum Denomination
The Notes are issued in denominations of €100,000 or higher amounts which are integral multiples of
€1,000, up to a maximum of €199,000. Although Notes may not be traded in amounts of less than
€100,000, it is possible that they will be traded in amounts that are not integral multiples of €100,000.
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In such case a Noteholder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds a principal amount of less
than €100,000 may not receive a definitive Note in respect of such holding (should definitive Notes be
printed) and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes such that its holding amounts to the
minimum denomination. If definitive Notes are issued, holders should be aware that definitive Notes
which have a denomination that is not an integral multiple of €100,000 may be illiquid and difficult to
trade.
Risks relating to change of law
The Conditions of the Notes will be based on English law and, in respect of the mandatory provisions
relating to meetings of Noteholders and the Noteholders’ Representative (rappresentante comune), on
Italian law in effect as at the date of this Prospectus. No assurance can be given as to the impact of
any possible judicial decision or change to English law or, as the case may be, Italian law or any
administrative practice thereof after the date of this Prospectus.
Modification and waiver
The terms and conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to
consider matters affecting their interests generally, including, inter alia, any proposal to modify the
maturity of the Notes or the dates on which interest is payable on them, to reduce or cancel the
principal amount of, or interest on, the Notes, or to change the currency of payment of the Notes.
These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including Noteholders who did not
attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the
majority.
The conditions of the Notes also provide that the Trustee may, without the consent of Noteholders or
Couponholders, agree to (i) the waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach of, any of
the provisions of Notes and/or (ii) determine without the consent of the Noteholders or
Couponholders that any Event of Default or potential Event of Default shall not be treated as such,
each in the circumstances described in Condition 14.3 (Modification, Waiver, Authorisation and
Determination).
Insolvency laws applicable to the Issuer may not be as favourable to the Noteholders as bankruptcy
laws in other jurisdictions.
The Issuer and the Guarantors are incorporated in the Republic of Italy. The Issuer and its Italian
subsidiaries (as well as any of its subsidiaries whose centre of interests is deemed to be the Republic
of Italy) will be subject to Italian insolvency laws. The Italian insolvency laws may not be as
favourable to Noteholders’ interests as creditors as the laws of other jurisdictions with which the
Noteholders may be familiar.
For instance, if the Issuer becomes subject to certain bankruptcy proceedings, payments made by the
Issuer in favour of the Noteholders or the Trustee on their behalf, prior to the commencement of the
relevant proceeding, may be liable to claw-back by the relevant liquidator. In particular, in a
bankruptcy proceeding (fallimento), Italian law provides for a claw-back period of up to one year
(six (6) months in some circumstances, two (2) years in other circumstances).
Furthermore, under Italian law, holders of the Notes do not have any right to vote at any shareholders’
meetings of the Issuer. Consequently, Noteholders cannot influence any decisions by the Board of
Directors of the Issuer or any decisions by shareholders concerning the Issuer’s capital structure,
including the declaration of dividends in respect of the Issuer’s ordinary shares.
The Guarantees may be limited by applicable laws or subject to certain defences that may limit
their validity and enforceability.
The Guarantees given by the Guarantors provide Noteholders with a direct claim against the relevant
Guarantor in respect of the Issuer’s obligations under the Notes. Enforcement of each Guarantee
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would be subject to certain generally available defences. Local laws and defences may vary, and may
include those that relate to corporate benefit, fraudulent conveyance or transfer, voidable preference,
financial assistance, corporate purpose, and capital maintenance or similar laws. They may also
include regulations or defences which affect the rights of creditors generally. If a court were to find a
Guarantee given by a Guarantor void or unenforceable as a result of such local laws or defences,
Noteholders would cease to have any claim in respect of that Guarantor and would be creditors solely
of the Issuer and any remaining Guarantors.
Enforcement of the Guarantees is subject to the detailed provisions contained in the Trust Deed (and
any supplemental Trust Deed) which include certain limitations reflecting mandatory provisions of
Italian law.
In particular, for the purpose of (inter alia) Article 1938 of the Italian Civil Code, the obligations of
any Guarantor shall at no time require such Guarantor to pay any amount which exceeds 150 per cent.
of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes.
Risk Factors Relating to Markets Generally
Set out below is a brief description of the principal market risks that may be relevant in connection
with an investment in Notes.
There is no active trading market for the Notes and one cannot be assured.
Application has been made to admit the Notes to the official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange
and for the Notes to be admitted to trading on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange. However, there can be no assurance that the Notes will be accepted for listing or, if listed,
will remain listed. The Notes are new securities for which there is currently no market. There can be
no assurance as to the liquidity of any market that may develop for the Notes, the ability of
Noteholders to sell such Notes or the price at which the Notes may be sold. The liquidity of any
market for the Notes will depend on the number of holders of the Notes, prevailing interest rates, the
market for similar securities and other factors, including general economic conditions, and the Issuer’s
financial condition, performance and prospects. In an illiquid market, the Noteholders might not be
able to sell their Notes at any time at fair market prices.
There can be no assurance that an active trading market for the Notes will develop or, if one does
develop, that it will be maintained. If an active trading market does not develop or cannot be
maintained, this could have a material adverse effect on the liquidity and trading prices for the Notes.
Transfers of the Notes may be restricted, which may adversely affect the secondary market liquidity
and/or trading prices of the Notes.
The ability to transfer the Notes may also be restricted by securities laws or regulations of certain
countries or regulatory bodies. See “Subscription and Sale”.
The Notes have not been, and will not be, registered under the Securities Act or any state securities
laws or the securities laws of any other jurisdiction. Noteholders may not offer the Notes in the
United States or for the account or benefit of a U.S. person except pursuant to an exemption from, or
in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act and applicable state
securities laws. It is the obligation of each Noteholder to ensure that offers and sales of Notes comply
with all applicable securities laws. In addition, transfers to certain persons in certain other
jurisdictions may be limited by law, or may result in the imposition of penalties or liability. For a
description of restrictions which may be applicable to transfers of the Notes, see “Subscription and
Sale”.
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Credit ratings may not reflect all risks.
Credit ratings assigned to the Notes at any time will only reflect the views of the relevant rating
agency and may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional
factors discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not
a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised, suspended or withdrawn by the
rating agency at any time. In addition, and notwithstanding the above, an adverse change in a credit
rating could affect the trading price for the Notes.
Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments.
The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or
review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to
determine whether and to what extent (i) Notes are legal investments for it, (ii) Notes can be used as
collateral for various types of borrowing and (iii) other restrictions apply to the purchase or pledge of
any Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to
determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.
Exchange rate risks and exchange controls
The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes and the Guarantors will make payments under
the Guarantees in Euro. This presents certain risks relating to currency conversions if an investor’s
financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (“Investor’s
Currency”) other than Euro. These include the risk that exchange rates may change significantly
(including changes due to devaluation of the Euro or revaluation of the Investor’s Currency) and the
risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor’s Currency may impose or modify exchange
controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor’s Currency relative to the Euro would decrease
(i) the Investor’s Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes, (ii) the Investor’s Currency-equivalent value
of the principal payable on the Notes and (iii) the Investor’s Currency-equivalent market value of the
Notes.
In addition, government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past)
exchange controls that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, investors may
receive less interest or principal than expected, or no interest or principal.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
The following financial information is incorporated by reference in this Prospectus:
(i)

the audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer and its subsidiaries
(including the Guarantors) as at and for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011
prepared in accordance with IFRS;

(ii)

the unaudited consolidated interim financial statements of the Issuer and its subsidiaries
(including the Guarantors) as at and for the six-month period ended 30 June 2013 prepared in
accordance with IFRS; and

(iii)

the audited non-consolidated annual financial statements of the Guarantors as at and for the
years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011 prepared in accordance with Italian GAAP,

in each case, together with the accompanying notes and auditors’ reports.
Cross-reference list
The tables below show where the information incorporated by reference in this Prospectus can be
found in the above-mentioned documents.
Audited consolidated annual financial statements
of the Issuer
Consolidated statements of financial position
Consolidated income statements
Consolidated statements of comprehensive income
Consolidated statement of changes in equity
Consolidated statements of cash flows
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
Independent auditors’ report

2012

2011

Page 102
Page 104
Page 105
Page 106
Page 107
Page 108
Page 224

Page 100
Page 102
Page 103
Page 104
Page 105
Page 108
Page 233
2013

Unaudited consolidated interim financial statements of the Issuer
Consolidated statements of financial position
Consolidated income statement
Consolidated statements of comprehensive income
Consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ equity
Consolidated statements of cash flows
Notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements
Independent auditors’ report
Audited non-consolidated annual
statements of AEM Gestioni S.r.l.

financial

Balance sheet
Income statement
Explanatory notes to the financial statements
Independent auditors’ report
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Page 29
Page 31
Page 32
Page 33
Page 34
Page 35
Page 66
2012

2011

Page 20
Page 24
Page 26
Page 57

Page 22
Page 25
Page 27
Page 56

Audited non-consolidated annual
statements of Astem Gestioni S.r.l.

financial

Balance sheet
Income statement
Explanatory notes
Independent auditors’ report
Audited non-consolidated annual
statements of Ecolevante S.p.A.

financial

Balance sheet
Income statement
Explanatory notes
Independent auditors’ report
Audited non-consolidated annual
statements of Greenambiente S.r.l.

financial

Balance sheet
Income statement
Explanatory notes
Independent auditors’ report
Audited non-consolidated annual
statements of Linea Più S.p.A.

financial

Balance sheet
Income statement
Explanatory notes
Independent auditors’ report

2012

2011

Page 21
Page 26
Page 29
Page 54

Page 20
Page 24
Page 27
Page 51

2012

2011

Page 16
Page 22
Page 27
Page 51

Page 11
Page 16
Page 20
Page 41

2012

2011

Page 15
Page 19
Page 23
Page 44

Page 15
Page 20
Page 24
Page 45

2012

2011

Page 22
Page 27
Page 31
Page 65

Page 21
Page 26
Page 30
Page 63

Information contained in the above documents other than the information listed in the cross-reference
list above is considered additional information and is not required by the relevant schedules of
Commission Regulation (EC) No. 809/2004 implementing the Prospectus Directive.
The documents set out above are translated into English from the original Italian. The Issuer and,
where applicable, the relevant Guarantor have accepted responsibility for the accuracy of such
translations.
This Prospectus should be read and construed together with the information incorporated by reference
herein. Copies of any document incorporated by reference in this Prospectus are available free of
charge at the specified office of the Paying Agent in Luxembourg, unless such documents have been
modified or superseded. Such documents will also be available for viewing on the website of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu).
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES
The following is the text of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes which (subject to completion and
amendment) will be endorsed on each Note in definitive form. The terms and conditions applicable to
any Note in global form will differ from those terms and conditions which would apply to the Note
were it in definitive form to the extent described under “Overview of Provisions relating to the Notes
in Global Form” below.
The €300,000,000 3.875 per cent. Guaranteed Notes due 28 November 2018 (the “Notes”, which
expression shall in these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, include any further notes
issued pursuant to Condition 16 (Further Issues) and forming a single series with the Notes) of Linea
Group Holding S.p.A. (the “Issuer”) are guaranteed on a joint and several basis by each of AEM
Gestioni S.r.l., Astem Gestioni S.r.l., Ecolevante S.p.A., Greenambiente S.r.l. and Linea Più S.p.A.
(each, a “Guarantor” and together with any Successor Guarantor or any Additional Guarantor (as
defined below) the “Guarantors”). The Notes are constituted by a trust deed dated 28 November
2013 (as amended or supplemented from time to time, the “Trust Deed”) made between the Issuer,
the Guarantor and BNY Mellon Corporate Trustee Services Limited as trustee (the “Trustee”).
These Conditions include summaries of the Trust Deed and Agency Agreement (as defined below),
and are subject to, the detailed provisions of and definitions in the Trust Deed. Copies of the Trust
Deed and the Agency Agreement dated 28 November 2013 (as amended or supplemented from time
to time, the “Agency Agreement”) made between the Issuer, the Guarantors, The Bank of New York
Mellon, London Branch as principal paying agent (the “Principal Paying Agent”) and any other
paying agents appointed thereunder from time to time (together with the Principal Paying Agent, the
“Paying Agents”) and the Trustee are available for inspection during normal business hours by
holders of the Notes (the “Noteholders”) and holders of the interest coupons appertaining to the
Notes (the “Couponholders” and the “Coupons” respectively) at the registered office for the time
being of the Trustee and at the specified office of each of the Paying Agents. The Noteholders and
the Couponholders are entitled to the benefit of, are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, all
the provisions of the Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement applicable to them. References in these
Conditions to the Trustee and any Paying Agent shall include any successor appointed under the Trust
Deed or the Agency Agreement, as the case may be.
References to “€” or “Euro” are to the single currency introduced at the start of the third stage of the
European Economic and Monetary Union pursuant to the Treaty on the functioning of the European
Union, as amended.
1.

FORM, DENOMINATION AND TITLE

1.1

Form and Denomination
The Notes are in bearer form, serially numbered, in the denominations of €100,000 and
integral multiples of €1,000 in excess thereof up to and including €199,000, with Coupons
attached on issue.

1.2

Title
Title to the Notes and the Coupons will pass by delivery.

1.3

Holder Absolute Owner
The Issuer, each Guarantor, any Paying Agent and the Trustee may (to the fullest extent
permitted by applicable laws) deem and treat the bearer of any Note or Coupon as the
absolute owner for all purposes (whether or not the Note or Coupon shall be overdue and
notwithstanding any notice of ownership or writing on the Note or Coupon or any notice of
previous loss or theft of the Note or Coupon) and shall not be required to obtain any proof
thereof or as to the identity of such bearer.
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2.

GUARANTEES AND STATUS

2.1

Guarantees
Each Guarantor has unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed on a joint and several basis
(i) the due payment of all sums expressed to be payable by the Issuer under the Trust Deed,
the Agency Agreement, the Notes and the Coupons and (ii) the performance by the Issuer of
all of its obligations under the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the Notes and the
Coupons. Each Guarantor’s obligations in that respect (each, a “Guarantee” and together the
“Guarantees”, which expressions shall include, for the avoidance of doubt, any guarantees
given by a Successor Guarantor and/or an Additional Guarantor pursuant to Condition 10
(Events of Default) and the provisions of the Trust Deed in, and subject to the provisions of,
and to the limitations contained in, the Trust Deed) are contained in the Trust Deed.
Pursuant to Condition 10 (Events of Default) below and the provisions of the Trust Deed, the
occurrence of a Permitted Reorganisation (as defined in Condition 10 (Events of Default))
may require a Successor Guarantor or an Additional Guarantor, as the case may be, to provide
a Guarantee in respect of the Notes and the Trust Deed. Such Guarantee will be on a joint
and several basis with each other Guarantee, to the extent permitted by law.

2.2

Status of the Notes
The Notes and the Coupons are direct, unconditional and (subject to the provisions of
Condition 3 (Negative Pledge)) unsecured obligations of the Issuer and rank and will rank
pari passu, without any preference among themselves and at least pari passu with all other
outstanding unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer, present and future, save
for such obligations as may be preferred by provisions of law that are both mandatory and of
general application.

2.3

Status of the Guarantees
The Guarantees constitutes direct, unconditional and (subject to the provisions of Condition 3
(Negative Pledge)) unsecured obligations of the Guarantors and rank and will rank at least
pari passu with all other outstanding unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the
relevant Guarantor, present and future, save for such obligations as may be preferred by
provisions of law that are both mandatory and of general application.

3.

NEGATIVE PLEDGE

3.1

Negative Pledge
So long as any Note or Coupon remains outstanding (as defined in the Trust Deed), none of
the Issuer or any Guarantor will, and each of the Issuer and the Guarantors shall procure that
no Material Subsidiary will, create or have outstanding any Security Interest (other than a
Permitted Security Interest) upon, or with respect to, any of their present or future business,
undertakings, assets or revenues (including any uncalled capital) to secure any Relevant
Indebtedness, without:
(a)

at the same time or prior thereto, securing by way of Security Interest all amounts
payable by the Issuer under the Notes, the Coupons and the Trust Deed or, as the case
may be, by the Guarantors under the Guarantees equally and rateably with such
Relevant Indebtedness to the satisfaction of the Trustee; or

(b)

providing such Security Interest or other arrangement (whether or not it includes the
giving of a Security Interest) either (A) as the Trustee in its absolute discretion deems
not materially less beneficial to the interests of the Noteholders or (B) as is approved
by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Noteholders.
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3.2

Interpretation
For the purposes of these Conditions:
(a)

“Accounting Principles” means generally accepted accounting principles in Italy,
including IFRS;

(b)

“Acquired Indebtedness” means Indebtedness of a Person or any of its Subsidiaries
existing at the time such Person becomes a Subsidiary of the Issuer or at the time it
merges or consolidates with or into the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries or assumed in
connection with the acquisition of assets from such Person and in each case not
incurred by such Person in connection with, or in anticipation or contemplation of,
such Person becoming a Subsidiary of the Issuer or such acquisition, merger or
consolidation;

(c)

“Capital Stock” means:
(i)

with respect to any Person that is a corporation, any and all shares, interests,
participations or other equivalents (however designated and whether or not
voting) of corporate stock, including each class of Common Stock and
Preferred Stock of such Person, and all options, warrants or other rights to
purchase or acquire any of the foregoing; and

(ii)

with respect to any Person that is not a corporation, any and all partnership,
membership or other equity interests of such Person, and all options, warrants
or other rights to purchase or acquire any of the foregoing;

(d)

“Capitalised Lease Obligation” means, as to any Person, the obligations of such
Person under a lease that are required to be classified and accounted for as capital
lease obligations under IFRS and, for purposes of this definition, the amount of such
obligations at any date shall be the capitalised amount of such obligations at such
date, determined in accordance with IFRS;

(e)

“Common Stock” of any Person means any and all shares, interests or other
participations in, and other equivalents (however designated and whether voting or
non-voting) of such Person’s common stock, whether outstanding on the Issue Date
or issued after the Issue Date, and includes, without limitation, all series and classes
of such common stock;

(f)

“Compliance Certificate” means the compliance certificate to be delivered on each
Reporting Date (as defined in Condition 9 (Covenants) and signed by a duly
Authorised Signatory (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Issuer, certifying, amongst
others, that the Issuer is and has been in compliance with the covenants set out in
Condition 9 (Covenants) at all times during the Relevant Period.

(g)

“Concession” means a concession, franchise, licence or similar arrangement for the
provision of public utility services and/or other public services, including the relevant
instrument granting or awarding the same;

(h)

“Consolidated EBITDA” means, in respect of any Relevant Period, the consolidated
operating profit of the Group before taxation (including the results from discontinued
operations), before deducting any interest, commission, fees, discounts, prepayment
fees, premiums or charges and other finance payments whether paid, payable or
capitalised by any member of the Group (calculated on a consolidated basis) in
respect of that Relevant Period and adding back depreciation and amortisation;
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(i)

“Consolidated Gross Interest Expenditure” means, for any Relevant Period, all
interest expense of the Group for such period (including capitalised interest, where
applicable) determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with the Accounting
Principles;

(j)

“Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio” means, as of any Determination Date, the
ratio of (a) the Consolidated EBITDA for the Relevant Period ending on that
Determination Date and (b) the Consolidated Gross Interest Expenditure for the
Relevant Period. In the event that the Issuer or any Subsidiary incurs, assumes,
guarantees, repays, repurchases, redeems or otherwise discharges any Indebtedness
subsequent to the commencement of the period for which the calculation of the
Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio is made, then the Consolidated Interest
Coverage Ratio will be calculated giving pro forma effect (as determined in good
faith by reference to the most recent Compliance Certificate) to such incurrence,
assumption, guarantee, repayment, repurchase, redemption or other discharge of
Indebtedness, and the use of proceeds therefrom, as if the same had occurred at the
beginning of the applicable Relevant Period;

(k)

“Consolidated Net Income” means, in respect of any Relevant Period, the
consolidated net income of the Group in respect of that Relevant Period;

(l)

“Consolidated Total Assets” means, at any time, the consolidated total assets of the
Group;

(m)

“Credit Agreements” means any agreement or agreements between the Issuer or one
or more Subsidiaries and a financial institution or institutions providing for the
making of loans, on a term or revolving basis, the issuance of letters of credit,
commercial paper facilities, notes (including, without limitation, securities),
receivables financing (including through the sale of receivables to such lenders or to
special purpose entities formed to borrow from such lenders against such
receivables), in each case, as amended, restated, modified, renewed, refunded,
replaced or refinanced (including by means of a sale of debt securities) in whole or in
part from time to time in one or more agreements or instruments (in each case with
the same or new lenders or institutional investors), including any agreement or
instrument extending the maturity thereof or otherwise restructuring all or any portion
of the Indebtedness thereunder or increasing the amount loaned or issued thereunder
or altering the maturity thereof;

(n)

“Default” means an event or condition the occurrence of which is, or with the expiry
of any grace period or the giving of notice or both would be, an Event of Default;

(o)

“Determination Date” means each of 31 March, 30 June, 30 September and 31
December in each year;

(p)

“Group” means the Issuer and its Subsidiaries from time to time, taken as a whole;

(q)

“Group’s Consolidated Revenues” means in respect of any Relevant Period, the
consolidated revenues of the Group in respect of that Relevant Period;

(r)

“Hedging Obligations” means, with respect to any Person, the obligations of such
Person under currency exchange, interest rate, energy price or commodity swap, cap
and collar agreements, and other similar or like agreements or arrangements.

(s)

“IFRS” means International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the
European Union;
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(t)

“Indebtedness” means with respect to any Person, without duplication,
(i)

the principal of indebtedness of such Person for borrowed money;

(ii)

the principal of indebtedness of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures,
notes or other similar instruments;

(iii)

all Capitalised Lease Obligations of such Person;

(iv)

the principal component of obligations representing the deferred purchase
price of property or services due more than one year after such property is
acquired or such services are completed (but excluding trade accounts
payable and other accrued liabilities arising in the ordinary course of business
that are not overdue by 180 days or more or are being contested in good faith
by appropriate proceedings promptly instituted and diligently conducted);

(v)

obligations representing reimbursement obligations in respect of any letter of
credit, banker’s acceptance or similar credit transaction (except to the extent
such reimbursement obligations relate to trade payables and such obligations
are satisfied within 30 days of incurrence);

(vi)

all Receivables Financing;

(vii)

(without double counting) guarantees of the principal component of
Indebtedness referred to in paragraphs (i) through (v) above and paragraph
(viii) below;

(viii)

(without double counting) the principal component of indebtedness of the
type referred to in paragraphs (i) through (vi) which are secured by any lien
on any property or asset of such Person, the amount of such obligation being
deemed to be the lesser of the fair market value (as determined in good faith
by the Board of Directors of the Issuer) of such property or asset or the
amount of the obligation so secured;

(ix)

net obligations under Hedging Obligations of such Person; and

(x)

the principal component of obligations or liquidation preference with respect
to all Preferred Stock issued by any Subsidiary that is not a Guarantor (but
excluding in each case any accrued dividends);

(u)

“Material Subsidiary” means, at any time, any Subsidiary of the Issuer which
(consolidated with its own Subsidiaries, if any) accounts for at least 7.5% of the
Consolidated EBITDA, the Consolidated Total Assets or the Group’s Consolidated
Revenues, or any holding company of any such company, as calculated by reference
to the then latest audited annual consolidated financial statements of the Issuer and
the then latest audited (or, where unavailable, unaudited) financial statements of the
relevant Subsidiary (consolidated or non-consolidated, as the case may be).

(v)

“Permitted Indebtedness” means:
(i)

Indebtedness under the Notes and the Guarantees;

(ii)

Indebtedness outstanding on the Issue Date after giving effect to the use of
proceeds of the Notes;

(iii)

Indebtedness of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries incurred pursuant to one
or more Credit Agreements in an aggregate principal amount at any time
outstanding not to exceed €300 million;

22

(w)

(iv)

Hedging Obligations of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries (excluding
Hedging Obligations entered into for speculative purposes) for the purpose of
limiting (a) interest rate risk or (b) exchange rate risk with respect to any
currency exchange or (c) energy price risk or (d) commodity risk;

(v)

Indebtedness of the Issuer to a Subsidiary of the Issuer or Indebtedness of a
Subsidiary of the Issuer to the Issuer or another Subsidiary of the Issuer for
so long as such Indebtedness is held by a Subsidiary of the Issuer or the
Issuer; provided that any Indebtedness of the Issuer or a Guarantor to any
Subsidiary of the Issuer that is not a Guarantor is unsecured and
subordinated, pursuant to a written agreement, to the Issuer’s obligations
under the Notes;

(vi)

Indebtedness of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries in respect of performance
bonds, performance and completion guarantees, bankers’ acceptances,
workers’ compensation claims, surety or appeal bonds, payment obligations
in connection with self-insurance or similar obligations, accrued and unpaid
tax liabilities and bank overdrafts (and letters of credit in respect thereof to
the extent undrawn, or if and to the extent drawn, is honoured in accordance
with its terms and, if to be reimbursed, is reimbursed no later than the 30th
business day following receipt of a demand for reimbursement) in the
ordinary course of business;

(vii)

Refinancing Indebtedness;

(viii)

Indebtedness of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries in respect of any customary
cash management, cash pooling or netting or setting off arrangements;

(ix)

Acquired Indebtedness of any Person outstanding on the date on which such
Person becomes a Subsidiary or is merged, consolidated, amalgamated or
otherwise combined with (including pursuant to any acquisition of assets and
assumption of related liabilities) the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries
provided, however, that at the time of the acquisition or other transaction
pursuant to which such Indebtedness was deemed to be incurred, the Issuer
would have been able to incur €1.00 of additional Indebtedness pursuant to
the first paragraph of Condition 9.1 (Interest Cover) after giving effect to the
incurrence of such Indebtedness pursuant to this paragraph;

(x)

Indebtedness incurred in any Securitisation Financing;

(xi)

Project Finance Indebtedness;

(xii)

Capitalised Lease Obligations in an aggregate principal amount at any time
outstanding not to exceed €20 million; and

(xiii)

any Indebtedness of the Issuer and/or its Subsidiaries (other than the
Indebtedness referred to in items (i) to (xii) above) up to an aggregate
principal amount equal to €50 million.

“Permitted Security Interest” means:
(i)

any Security Interest arising by operation of law; or

(ii)

any Security Interest existing over the assets of a company which becomes a
Material Subsidiary of the Issuer after the date the Notes are issued where
such Security Interest already exists at the time that such a company becomes
a Material Subsidiary of the Issuer (provided that such Security Interest was
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not created in contemplation of, or in connection with, that company
becoming a Material Subsidiary of the Issuer and provided further that the
amounts secured have not been increased in contemplation of, or in
connection with, that company becoming a Material Subsidiary of the Issuer);
or
(iii)

any Security Interest to secure Relevant Indebtedness upon or with respect to
any present or future assets, receivables, remittances or payment rights of the
Issuer, the Guarantor or any of its Material Subsidiaries which is created
pursuant to Project Bonds (as defined below) whereby the aggregate principal
amount of such Relevant Indebtedness outstanding from time to time shall
not exceed €200 million; or

(iv)

any Security Interest, to secure Relevant Indebtedness, which is created
pursuant to any Securitisation Financing or like arrangements, whereby the
aggregate principal amount of such Relevant Indebtedness outstanding from
time to time shall not exceed €100 million;

(x)

“Person(s)” means any individual, company, corporation, firm, partnership, joint
venture, association, organisation, state or agency of a state or other entity, whether or
not having separate legal personality;

(y)

“Preferred Stock” of any Person means any Capital Stock of such Person that has
preferential rights to any other Capital Stock of such Person with respect to dividends
or redemptions or upon liquidation;

(z)

“Project” means the ownership and/or acquisition (either in whole or in part) and/or
leasing or renting and/or the development, design, construction, restructuring,
upgrading, operation and/or maintenance of assets (including, for the avoidance of
doubt, Concessions) or ancillary infrastructure or subscription of equity or
shareholder loans by shareholders of the entity promoting such project;

(aa)

“Project Bonds” means any present or future Relevant Indebtedness issued to
finance the acquisition, development and/or operation of an asset or assets (including,
for the avoidance of doubt, Concessions), whether or not an asset of a member of the
Group, in respect of which the Person or Persons to whom any such Relevant
Indebtedness is or may be owed by the relevant issuer (whether or not a member of
the Group) has or have no recourse whatsoever to any member of the Group for the
repayment thereof other than:
(i)

recourse for amounts limited to the cash flow or the net cash flow (other than
historic cash flow or historic net cash flow) from such asset or assets or the
income or other proceeds deriving therefrom; and/or

(ii)

recourse for the purpose only of enabling amounts to be claimed in respect of
such indebtedness in an enforcement of any Security Interest given by such
issuer over such asset or assets or the income, cash flow or other proceeds,
deriving therefrom (or given by any shareholder or the like, including any
member of the Group, in the issuer over its shares or the like in the capital of
the borrower) to secure such Relevant Indebtedness,

provided that (a) the extent of such recourse is limited solely to the amount of any
recoveries made on any such enforcement, and (b) such Person or Persons is/are not
entitled, by virtue of any right or claim arising out of or in connection with such
Relevant Indebtedness, to commence proceedings of whatever nature against any
member of the Group;
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(bb)

“Project Company” means any company in which the Issuer or any of its
Subsidiaries has an equity interest whose sole and exclusive activity is or will be the
promotion of a Project;

(cc)

“Project Completion Date” means in relation to any Project the date on which the
business relating to such Project has been put into operation and the relevant security
package relating to such Project has been perfected and formalised;

(dd)

“Project Finance Indebtedness” means in respect of any Project Company, secured
or unsecured financial indebtedness of a Project Company in relation to a Project,
none of which retains the benefit (by operation of law or otherwise) of any loan,
guarantee, bond, security indemnity or other commitment from another member of
the Group (other than security granted to third-party lenders over receivables,
contracts, bank accounts, shares or quotas in, or other assets of such Project Company
and any guarantees, loans, indemnities or other commitments granted, assumed
and/or issued by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries until the Project Completion
Date solely to secure that financial indebtedness and any other ancillary obligations in
connection with the relevant Project), to assure the repayment of, or indemnify the
third party lenders against any loss in respect of any non-payment of, that financial
indebtedness;

(ee)

“Receivables Financings” means factoring, securitisations of receivables or any
other receivables financing (including, without limitation, through the sale of
receivables in a factoring arrangement or through the sale of receivables to lenders or
to special purpose entities formed to borrow from such lenders against such
receivables), whether or not with recourse to the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries, but
in each case only to the extent that such factoring, securitization or financing would
either be treated as financial payables under Accounting Principles or as indebtedness
under IFRS as of the Issue Date;

(ff)

“Refinance” means, in respect of any security or Indebtedness, to refinance, extend,
renew, refund, repay, prepay, redeem, defease or retire, or to issue a security or
Indebtedness in exchange or replacement for, such security or Indebtedness in whole
or in part. “Refinanced” and “Refinancing” shall have correlative meanings;

(gg)

“Refinancing Indebtedness” means any Refinancing by the Issuer or any Subsidiary
of the Issuer of Indebtedness incurred in accordance with the first paragraph of
Condition 9.1 (Interest Cover) and paragraphs (i), (ii), (vii) and (ix) of the definition
of “Permitted Indebtedness”, in each case that does not:
(i)

result in an increase in the aggregate principal amount of Indebtedness of
such Person as of the date of such proposed Refinancing (plus the amount of
any premium or accrued interest required to be paid under the terms of the
instrument governing such Indebtedness and plus the amount of reasonable
fees and expenses incurred by the Issuer in connection with such
Refinancing); or

(ii)

create Indebtedness with: (a) a Weighted Average Life to Maturity that is less
than the Weighted Average Life to Maturity of the Indebtedness being
Refinanced; or (b) a final maturity earlier than the final maturity of the
Indebtedness being Refinanced; provided that (x) if such Indebtedness being
Refinanced is Indebtedness solely of a Guarantor, then such Refinancing
Indebtedness shall be Indebtedness solely of one or more of the Guarantors
and (y) if such Indebtedness being Refinanced is subordinate or junior to the
Notes or any Guarantee, then such Refinancing Indebtedness shall be
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subordinate to the Notes or such Guarantee, as the case may be, at least to the
same extent and in the same manner as the Indebtedness being Refinanced;
(hh)

“Relevant Indebtedness” means (i) any Indebtedness, whether present or future,
which is in the form of or represented by any bond, note, debenture, debenture stock,
loan stock, certificate or other instrument which is, or is capable of being, listed,
quoted or traded on any stock exchange, over-the-counter or other organised market
for securities or (ii) any guarantee and/or indemnity in relation to any such
Indebtedness.

(ii)

“Relevant Period” means a 12-month period ending on a Determination Date;

(jj)

“Securitisation Financing” means any financing pursuant to which the Issuer or any
of its Subsidiaries may sell, convey or otherwise transfer to any other Person or grant
a security interest in, any accounts receivable (and related assets) in any aggregate
principal amount equivalent to the fair market value of such accounts receivable (and
related assets) of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries; provided that (a) the covenants,
events of default and other provisions applicable to such financing shall be on market
terms (as determined in the reasonable judgment of a member of senior management
of the Issuer or by a responsible financial or accounting officer of the Issuer) at the
time such financing is entered into, (b) the interest rate applicable to such financing
shall be a market interest rate (as determined in the reasonable judgment of a member
of senior management of the Issuer or by a responsible financial or accounting officer
of the Issuer) at the time such financing is entered into and (c) such financing shall be
non-recourse (as determined in the reasonable judgment of a member of senior
management or by a responsible financial or accounting officer of the Issuer) to the
Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries except to a limited extent customary (as determined
in the reasonable judgment of a member of senior management or by a responsible
financial or accounting officer of the Issuer) for such transactions;

(kk)

“Security Interest” means any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other form of
security interest including, without limitation, anything substantially analogous to any
of the foregoing under the laws of any jurisdiction;

(ll)

“Subordinated Indebtedness” means Indebtedness of the Issuer or any Guarantor
that is subordinated or junior in right of payment to the Notes or the Guarantee of
such Guarantor, as the case may be;

(mm)

“Subsidiary” means società controllata, as defined in Article 2359 of the Italian
Civil Code; and

(nn)

“Weighted Average Life to Maturity” means, when applied to any Indebtedness at
any date, the number of years obtained by dividing (a) the then outstanding aggregate
principal amount of such Indebtedness into (b) the sum of the total of the products
obtained by multiplying (i) the amount of each then remaining instalment, sinking
fund, serial maturity or other required payment of principal, including payment at
final maturity, in respect thereof, by (ii) the number of years (calculated to the nearest
one-twelfth) which will elapse between such date and the making of such payment.

4.

INTEREST

4.1

Interest Rate and Interest Payment Dates
The Notes bear interest on their outstanding principal amount from and including 28
November 2013 (the “Issue Date”) at the rate of 3.875 per cent. per annum (the “Rate of
Interest”), payable annually in arrear on 28 November in each year (each an “Interest
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Payment Date”). The first payment (representing a full year’s interest) shall be made on 28
November 2014. The amount of interest payable on each Interest Payment Date shall be
€38.75 per Calculation Amount.
4.2

Interest Accrual
Each Note will cease to bear interest from and including its due date for redemption unless,
upon due presentation, payment of the principal in respect of the Note is improperly withheld
or refused or unless default is otherwise made in respect of payment. In such event, interest
will continue to accrue until whichever is the earlier of:

4.3

(a)

the date on which all amounts due in respect of such Note have been paid; and

(b)

seven (7) days after the date on which the full amount of the moneys payable in
respect of such Notes has been received by the Principal Paying Agent or the Trustee
and notice to that effect has been given to the Noteholders in accordance with
Condition 12 (Notices) (except to the extent that there is any subsequent default in
payment).

Calculation of Broken Interest
If interest is required to be paid in respect of a Note on any date other than an Interest
Payment Date, it shall be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest to the Calculation
Amount, multiplying the product by the relevant Day Count Fraction, rounding the resulting
figure to the nearest cent, with 0.5 cents being rounded upwards and multiplying such rounded
figure by a fraction equal to the denomination of such Note divided by the Calculation
Amount.
In these Conditions:
(a)

“Calculation Amount” means €1,000; and

(b)

“Day Count Fraction” means (a) the actual number of days in the period from and
including the date from which interest begins to accrue (the “Accrual Date”) to but
excluding the date on which it falls due divided by (b) the actual number of days from
and including the Accrual Date to but excluding the next following Interest Payment
Date.

5.

PAYMENTS

5.1

Payments in Respect of Notes
Payments of principal and interest in respect of each Note will be made against presentation
and surrender (or, in the case of part payment only, endorsement) of the Note, except that
payments of interest due on an Interest Payment Date will be made against presentation and
surrender (or, in the case of part payment only, endorsement) of the relevant Coupon, in each
case at the specified office outside the United States of any of the Paying Agents.

5.2

Method of Payment
Payments will be made by credit or transfer to a euro account (or to any other account to
which euro may be credited or transferred) specified by the payee with a bank in a city in
which banks have access to the TARGET System.

5.3

Missing Unmatured Coupons
Each Note should be presented for payment together with all relative unmatured Coupons
failing which the full amount of any relative missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case of
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payment not being made in full, that proportion of the full amount of the missing unmatured
Coupon which the amount so paid bears to the total amount due) will be deducted from the
amount due for payment. Each amount so deducted will be paid in the manner mentioned
above against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment only, endorsement)
of the relative missing Coupon at any time before the expiry of ten (10) years after the
Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 7 (Taxation)) in respect of the relevant Note (whether
or not the Coupon would otherwise have become void pursuant to Condition 8 (Prescription))
or, if later, five (5) years after the date on which the Coupon would have become due, but not
thereafter.
5.4

Payments Subject to Applicable Laws
Payments in respect of principal and interest on Notes are subject in all cases to any fiscal or
other laws and regulations applicable in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the
provisions of Condition 7 (Taxation). No commissions or expenses shall be charged to the
Noteholders or Couponholders in respect of such payments.

5.5

Payment Only on a Presentation Date
A holder shall be entitled to present a Note or Coupon for payment only on a Presentation
Date and shall not, except as provided in Condition 4 (Interest), be entitled to any further
interest or other payment if a Presentation Date is after the due date for such payment.
In these Conditions:

5.6

(a)

“Business Day” means, in relation to any place, a day on which commercial banks
and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business
(including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in that place;

(b)

“Presentation Date” means a day which (subject to Condition 8 (Prescription)):
(i)

is or falls after the relevant due date;

(ii)

is a Business Day in the place of the specified office of the Paying Agent at
which the Note or Coupon is presented for payment; and

(iii)

in the case of payment by credit or transfer to a euro account as referred to
above, is a TARGET2 Settlement Day;

(c)

“TARGET Settlement Day” means any day on which the TARGET System is open
for the settlement of payments in euro; and

(d)

“TARGET System” means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross
Settlement Express Transfer (TARGET2) system.

Partial Payments
If a Paying Agent makes a partial payment in respect of any Note or Coupon presented to it
for payment, such Paying Agent will endorse thereon a statement indicating the amount and
date of such payment.
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5.7

Initial Paying Agents
The names of the initial Paying Agents and their initial specified offices are set out at the end
of these Conditions. The Issuer reserves the right (with the prior approval of the Trustee) at
any time to vary or terminate the appointment of any Paying Agent and to appoint additional
or other Paying Agents provided that:
(a)

there will at all times be a Principal Paying Agent;

(b)

so long as the Notes are listed on any stock exchange or admitted to trading by any
relevant authority, a Paying Agent (which may be the Principal Paying Agent) having
its specified office in such place as may be required by the rules and regulations of
the relevant stock exchange or other relevant authority;

(c)

the Issuer undertakes that it will ensure that it maintains a Paying Agent in a Member
State of the European Union who is not obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to
European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any law implementing or complying with,
or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive; and

(d)

there will at all times be a Paying Agent in a jurisdiction within Europe, other than
the Republic of Italy.

Notice of any termination or appointment and of any changes in specified offices will be
given to the Trustee and the Noteholders promptly by the Issuer in accordance with
Condition 12 (Notices).
6.

REDEMPTION AND PURCHASE

6.1

Redemption at Maturity
Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as provided below, the Issuer will
redeem the Notes at their principal amount together with any accrued and unpaid interest on
28 November 2018, subject as provided in Condition 5 (Payments).

6.2

Redemption for Taxation Reasons
If the Issuer certifies to the Trustee immediately before the giving of the notice referred to
below that:
(a)

as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of the Relevant
Taxing Jurisdiction, or any change in the application or official interpretation of such
laws or regulations (including a decision made by a court of competent jurisdiction),
which change or amendment becomes effective after 26 November 2013, the Issuer
or, if the Guarantees were called, the relevant Guarantor would be required to pay
additional amounts as provided or referred to in Condition 7 (Taxation); and

(b)

such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer or the relevant Guarantor, as the case
may be, taking reasonable measures available to it,

the Issuer may, at its option, having given not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to
the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 12 (Notices) (which notice shall be
irrevocable), redeem the Notes in whole, but not in part, at any time, at their principal amount
together with interest accrued to but excluding the date of redemption provided that (i) no
such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on
which the Issuer or any Guarantor, as the case may be, would be obliged to pay such
additional amounts if a payment in respect of the Notes were then payable and (ii) unless, at
the time such notice is given, such change or amendment remains in effect (or due to take
effect).
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Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this paragraph, the Issuer
shall deliver to the Trustee (i) a certificate signed by two Authorised Signatories (as defined
in the Trust Deed) of the Issuer or, as the case may be, the relevant Guarantor stating that the
requirement referred to in (a) above will apply on the next Interest Payment Date and cannot
be avoided by the Issuer or, as the case may be, the relevant Guarantor taking reasonable
measures available to it and (ii) an opinion of independent legal advisers of recognised
standing to the effect that the Issuer (or the Guarantors, as the case may be) has or will
become obliged to pay such additional amounts as a result of such change or amendment, and
the Trustee shall be entitled to accept the certificate and opinion as sufficient evidence of the
satisfaction of the conditions precedent set out above, in which event it shall be conclusive
and binding on the Noteholders and the Couponholders.
In these Conditions, the “Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction” means:

6.3

(a)

in respect of payments by the Issuer or the Guarantors, the Republic of Italy or any
political subdivision or any agency or authority thereof or therein having power to
tax; or

(b)

in respect of payments by any Additional Guarantor or Successor Guarantor, the
jurisdiction of such Additional Guarantor or Successor Guarantor, or any political
subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax or in each such
case any other jurisdiction or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or
therein having power to tax to which the Additional Guarantor or Successor
Guarantor, as the case may be, becomes subject in respect of payments made by it of
principal and interest on the Notes and Coupons;

(c)

in each of the above cases, any other jurisdiction or any political subdivision or any
agency or authority thereof or therein having power to tax to which the Issuer may
become subject in respect of payments of principal and interest on the Notes and
Coupons or, in the case of any Guarantors, under the respective Guarantee.

Redemption at the Option of the Holders upon a Change of Control
Promptly and in any event within ten (10) Business Days after the occurrence of a Change of
Control (as defined below), the Issuer will give written notice thereof (a “Change of Control
Notice”) to the holders of all outstanding Notes in accordance with Condition 12 (Notices),
which Change of Control Notice shall (i) refer specifically to this Condition 6.3 (Redemption
at the Option of the Holders upon a Change of Control), (ii) describe in reasonable detail the
event or circumstances resulting in the Change of Control, (iii) specify the date for
redemption of the Notes, which shall be a Business Day not less than 30 days and not more
than 90 days after the date of such Change of Control Notice (“Change of Control
Redemption Date”), (iv) offer to redeem, on the Change of Control Redemption Date, all
Notes at their principal amount together with interest accrued thereon to the Change of
Control Redemption Date and (v) specify the date by which holders must provide written
notice to the Issuer of such holder’s redemption, which shall be not less than fifteen (15) days
prior to the Change of Control Redemption Date (the “Change of Control Response Date”).
For so long as the Notes are listed on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange and the rules of such exchange so require, the Issuer shall also notify the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange promptly of any Change of Control. The Issuer shall redeem
on the Change of Control Redemption Date all of the Notes held by Noteholders that requires
the redemption at the price specified above. If any holder does not require early redemption
on or before the Change of Control Response Date, such holder shall be deemed to have
waived its rights under this Condition 6.3 (Redemption at the Option of the Holders upon a
Change of Control) to require early redemption of all Notes held by such holder in respect of
such Change of Control but not in respect of any subsequent Change of Control.
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To exercise the right to require early redemption of any Notes, the holder of the Notes must
deliver at the specified office of any Paying Agent, on any Business Day before the Change of
Control Response Date, a duly signed and completed notice of exercise in the form (for the
time being current and which may, if such Notes are held in a clearing system, be in any form
acceptable to such clearing system and may be delivered in any manner acceptable to such
clearing system) obtainable from the specified office of any Paying Agent (a “Put Notice”)
and in which the holder must specify a bank account to which payment is to be made under
this Condition accompanied by such Notes or evidence satisfactory to the Paying Agent
concerned that such Notes will, following the delivery of the Put Notice, be held to its order
or under its control. A Put Notice given by a holder of any Note shall be irrevocable except
where, prior to the Change of Control Redemption Date, an Event of Default has occurred and
is continuing in which event such holder, at its option, may elect by notice to the Issuer to
withdraw the Put Notice.
As used herein, a “Change of Control” shall be deemed to have occurred if any Person or
Persons (other than the Permitted Holder) acquire Control of the Issuer.
For the purposes of this definition;
“Control” means the power to (i) appoint or remove a majority of the directors of the Issuer
or (ii) exercise more than 50% of the voting rights normally exercisable at the Issuer’s
ordinary and extraordinary shareholders’ meetings;
“Permitted Holder(s)” means either (a) a Public Entity or (b) any Person who, either directly
or indirectly through one or more intermediate Persons, is under the Control of one or more
Public Entities at any time;
“Public Entity” means any municipality, province or consortium incorporated pursuant to
Article 31 of Legislative Decree No. 267 of 18 August 2000, as amended which, on the Issue
Date, either directly or indirectly through one or more intermediate Persons, holds an equity
interest in the share capital of the Issuer.
6.4

Redemption at the Option of the Issuer
The Issuer may, having given not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the
Noteholders in accordance with Condition 12 (Notices) (which notice shall be irrevocable and
shall specify the date fixed for redemption), redeem all, but not some only, of the Notes, at
any time (the “Optional Redemption Date”) at a redemption price per Note equal to the
greater of:
(a)

100 per cent. of the nominal amount of the Note; or

(b)

as determined by the Reference Dealers (as defined below), the sum of the then
current values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest on the
Note (not including any interest accrued on the Note to, but excluding, the Optional
Redemption Date) discounted to the Optional Redemption Date on an annual basis
(based on the actual number of days elapsed divided by 365 or (in the case of a leap
year) 366) at the Reference Dealer Rate (as defined below),

plus, in each case, any interest accrued on the Notes to, but excluding, the Optional
Redemption Date. Any notice so given shall oblige the Issuer to redeem the Notes on the
Optional Redemption Date accordingly.
For the purpose of this Condition:
“Reference Dealer Rate” means, with respect to the Reference Dealers and the Optional
Redemption Date, the average of the mid-market annual swap rate as determined by the
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Reference Dealers at 11.00 a.m. London time, on the third business day in London preceding
such Optional Redemption Date quoted in writing to the Issuer by the Reference Dealers. For
this purpose, the “mid-market annual swap rate” means the arithmetic mean of the bid and
offered rates for the annual fixed leg calculated on such Optional Redemption Date on a
30/360 day count basis on a fixed-for-floating euro interest rate swap transaction maturing on
the date originally scheduled for the redemption of the Notes; and
“Reference Dealers” means Banca IMI S.p.A. and UniCredit Bank AG, or their successors.
6.5

No Other Redemption
The Issuer shall not be entitled to redeem the Notes otherwise than as provided in
Conditions 6.1 (Redemption at Maturity) to 6.4 (Redemption at the Option of the Issuer)
above.

6.6

Purchases
The Issuer, any Guarantor or any of their respective Subsidiaries may at any time purchase
Notes (provided that all unmatured Coupons appertaining to the Notes are purchased with the
Notes) in any manner and at any price. Such Notes may be held, reissued or resold or, at the
option of the Issuer, surrendered to the Principal Paying Agent for cancellation. Any Notes so
purchased, while held by or on behalf of the Issuer, any Guarantor or any of their respective
Subsidiaries, shall not entitle the holder to vote at any meetings of the Noteholders.

6.7

Cancellations
All Notes which are (i) purchased by the Issuer, any Guarantor or any of their respective
Subsidiaries and surrendered for cancellation or (ii) redeemed, and any unmatured Coupons
attached to or surrendered with them, shall be cancelled and may not be reissued or resold.

6.8

Notices Final
Upon the expiry of any notice as is referred to in Conditions 6.2, 6.3 or 6.4 above the Issuer
shall be bound to redeem the Notes to which the notice refers in accordance with the terms of
such Conditions. If more than one notice of redemption is given by the Issuer pursuant to
these Conditions, or a Noteholder delivers a Put Notice pursuant to Condition 6.3
(Redemption at the Option of the Holders upon a Change of Control), the first in time of such
notices shall prevail.
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7.

TAXATION

7.1

Payment without Withholding
All payments in respect of principal and interest by the Issuer in respect of the Notes and the
Coupons or by any Guarantor under the Guarantees, as the case may be, will be made free and
clear of, and without withholding or deduction for or on account of, any present or future
taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature (“Taxes“) imposed or
levied by or on behalf of any of the Relevant Taxing Jurisdictions, unless the withholding or
deduction of such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges is required by law. In
that event, the Issuer or, as the case may be, the relevant Guarantor will pay such additional
amounts as may be necessary in order that the net amounts received by the holders of the
Notes or Coupons after such withholding or deduction shall equal the respective amounts of
principal and interest which would have been received in respect of the Notes or (as the case
may be) Coupons in the absence of such withholding or deduction, except that no additional
amounts shall be payable with respect to any Note or Coupon:
(a)

presented for payment by, or by a third party on behalf of, a holder who is liable to
such Taxes, in respect of such Note or Coupon by reason of its having some
connection (otherwise than merely by holding the Note or Coupon) with the Relevant
Taxing Jurisdiction; or

(b)

presented for payment in the Republic of Italy; or

(c)

for or on account of imposta sostitutiva pursuant to the provisions of Legislative
Decree No. 239 of 1 April 1996, as amended, supplemented or restated from time to
time (“Decree No. 239”) or related implementing regulations; or

(d)

in all circumstances in which the procedures to obtain an exemption from imposta
sostitutiva or any alternative future system of deduction or withholding set forth in
Decree No. 239 have not been met or complied with, except where such procedures
have not been met or complied with due to the actions or omissions of the Issuer or its
agents; or

(e)

in respect of any payment to a holder who is a non-Italian resident individual or legal
entity which is resident in a country which does not allow for a satisfactory exchange
of information with the Italian tax authorities pursuant to Article 6 of Decree No. 239;
or

(f)

presented for payment more than thirty (30) days after the Relevant Date except to
the extent that the holder thereof would have been entitled to such additional amount
on presenting the same for payment on the thirtieth such day; or

(g)

where such withholding or deduction is imposed on a payment to an individual and is
required to be made pursuant to European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any law
implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, such
Directive; or

(h)

held by or on behalf of a Noteholder or Couponholder who would have been able
lawfully to avoid (but has not so avoided) such deduction or withholding by
complying with any statutory requirements; or

(i)

presented for payment by or on behalf of a holder who would have been able to avoid
such withholding or deduction by presenting the relevant Note or Coupon to another
Paying Agent in a Member State of the European Union, without prejudice to the
option of the Issuer to redeem the Notes pursuant to, and subject to the conditions of,
Condition 6.2 (Redemption for Taxation Reasons).
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7.2

Interpretation
In these Conditions:

8.

(a)

the “Relevant Date” in respect of any Note or Coupon means the date on which
payment in respect thereof first becomes due or (if any amount of the money payable
is improperly withheld or refused) the date on which payment in full of the amount
outstanding is made or (if earlier) the date on which notice is duly given to the
holders of Notes in accordance with Condition 12 (Notices) that, upon further
presentation of the Note or Coupon being made in accordance with the Conditions,
such payment will be made, provided that payment is in fact made upon such
presentation; and

(b)

any reference in these Conditions to “principal” and/or “interest” shall be deemed to
include any additional amounts which may be payable under this Condition 7
(Taxation).

PRESCRIPTION
Notes and Coupons will become void unless presented for payment within periods of ten (10)
years (in the case of principal) and five (5) years (in the case of interest) from the Relevant
Date in respect of the Notes or, as the case may be, the Coupons, subject to the provisions of
Condition 5 (Payments).

9.

COVENANTS

9.1

Interest Cover
So long as any of the Notes or Coupons remain outstanding (as defined in the Trust Deed),
the Issuer shall not, and shall procure that none of its Subsidiaries will, incur any additional
Indebtedness (other than Permitted Indebtedness) if on the date of the incurrence of such
additional Indebtedness the Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio relating to the Relevant
Period referred to in the latest Compliance Certificate is less than 2.5 to 1.0, determined on a
pro forma basis, assuming for these purposes that such additional Indebtedness has been
incurred, and the net proceeds thereof applied, on the first day of the applicable Relevant
Period.
For purposes of determining compliance with this Condition 9.1 (Interest Cover), in the event
that an item of Indebtedness meets the criteria of more than one of the categories described in
paragraphs (i) through (xiii) of the definition of “Permitted Indebtedness” or is entitled to be
incurred pursuant to the Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio provisions of this covenant, the
Issuer shall, in its sole discretion, classify (or later reclassify) such item of Indebtedness in
any manner that complies with this covenant, provided that, an item of Indebtedness incurred
pursuant to a Credit Agreement shall only be classified under the category described in
paragraph (iii) of the definition of “Permitted Indebtedness”. Indebtedness permitted by
Condition 9.1 (Interest Cover) need not be permitted solely by reference to one provision
permitting such Indebtedness, but may be permitted in part by one such provision and in part
by one or more other provisions of this covenant permitting such Indebtedness.

9.2

Restricted Payments
The Issuer will not, and (as the case may be, in the case of paragraphs (b) and (c) below) will
not cause or permit any of its Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly:
(a)

declare or pay any dividend or make any distribution on or in respect of shares of the
Issuer’s Capital Stock to holders of such Capital Stock;
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(b)

purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire or retire for value any Capital Stock of the
Issuer;

(c)

make any principal payment on, purchase, defease, redeem, prepay, decrease or
otherwise acquire or retire for value, prior to any scheduled final maturity, scheduled
repayment or scheduled sinking fund payment, any Subordinated Indebtedness;

(each of the foregoing actions set forth in paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) being referred to as a
“Restricted Payment”), if at the time of such Restricted Payment or immediately after giving
effect thereto:
(i)

a Default or an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing; or

(ii)

the Issuer is not able to incur at least €1.00 of additional Indebtedness (other than
Permitted Indebtedness) in compliance with Condition 9.1 (Interest Cover); or

(iii)

the aggregate amount of Restricted Payments (including such proposed Restricted
Payment) made subsequent to the Issue Date (the amount expended for such
purposes, if other than in cash, being the fair market value of such property as
determined in good faith by the Board of Directors of the Issuer) shall exceed the sum
of:
(A)

50% of the cumulative Consolidated Net Income (or if cumulative
Consolidated Net Income shall be a loss, minus 100% of such loss) of the
Issuer earned subsequent to 1 January 2013 and on or prior to the date the
Restricted Payment occurs (the “Reference Date”) (treating such period as a
single accounting period); plus

(B)

100% of the aggregate net cash proceeds and of the fair market value of any
marketable securities, in each case, received by the Issuer from any Person
(other than a Subsidiary of the Issuer) from the issuance and sale subsequent
to the Issue Date of (i) Capital Stock of the Issuer and (ii) debt securities of
the Issuer or its Subsidiaries that have been converted into Capital Stock of
the Issuer; plus

(C)

without duplication of any amounts included in paragraph (iii)(B) above,
100% of the aggregate net cash proceeds and of the fair market value of any
marketable securities, in each case, received by the Issuer by way of an
equity contribution subsequent to the Issue Date.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the provisions set forth in the immediately preceding
paragraph do not prohibit:
(a)

the payment of any dividend within 60 days after the date of declaration of such
dividend if the dividend would have been permitted on the date of declaration;

(b)

the redemption, repurchase, retirement, defeasance or other acquisition of any shares
of Capital Stock or Subordinated Indebtedness of the Issuer, either (i) solely in
exchange for shares of Capital Stock of the Issuer or (ii) through the application of
net proceeds of a substantially concurrent sale for cash (other than to a Subsidiary of
the Issuer) of shares of Capital Stock of the Issuer or equity contributions to the Issuer
or (iii) a combination of paragraphs (i) and (ii);

(c)

the declaration and/or payment of any dividend by a Subsidiary of the Issuer to the
holders of its Capital Stock on a pro rata basis;
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(d)

repurchases of Capital Stock deemed to occur upon exercise of stock options or
warrants if such Capital Stock represents a portion of the exercise price of such
options or warrants; and

(e)

additional Restricted Payments in an aggregate amount not to exceed €35 million.

In determining the aggregate amount of Restricted Payments made subsequent to the Issue
Date in accordance with paragraph (iii) of the first paragraph of this covenant, amounts
expended pursuant to paragraphs (a) and (b)(ii) shall be included in such calculation.
9.3

Compliance Certificate
For so long as any Notes remain outstanding, the Issuer will deliver the Compliance
Certificate to the Trustee on each Reporting Date confirming its compliance with
Conditions 9.1 (Interest Cover) and 9.2 (Restricted Payments). In particular, the Compliance
Certificate will set forth (i) the Consolidated EBITDA and the Consolidated Gross Interest
Expenditure (together with the resulting Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio) and (ii) the
cumulative Consolidated Net Income and the amount of Restricted Payments made (together
with the resulting difference showing the amount of Restricted Payments which could have
been made), in each case, as during the Relevant Period immediately preceding.
As used herein:
“Reporting Date” means a date falling no later than thirty (30) days after (i) the approval by
the Board of Directors of the Issuer’s consolidated financial statements, with respect to the
Relevant Period ending on 31 December or (ii) the approval by the Board of Directors of the
Issuer’s unaudited semi-annual consolidated financial statements, with respect to a Relevant
Period ending on 30 June, provided that, the first Reporting Date shall be the date falling no
later than 30 days after the approval by the Board of Directors of the Issuer’s consolidated
financial statements as of and for the year ended 31 December 2013.

9.4

Suspension of Covenants
To the extent that the Rating Event has occurred and for so long as such Rating Event is
outstanding, Condition 9.1 (Interest Cover), Condition 9.2 (Restricted Payments) and
Condition 9.3 (Compliance Certificate) shall not apply.
For the purpose of this Condition:
A “Rating Event” will have occurred if, and will be deemed to be outstanding for so long as:
(a)

the Notes are rated BBB- (or the equivalent investment grade credit rating) or higher
by at least two rating agencies (each of which is established in the European Union
and is included in the list of credit rating agencies registered in accordance with
Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 on Credit Rating Agencies as amended by
Regulation (EU) No. 513/2011); and

(b)

no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing.
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10.

EVENTS OF DEFAULT
If any of the following events (“Events of Default”) occurs then the Trustee at its discretion
may, and if so requested in writing by holders of at least one quarter of the aggregate
principal amount of the outstanding Notes or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution (as
defined in the Trust Deed), shall, in each case, subject to its being indemnified and/or secured
and/or prefunded to its satisfaction, give notice to the Issuer that the Notes are, and shall
accordingly forthwith become, immediately due and repayable at their principal amount,
together with interest accrued to the date of repayment:
(a)

Non-payment: if default is made in the payment of any amount of principal in respect
of the Notes when due and such failure continues for a period of three (3) TARGET
Settlement Days, or if default is made in the payment of any amount of interest in
respect of the Notes when due and such failure continues for a period of seven (7)
TARGET Settlement Days; or

(b)

Breach of other obligations: if the Issuer or any Guarantor fails to perform or
observe any of its other obligations under these Conditions or the Trust Deed and
(except in any case where the Trustee considers the failure to be incapable of remedy,
when no continuation or notice as is hereinafter mentioned will be required) the
failure continues for the period of thirty 30 days (or such longer period as the Trustee
may in its absolute discretion permit) following the service by the Trustee on the
Issuer or the relevant Guarantor (as the case may be) of notice requiring the same to
be remedied; or

(c)

Cross-default: (i) any other Indebtedness of the Issuer, any Guarantor or any Material
Subsidiary becomes due and payable prior to its stated maturity by reason of any
actual or potential default, event of default or the like (howsoever described), or (ii)
any such Indebtedness is not paid when due or, as the case may be, within any
applicable grace period, or (iii) the Issuer, any Guarantor or any Material Subsidiary
fails to pay when due or, as the case may be, within any applicable grace period, any
amount payable by it under any present or future guarantee for, or indemnity in
respect of, any Indebtedness, provided that the aggregate amount of the Indebtedness,
guarantees and/or indemnities in respect of which one or more of the events
mentioned in this paragraph (c) have occurred (in the case of (iii) taking into account
only the amount which the relevant person has failed to pay) equals or exceeds
€15,000,000 or its equivalent in any other currency (on the basis of the middle spot
rate for the relevant currency against euro as quoted by any leading bank on the day
on which this paragraph operates); or

(d)

Enforcement proceedings: a distress, attachment, execution or other legal process is
levied, enforced or sued out on or against all or a Substantial Part of the property,
assets or revenues of the Issuer, any Guarantor or any Material Subsidiary and is not
discharged or stayed within 45 days; or

(e)

Security enforced: any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other encumbrance, created
or assumed by the Issuer, any Guarantor or any Material Subsidiary in respect of all
or a Substantial Part of the property, assets or revenues of the Issuer becomes
enforceable and any step is taken to enforce it (including the taking of possession or
the appointment of a receiver, manager or other similar person) and such enforcement
is not discharged or stayed within 45 days; or

(f)

Insolvency/Composition: the Issuer, any Guarantor or any Material Subsidiary is (or
is deemed by applicable law or by a competent court to be) insolvent or bankrupt or
unable to pay its debts, stops, suspends or threatens to stop or suspend payment of all
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or a Material Part of its debts, proposes or makes a general assignment or an
arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of the relevant creditors in respect
of any of such debts or a moratorium is agreed or declared in respect of or affecting
all or a Material Part of the debts of the Issuer, any Guarantor or any Material
Subsidiary; or
(g)

Winding up/ Cessation of business: an order is made or an effective resolution passed
for the winding-up or dissolution of the Issuer, any Guarantor or any Material
Subsidiary, or the Issuer, any Guarantor or any Material Subsidiary ceases or
threatens to cease to carry on all or a Substantial Part of its business or operations, in
each case save for the purposes of, or pursuant to, a Permitted Reorganisation; or

(h)

Analogous event: any event occurs which under the laws of any relevant jurisdiction
has an analogous effect to any of the events referred to in the paragraphs (d) to (g)
above; or

(i)

Unlawfulness: if it is or will become unlawful for the Issuer or any Guarantor to
perform or comply with any of its obligations under or in respect of the Notes or the
Trust Deed or any such obligations cease or will cease to be legal, valid, binding and
enforceable; or

(j)

Guarantee: if any Guarantee ceases to be, or is claimed by the Issuer or either
Guarantor not to be, in full force and effect, save for the purposes of, or pursuant to, a
Permitted Reorganisation; or

(k)

Guarantor: if any Guarantor ceases to be a subsidiary wholly-owned and controlled,
directly or indirectly, by the Issuer, save for the purposes of, or pursuant to, a
Permitted Reorganisation.

As used herein:
“Permitted Reorganisation” means any “fusione” or “scissione” (such expressions bearing
the meanings ascribed to them by the laws of the Republic of Italy) or any other
reconstruction, amalgamation, reorganisation, merger, consolidation, disposal or transfer of
assets or other similar arrangement (including any series of connected transactions), in each
case:
(a)

on terms approved by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed) of
the Noteholders; or

(b)

whereby the Issuer, a Guarantor or a Material Subsidiary sells, transfers, leases,
exchanges or otherwise disposes of its business (or a substantial part thereof)
(whether in the form of property or assets, including any receivables, shares, interest
or other equivalents or corporate stock or other indicia of ownership) at a value that is
confirmed by the Board of Directors to be (or have been) realised in an arm’s length
sale; or

(c)

in the case of a Material Subsidiary, whilst solvent, whereby all or substantially all of
the assets and undertaking of such Material Subsidiary are transferred to or otherwise
vested in the Issuer, a Guarantor or another Subsidiary; or

(d)

in the case of a Guarantor, whilst solvent whereby:
(i)

all or substantially all of the assets and liabilities of such Guarantor are
transferred to or otherwise vested in the Issuer or another Guarantor; or
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(ii)

(e)

all or substantially all of the assets and liabilities of such Guarantor are
transferred to an entity which, prior to or immediately upon such transfer, is a
Subsidiary of the Issuer, which:
(A)

assumes, in accordance with applicable law, all the obligations of
such Guarantor in respect of the relevant Guarantee and under the
Trust Deed (each such Subsidiary, a “Successor Guarantor”); or

(B)

becomes, in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed and
upon execution of all necessary documents as specified in the Trust
Deed, a guarantor in respect of the Notes and the Issuer’s obligation
under the Trust Deed (each such Subsidiary, an “Additional
Guarantor” and together the “Additional Guarantors”); or

in the case of the Issuer, whilst solvent whereby (i) substantially all of the assets and
liabilities of the Issuer are transferred to an entity (which prior to or immediately
upon such transfer, is a Subsidiary of the Issuer) and (ii) such entity becomes, in
accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed and upon execution of all necessary
documents as specified in the Trust Deed, an Additional Guarantor in respect of the
Notes and the Issuer’s obligations under the Trust Deed,

provided that:
(i)

in the case of (b), (c), (d) and (e) above, following the completion of the
relevant arrangement, the Notes maintain a rating, as attributed by each
Rating Agency that rated the Notes prior to the announcement by, or with the
consent of, the Issuer of such arrangement, at least equal to the Minimum
Rating from the date of such announcement thereafter and for at least 120
days from the date of completion of the relevant arrangement; and

(ii)

in the case of (d) and (e) above, opinions of independent legal advisers of
recognised standing in the jurisdiction of such Guarantor, and if different, the
Successor Guarantor or, as applicable, any Additional Guarantor, and as to
English law, in each case in a form acceptable to the Trustee, have been
delivered to the Trustee confirming that such Successor Guarantor or such
Additional Guarantor, as the case may be, has assumed the relevant
obligations in accordance with applicable law at the effective date of such
arrangement further provided that, for the avoidance of doubt, in the case of
(d) above, where the relevant assets are transferred to or otherwise vested in
the Issuer, no such opinions will be required or necessary.

“Investment Grade Rating” means a rating of BBB- by Standard & Poor’s Credit Market
Services Italy S.r.l. and/or Baa3 by Moody’s Investors Service Ltd and/or BBB- by Fitch
Italia S.p.A. or (or the equivalent credit rating by a rating agency established in the European
Union and included in the list of credit rating agencies registered in accordance with
Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 on Credit Rating Agencies as amended by Regulation (EU)
No. 513/2011);
“Minimum Rating” means:
(a)

if, immediately prior to the announcement of the relevant arrangement, the Notes
carried a credit rating equal to or higher than an Investment Grade Rating, an
Investment Grade Rating;

(b)

if, immediately prior to the announcement of the relevant arrangement, the Notes
carried a credit rating lower than an Investment Grade Rating, a credit rating that is
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not lower than the rating assigned by the Rating Agencies to, or carried by, the Notes
immediately prior to the announcement of such arrangement;
“Material Part” means ten (10) per cent. or more of the Consolidated Total Assets or the
Group’s Consolidated Revenues, as calculated by reference to the then latest audited annual
consolidated financial statements of the Issuer; and
“Substantial Part” means thirty-five (35) per cent. or more of the Consolidated Total Assets
or the Group’s Consolidated Revenues, as calculated by reference to the then latest audited
annual consolidated financial statements of the Issuer.
11.

REPLACEMENT OF NOTES AND COUPONS
Should any Note or Coupon be lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed it may be replaced
at the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent or the Paying Agent in Luxembourg,
subject to all applicable laws, listing authority requirements and stock exchange requirements,
upon payment by the claimant of the expenses incurred in connection with the replacement
and on such terms as to evidence and indemnity as the Issuer and any Guarantor may
reasonably require. Mutilated or defaced Notes or Coupons must be surrendered before
replacements will be issued.

12.

NOTICES

12.1

Notices to the Noteholders
All notices to the Noteholders will be valid if published in a leading English language daily
newspaper published in London or such other English language daily newspaper with general
circulation in Europe as the Issuer may decide and, so long as the Notes are listed on the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange and the rules of that exchange so require, on the website of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu) or in one daily newspaper published in
Luxembourg. It is expected that publication will normally be made in the Financial Times
and the Luxemburger Wort or the Tageblatt. The Issuer shall also ensure that notices are duly
published in a manner which complies with the rules and regulations of any stock exchange or
other relevant authority on which the Notes are for the time being listed. Any such notice will
be deemed to have been given on the date of the first publication or, where required to be
published in more than one newspaper, on the date of the first publication in all required
newspapers.

12.2

Notices from the Noteholders
Notices to be given by any Noteholder shall be in writing and given by lodging the same,
together with the relative Note or Notes, with the Principal Paying Agent or, if the Notes are
held in a clearing system, may be given through the clearing system in accordance with the
standard rules and procedures.

13.

TRUSTEE

13.1

Under the Trust Deed, the Trustee is entitled to be indemnified and/or secured and/or
prefunded to its satisfaction prior to taking any step or action and relieved from responsibility
in certain circumstances and to be paid its costs and expenses in priority to the claims of the
Noteholders. In addition, the Trustee is entitled to enter into business transactions with the
Issuer and any entity relating to the Issuer without accounting for any profit.

13.2

In connection with the exercise by the Trustee of any of its trusts, powers, authorities and
discretions (including, without limitation, any modification, waiver, authorisation,
determination or substitution), the Trustee shall have regard to the general interests of the
Noteholders as a class but shall not have regard to any interests arising from circumstances
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particular to individual Noteholders or Couponholders (whatever their number) and, in
particular but without limitation, shall not have regard to the consequences of any such
exercise for individual Noteholders or Couponholders (whatever their number) resulting from
their being for any purpose domiciled or resident in, or otherwise connected with, or subject
to the jurisdiction of, any particular territory or any political sub-division thereof and the
Trustee shall not be entitled to require, nor shall any Noteholder or Couponholder be entitled
to claim, from the Issuer, any Guarantor, the Trustee or any other person any indemnification
or payment in respect of any tax consequence of any such exercise upon individual
Noteholders or Couponholders except to the extent already provided for in Condition 7
(Taxation) and/or any undertaking given in addition to, or in substitution for, Condition 7
(Taxation) pursuant to the Trust Deed.
14.

MEETINGS OF NOTEHOLDERS, NOTEHOLDERS’ REPRESENTATIVE AND
MODIFICATION

14.1

Meetings of Noteholders
All meetings of the Noteholders will be held in compliance with mandatory provisions of
Italian law in force from time to time.
The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of the Noteholders to consider
any matter affecting their interests, including, inter alia, the modification or abrogation by
Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed) of any of the provisions contained in
these Conditions or in the Trust Deed. Any such meeting may be convened by the Board of
Directors of the Issuer or the Noteholders’ Representative (as defined below) at their
discretion and, in any event, upon the request in writing signed by any Noteholder(s) holding
not less than one-twentieth of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes for the time being
remaining outstanding. If the Board of Directors or the statutory auditors of the Issuer default
in convening such a meeting following such request or requisition by the Noteholders, the
same may be convened by decision of the President of the competent court upon in
accordance with the provisions of Article 2367 of the Italian Civil Code. Every such meeting
shall be held at such time and place as provided pursuant to Article 2363 of the Italian Civil
Code and the Issuer’s by-laws, in force from time to time.
Subject to the provisions of the following paragraph, such a meeting will be validly held
(subject, where applicable, to compliance with the Issuer’s by-laws, in force from time to
time) if: (a) in the case of a first meeting, there are one or more persons present being or
representing Noteholders holding at least one half of the aggregate principal amount of the
outstanding Notes; (b) in the case of a second meeting, or any subsequent adjourned meeting,
there are one or more persons present being or representing Noteholders holding more than
one third of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes.
The majority required to pass a resolution at any meeting (including any adjourned meeting)
convened to vote on any resolution (subject to compliance with mandatory laws, legislation,
rules and regulations of Italy in force from time to time) will be (i) for voting on any matter
other than a Reserved Matter, (a) in the case of a first meeting, one or more persons holding
or representing at least one half of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes or
(b) in the case of a second meeting, or any subsequent adjourned meeting one or more persons
holding or representing at least two-thirds of the aggregate principal amount of the
outstanding Notes represented at the meeting or (ii) for voting on a Reserved Matter, the
higher of (A) one of more persons holding or representing not less than one half of the
aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes and (B) one or more persons holding or
representing not less than two-thirds of the Notes represented at the meeting, provided that, to
the extent permitted under applicable provisions of Italian law, the Issuer’s by-laws may in
each case provide for higher majorities. Any resolution duly passed at any such meeting shall
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be binding on all the Noteholders, whether or not they are present at the meeting and on all
Couponholders.
“Reserved Matter” has the meaning given to it in the Trust Deed and includes any proposal,
as set out in Article 2415 of the Italian Civil Code, to modify the Terms and Conditions of the
Notes (including, inter alia, any proposal to modify the maturity of the Notes or the dates on
which interest is payable on them, to reduce or cancel the principal amount of, or interest on,
the Notes, or to change the currency of payment of the Notes).
14.2

Noteholders’ Representative
A representative of Noteholders (rappresentante comune) (the “Noteholders’
Representative”), subject to any applicable provisions of Italian law, is appointed in
accordance with and pursuant to Article 2417 of the Italian Civil Code in order to represent
the Noteholders’ interests under these Conditions and to give effect to the resolutions passed
at a meeting of the Noteholders. If the Noteholders’ Representative is not appointed by an
Extraordinary Meeting of such Noteholders, it shall be appointed by a decree of the
competent court where the Issuer has its registered office at the request of one or more
Noteholders or at the request of the directors of the Issuer. The Noteholders’ Representative
shall have the powers and duties set out in Article 2418 of the Italian Civil Code.

14.3

Modification, Waiver, Authorisation and Determination
The Trustee may agree, without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders, to any
modification of, or to the waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach of, any of
these Conditions or any of the provisions of the Trust Deed or the Agency Agreement (other
than in respect of a Reserved Matter), or determine, without any such consent as aforesaid,
that any Event of Default or Potential Event of Default (as defined in the Trust Deed) shall
not be treated as such (provided that, in any such case, it is not materially prejudicial to the
interests of the Noteholders) or may agree, without any such consent as aforesaid, to any
modification which, in its opinion, is of a formal, minor or technical nature or to correct a
manifest error or if it is made to comply with mandatory laws, legislation and regulations of
Italy applicable to the convening of meetings, quorums and the majorities required to pass an
Extraordinary Resolution and which enters into force at any time while the Notes remain
outstanding. Any modification, waiver, authorisation or determination shall be binding on the
Noteholders and the Couponholders and, unless the Trustee agrees otherwise, any
modification shall be notified by the Issuer to the Noteholders as soon as practicable
thereafter in accordance with Condition 12 (Notices).

15.

ENFORCEMENT

15.1

Enforcement by the Trustee
The Trustee may at any time, at its discretion and without notice, institute such proceedings as
it thinks fit to enforce the provisions of the Trust Deed, the Notes and the Coupons, but it
shall not be bound to do so or to take any other step or action under or pursuant to the Trust
Deed unless:
(a)

it has been so requested in writing by the holders of at least one-quarter of the
aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes or has been so directed by an
Extraordinary Resolution; and

(b)

it has been indemnified, provided with security and/or prefunded to its satisfaction.
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15.2

Enforcement by the Noteholders
No Noteholder may proceed directly against the Issuer or any Guarantors unless the Trustee,
having become bound to do so, fails to do so within a reasonable time and such failure is
continuing.

16.

FURTHER ISSUES
The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders
and in accordance with the Trust Deed, create and issue further notes, having terms and
conditions the same as those of the Notes, or the same except for the Issue Date and the
amount and date of the first payment of interest, which may be consolidated and form a single
series with the outstanding Notes. The Issuer may from time to time, with the consent of the
Trustee, create and issue other series of notes having the benefit of the Trust Deed.

17.

GOVERNING LAW AND SUBMISSION TO JURISDICTION

17.1

Governing Law
The Trust Deed (including the Guarantees), the Agency Agreement, the Notes and the
Coupons and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Trust
Deed (including the Guarantees), the Agency Agreement, the Notes and the Coupons are
governed by, and will be construed in accordance with English law, save that provisions in
these Conditions and in the Trust Deed relating to Noteholders’ meetings and the
Noteholders’ Representative are subject to compliance with mandatory provisions of Italian
law.

17.2

Jurisdiction of English Courts
Each of the Issuer and the Guarantors has, in the Trust Deed, irrevocably agreed for the
benefit of the Noteholders and the Couponholders that the courts of England are to have
exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise out of or in connection with the
Trust Deed (including the Guarantees), the Notes or the Coupons and accordingly has
submitted to the exclusive jurisdiction of the English courts. The Issuer and the Guarantors
waive any objection to the courts of England on the grounds that they are an inconvenient or
inappropriate forum.
The Trustee, the Noteholders and the Couponholders may take any suit, action or proceeding
arising out of or in connection with the Trust Deed (including the Guarantees), the Notes or
the Coupons respectively (together referred to as “Proceedings”) against the Issuer or the
Guarantors in any other court of competent jurisdiction and concurrent Proceedings in any
number of jurisdictions.

17.3

Appointment of Process Agent
Each of the Issuer and the Guarantors has, in the Trust Deed, irrevocably and unconditionally
appointed The London Law Agency Limited (company number 918416), whose registered
office is at The Old Exchange, 12 Compton Road, Wimbledon, London SW19 7QD, England,
as its agent for service of process in England in respect of any Proceedings and has
undertaken that in the event of such agent ceasing so to act it will appoint another person as
the Trustee may approve as its agent for that purpose.

17.4

Other Documents
Each of the Issuer and the Guarantors has in the Trust Deed and in the Agency Agreement
submitted to the jurisdiction of the English courts and appointed an agent in England for
service of process, in terms substantially similar to those set out above.
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18.

RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES
No rights are conferred on any person under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999
to enforce any term of this Note or the Trust Deed, but this does not affect any right or
remedy of any person which exists or is available apart from that Act.

There will appear at the foot of the Conditions endorsed on each Note in definitive form the names
and Specified Offices of the Trustee and the Paying Agents as set out at the end of this Prospectus.
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OVERVIEW OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE NOTES IN GLOBAL FORM
The Temporary Global Note and the Permanent Global Note (each, a “Global Note“) contain
provisions which apply to the Notes while they are in global form, some of which modify the effect of
the terms and conditions of the Notes set out in this Prospectus. The following is a description of
certain of those provisions:
Exchange for Permanent Global Note and Definitive Notes
(a)

The Temporary Global Note will be exchangeable, in whole or in part, for the Permanent
Global Note not earlier than forty (40) days after the Closing Date upon certification as to
non-U.S. beneficial ownership.

(b)

The Permanent Global Note is exchangeable in whole, but not in part, for definitive bearer
Notes only if (i) it is held on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, and any such
Clearing System is closed for business for a continuous period of fourteen (14) days (other
than by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention to permanently
cease business or does in fact do so; or (ii) an Event of Default (as defined in Condition 10
(Events of Default)) occurs.

If principal in respect of any Notes is not paid when due and payable the holder of the Permanent
Global Note may by notice to the Paying Agent require the exchange of a specified principal amount
of the Permanent Global Note (which may be equal to or (provided that, if the Permanent Global Note
is held by or on behalf of a Clearing System, that Clearing System agrees) less than the outstanding
principal amount of Notes represented thereby) for definitive Notes on or after the exchange date
specified in such notice.
On or after any exchange into definitive Notes the holder of the Permanent Global Note may
surrender the Permanent Global Note or, in the case of a partial exchange, present it for endorsement
to or to the order of the Paying Agent. In exchange for the Permanent Global Note, or the part thereof
to be exchanged, the Issuer will deliver, or procure the delivery of, an equal aggregate principal
amount of duly executed and authenticated definitive Notes in bearer form (having attached to them
all Coupons in respect of interest which has not already been paid on the Permanent Global Note),
security printed in accordance with any applicable legal and stock exchange requirements and in or
substantially in the form set out in the Trust Deed. On exchange in full of the Permanent Global Note,
the Issuer will, if the holder so requests, procure that it is cancelled and returned to the holder together
with any relevant definitive Notes.
Payments
No payment will be made on the Temporary Global Note unless exchange for an interest in the
Permanent Global Note is improperly withheld or refused provided that, in the case of an improper
withholding of, or refusal to exchange, an interest in the Permanent Global Note, a certificate of nonU.S. beneficial ownership has been properly provided.
Payments of principal and interest in respect of Notes represented by the Permanent Global Note will
be made against presentation for endorsement and, if no further payment fails to be made in respect of
the Notes, surrender of the Permanent Global Note to or to the order of any Paying Agent as shall
have been notified to the Noteholders for such purpose, and may be made, at the direction of the
holder of the Permanent Global Note, to the relevant Clearing Systems for credit to the account or
accounts of the accountholder or accountholders appearing in the records of the relevant Clearing
System as having Notes credited to them. The Issuer shall procure that a record of each payment made
in respect of the Permanent Global Note shall be made by the relevant Clearing Systems.
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Payments on Business Days
In the case of all payments made in respect of the Temporary Global Note and the Permanent Global
Note “business day” means any day on which the TARGET system is open.
Notices
Notices shall be given as provided in Condition 12 (Notices), save that so long as the Notes are
represented by the Temporary Global Note or Permanent Global Note and the Temporary Global Note
or Permanent Global Note is held on behalf of a Clearing System, notices to Noteholders may be
given by delivery of the relevant notice to the relevant Clearing System for communication to the
relevant Accountholders (as defined below) rather than by publication as required by Condition 12
(Notices), provided, however, that so long as the Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange
and the rules of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange so require, notices will also be published in a
leading newspaper having general circulation in Luxembourg (which is expected to be the
Luxembourger Wort) or be published on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange
(www.bourse.lu). Any notice delivered to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, shall be
deemed to have been given to Noteholders on the date on which such notice is delivered to the
relevant Clearing System.
Purchase and Cancellation
Cancellation of any Note to be cancelled following its purchase by the Issuer will be effected by a
reduction in the principal amount of the relevant Global Note.
Prescription
Claims against the Issuer and the Guarantors in respect of principal, premium and interest on the
Notes while the Notes are represented by the Permanent Global Note will become void unless it is
presented for payment within a period of ten (10) years (in the case of principal) and five (5) years (in
the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 7 (Taxation)).
Authentication and Effectuation
Neither the Temporary Global Note nor the Permanent Global Note shall become valid or enforceable
for any purpose unless and until it has been authenticated by or on behalf of the Paying Agent and
effectuated by the entity appointed as Common Safekeeper by Euroclear and/or Clearstream,
Luxembourg.
Accountholders
For so long as any of the Notes are represented by the Permanent Global Note or by the Permanent
Global Note and Temporary Global Note and such Global Note(s) is/are held on behalf of the relevant
Clearing Systems, each person (other than a relevant Clearing System) who is for the time being
shown in the records of a relevant Clearing System as the holder of a particular principal amount of
Notes (each an “Accountholder”) (in which regard any certificate or other document issued by a
relevant Clearing System as to the principal amount of such Notes standing to the account of any
person shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes) shall be treated as the holder of that principal
amount for all purposes (including but not limited to for the purposes of any quorum requirements of,
or the right to demand a poll at, meetings of the Noteholders and giving notice to the Issuer pursuant
to Condition 10 (Events of Default) and Condition 6.3 (Redemption at the Option of the Holders upon
a Change of Control)) other than with respect to the payment of principal and interest on the Notes,
the right to which shall be vested, as against the Issuer, the Guarantors and the Trustee, solely in the
bearer of the Permanent Global Note in accordance with and subject to its terms and the terms of the
Trust Deed. Each Accountholder must look solely to the relevant Clearing Systems for its share of
each payment made to the bearer of the Permanent Global Note.
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Eligibility of the Notes for Eurosystem Monetary Policy
The Notes will be issued in NGN form and, as such, are intended to be held in a manner which will
allow for them to be eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations
by the Eurosystem. This means that the Notes are upon issue deposited with one of the international
central securities depositories (ICSDs) as Common Safekeeper but does not necessarily mean that the
Notes will be recognised as eligible either upon issue, or at any or all times during their life. Such
recognition will depend upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria and other obligations
(including the provision of further information) as specified by the ECB from time to time.
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USE OF PROCEEDS
The net proceeds of the issue of the Notes, expected to amount to approximately €295,632,000, will
be used by the Issuer to repay existing indebtedness of the Group (including indebtedness in which
the Joint Lead Managers participate, directly or through an affiliate or through companies being part
of their banking group, including parent companies) and for general corporate purposes of the Group,
see “Description of the Issuer – Financing” and “General Information – Potential Conflicts of
Interest”.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION RELATING TO THE GROUP
The following tables contain:
(i)

consolidated statements of financial position and consolidated income statements of the
Group as at and for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011, derived from the Group’s
audited consolidated annual financial statements as at and for the years ended 31 December
2012 and 2011; and

(ii)

consolidated statements of financial position as at 30 June 2013 and 31 December 2012, and
consolidated income statements of the Group for the six-month period ended 30 June 2013
and 2012, all derived from the Issuer’s unaudited half-yearly financial statements as at and for
the six-month period ended 30 June 2013.

Such information is derived from and should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified in its
entirety by reference to the full audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer as at and for the
years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011 and the unaudited consolidated half-yearly financial
statements of the Issuer as at and for the six-month period ended 30 June 2013, in each case together
with the accompanying notes and (where applicable) reports of the Issuer’s external auditors, all of
which are incorporated by reference in this Prospectus. See “Documents Incorporated by reference”.
The Issuer’s consolidated annual financial statements as at and for the years ended 31 December 2012
and 2011 and its half-yearly financial statements as at and for the six-month period ended 30 June
2013 have been prepared in accordance with IFRS. Reconta Ernst & Young, auditors to the Issuer
have audited the Issuer’s consolidated annual financial statements as at and for the years ended
31 December 2012 and 2011, and performed a limited review on the unaudited half-yearly financial
information of the Issuer as at and for the six months ended 30 June 2013. The tables below are
translated into English from the original Italian.
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Linea Group Holding S.p.A.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as of 31 December 2012 and 2011
31 December
31 December
2011
2012
(amounts expressed in €/000)
Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets ...............................................................................................................
Goodwill ...........................................................................................................................
Property, Plant and Equipment ........................................................................................
Investments in associates .................................................................................................
Other equity investments .................................................................................................
Deferred tax assets ...........................................................................................................
Non-current financial assets.............................................................................................
Other non-current assets ..................................................................................................
Total non-current assets ................................................................................................
Current assets
Inventories .........................................................................................................................
Trade receivables ..............................................................................................................
Derivatives financial instruments .....................................................................................
Current financial assets .....................................................................................................
Other current assets ...........................................................................................................
Cash and cash equivalents ................................................................................................
Total current assets .........................................................................................................
Available-for-sale assets ...................................................................................................
Total assets .......................................................................................................................

63,347
85,014
490,550
9,928
544
34,419
1,035
2,561
687,398

60,719
85,290
508,269
9,141
552
25,976
0
3,660
693,607

23,444
245,838
1,016
25,507
32,782
19,531
348,118
0
1,035,516

23,526
252,402
0
30,229
54,567
33,446
394,170
2,324
1,090,101

31 December
31 December
2011
2012
(amounts expressed in €/000)
Equity and Liabilities
Shareholders’ Equity
Share capital ......................................................................................................................
Other reserves....................................................................................................................
Retained earnings ..............................................................................................................
Net income for the period .................................................................................................
Group shareholders’ equity ...........................................................................................
Minority interests ..............................................................................................................
Total equity ......................................................................................................................
Non-current liabilities
Non-current loans and financial liabilities........................................................................
Provisions for contingencies and charges.........................................................................
Provision for employee leaving indemnities ....................................................................
Derivatives financial instruments liabilities .....................................................................
Other non-current financial liabilities...............................................................................
Other non-current liabilities ..............................................................................................
Deferred tax liabilities.......................................................................................................
Total non-current liabilities ...........................................................................................
Current liabilities
Trade payables ..................................................................................................................
Current loans and financial liabilities ...............................................................................
Other current liabilities .....................................................................................................
Current tax liabilities.........................................................................................................
Total current liabilities ...................................................................................................
Available-for-sale liabilities ...........................................................................................
Total liabilities .................................................................................................................
Total equity and liabilities ..............................................................................................
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189,494
8,758
4,849
4,868
207,969
32,265
240,234

189,494
10,462
12,600
3,021
215,577
40,193
255,770

214,364
54,618
16,811
11,877
7,095
42,853
37,243
384,861

274,416
58,349
15,260
9,909
8,082
43,388
40,457
449,861

186,010
187,439
35,256
1,716
410,421
0
795,283
1,035,516

169,133
167,751
36,452
10,445
383,781
689
834,331
1,090,101

Linea Group Holding S.p.A.
Consolidated Income Statements for the Years Ended 31 December 2012 and 2011
31 December
31 December
2011
2012
(amounts expressed in €/000)
Income Statement
Revenues from sales..........................................................................................................
Other operating revenues ..................................................................................................
Total net revenues ...........................................................................................................
Cost for raw material and services....................................................................................
Personnel expenses ...........................................................................................................
Other operating expenses ..................................................................................................
Other net income (expenses).............................................................................................
Gross operating margin (EBITDA) ..............................................................................
Amortisation, depreciation and write-down .....................................................................
Operating result (EBIT) .................................................................................................
Net financial income (expenses) .......................................................................................
Share of operating result of associates..............................................................................
Gains (losses) on equity investments ................................................................................
Income before taxes ........................................................................................................
Income tax .........................................................................................................................
Income from continuing operations ..............................................................................
Return on assets being divested .....................................................................................
Net income for the year ..................................................................................................
of which: ............................................................................................................................
Attributable to the group ...................................................................................................
Attributable to minority interests ......................................................................................
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633,049
22,710
655,759
(479,052)
(66,738)
(6,201)
(3,985)
99,783
(60,712)
39,071
(23,974)
(2,188)
(1,632)
11,277
(10,366)
911
0
911

555,370
12,938
568,308
(389,319)
(64,570)
(6,616)
440
108,243
(59,204)
49,039
(15,495)
(12,992)
72
20,624
(19,630)
994
144
1,138

4,868
(3,957)

3,021
(1,883)

Linea Group Holding S.p.A.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as of 30 June 2013 and 31 December 2012
30 June
31 December
2013
2012
(amounts expressed in €/000)
(restated*)
Unaudited
Unaudited
Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets ................................................................................................................
Goodwill ............................................................................................................................
Property, Plant and Equipment .........................................................................................
Investments in associates ..................................................................................................
Other equity investments ..................................................................................................
Deferred tax assets ............................................................................................................
Non-current financial assets..............................................................................................
Other non-current assets ...................................................................................................
Total non-current assets .................................................................................................
Current assets
Inventories .........................................................................................................................
Trade receivables ..............................................................................................................
Derivative financial instruments- assets ...........................................................................
Current financial assets .....................................................................................................
Other current assets ...........................................................................................................
Cash and cash equivalents ................................................................................................
Total current assets .........................................................................................................
Total assets .......................................................................................................................

69,384
85,014
480,735
9,890
544
36,601
1,269
2,806
686,243

63,347
85,014
490,550
9,928
544
34,419
1,035
2,561
687,398

25,431
225,057
2,094
23,168
30,260
46,144
352,154
1,038,397

23,444
245,838
1,016
25,507
32,782
19,531
348,118
1,035,516

__________
* Some of the figures stated in this column do not match those stated in the consolidated financial statements as at 31
December 2012, as they reflect adjustments made, as detailed in Note 18 to the 2013 half-yearly financial statements.
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Linea Group Holding S.p.A.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as of 30 June 2013 and 31 December 2012
(Cont’d)
31 December
30 June 2013
2012
(amounts expressed in €/000)
(restated*)
Unaudited
Unaudited
Equity and Liabilities
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital .....................................................................................................................
Other reserves...................................................................................................................
Retained earnings .............................................................................................................
Net Income for the year ...................................................................................................
Group shareholders’ equity ..........................................................................................
Minority interests .............................................................................................................
Total Shareholders’ Equity ...........................................................................................
Non-current liabilities
Non-current loans and financial liabilities.......................................................................
Provisions for contingencies and charges ........................................................................
Provision for employee leaving indemnities ...................................................................
Derivatives financial instruments - liabilities .................................................................
Other non-current financial liabilities ..............................................................................
Other non-current liabilities .............................................................................................
Deferred tax liabilities ......................................................................................................
Total non-current liabilities ..........................................................................................
Current liabilities
Trade payables .................................................................................................................
Current loans and financial liabilities ..............................................................................
Other current liabilities ....................................................................................................
Current tax liabilities ........................................................................................................

189,494
7,878
6,611
5,281
209,264
28,507
237,771

189,494
7,235
4,850
6,389
207,968
32,265
240,233

241,666
58,028
16,919
11,551
6,668
42,753
36,076
413,661

214,364
54,618
16,811
11,877
7,095
42,854
37,243
384,862

141,836
174,626
60,347
10,156
386,965
800,626
1,038,397

186,010
187,439
35,256
1,716
410,421
795,283
1,035,516

Total current liabilities ..................................................................................................
Total liabilities ................................................................................................................
Total equity and liabilities .............................................................................................
__________
* Some of the figures stated in this column do not match those stated in the consolidated financial statements as at 31st
December 2012, as they reflect adjustments made, as detailed in Note 18 to the 2013 half-yearly financial statements.
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Linea Group Holding S.p.A.
Consolidated Income Statement for the six months ended 30 June 2013 and 2012
1 January to
1 January to
30 June 2013
30 June 2012
(amounts expressed in €/000)
Unaudited
Unaudited
Revenues from sales.........................................................................................................
Other operating revenues .................................................................................................
Total net revenues ..........................................................................................................
Cost for raw material and services...................................................................................
Personnel expenses ..........................................................................................................
Other operating expenses .................................................................................................
Other net income (expenses)............................................................................................
Gross operating margin (EBITDA) .............................................................................
Amortisation, depreciation and write-down ....................................................................
Operating result (EBIT) ................................................................................................
Net financial income (expenses) ......................................................................................
Share of operating result of associates.............................................................................
Gains (losses) on equity investments ...............................................................................
Income before taxes .......................................................................................................
Income tax ........................................................................................................................
Income from continuing operations .............................................................................
Net Income for the year .................................................................................................
of which:
Attributable to the group ..................................................................................................
Attributable to minority interests .....................................................................................
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364,794
7,918
372,712
(285,171)
(32,936)
(3,034)
(1,599)
49,972
(28,841)
21,130
(10,795)
(51)
0
10,284
(7,352)
2,932
2,932

321,277
17,097
338,374
(247,194)
(34,380)
(3,963)
(1,406)
51,432
(30,539)
20,892
(8,504)
(397)
2
11,994
(7,953)
4,041
4,041

5,281
(2,349)

7,742
(3,702)

FINANCIAL INFORMATION RELATING TO THE GUARANTORS
The tables below set out an overview of non-consolidated balance sheet and income statement
information of the Guarantors as at and for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011. Such
information is derived from and should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified in its entirety by
reference to the full audited non-consolidated annual financial statements of the Guarantors as at and
for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011, in each case together with the accompanying notes
and reports of the Guarantors’ external auditors, all of which are incorporated by reference in this
Prospectus. See “Documents incorporated by reference”.
The Guarantors’ non-consolidated annual accounts as at and for the years ended 31 December 2012
and 2011 have been prepared in accordance with Italian GAAP and have been audited by Reconta
Ernst & Young, auditors to the Guarantors. The tables below are translated into English from the
original Italian.
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AEM Gestioni S.r.l.
Balance Sheet
As at 31
As at 31
December 2012 December 2011
(amounts expressed in €)
Assets
Total Subscribed Capital Unpaid .................................................................................
Incorporation and extension costs....................................................................................
R&D and advertising costs ..............................................................................................
Patents and use of intellectual property rights .................................................................
Concessions, licences, trademarks & similar rights ........................................................
Goodwill ...........................................................................................................................
Work in progress and down payments.............................................................................
Other intangible assets .....................................................................................................
Total Intangible Assets ..................................................................................................
Land and buildings ...........................................................................................................
Plant and machinery ..........................................................................................................
Industrial and commercial equipment ..............................................................................
Other assets .......................................................................................................................
Intangible assets in progress and payments on account ...................................................
Total Tangible Assets ......................................................................................................
Equity investments in other companies ...........................................................................
Equity investments under non-current assets ..................................................................
Receivables under non-current assets ...............................................................................
Other non-current assets ...................................................................................................
Group’s treasury shares.....................................................................................................
Total Financial Assets .....................................................................................................
Total Non-Current Assets .............................................................................................
Raw materials and supplies..............................................................................................
Work in progress and semi-finished products .................................................................
Work in progress to order ................................................................................................
Finished products and goods............................................................................................
Down payments................................................................................................................
Inventories ......................................................................................................................
Receivables from customers – less than 12 months .........................................................
Receivables from customers – more than 12 months ......................................................
Receivables from customers ............................................................................................
Receivables from subsidiaries ..........................................................................................
Receivables from associates .............................................................................................
Receivables from parent companies – less than 12 months .............................................
Receivables from parent companies – more than 12 months ...........................................
Receivables from parent companies .................................................................................
Tax assets ..........................................................................................................................
Deferred tax assets ............................................................................................................
Receivables from others – less than 12 months................................................................
Receivables from others – more than 12 months .............................................................
Receivables from others ....................................................................................................
Receivables from companies in the Group – less than 12 months...................................
Receivables from companies in the Group – more than 12 months
Receivables from companies in the Group .......................................................................
Receivables under non-current assets ...............................................................................
Financial assets other than non-current assets ..................................................................
Bank and post-office deposits ...........................................................................................
Cheques .............................................................................................................................
Cash on hand .....................................................................................................................
Cash and cash equivalents ................................................................................................
Non-Current Assets.........................................................................................................
Other accrued income .......................................................................................................
Prepaid expenses ...............................................................................................................
Prepayments and Accrued Income ...................................................................................
Total assets .......................................................................................................................
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0
0
0
0
0
0
0
772,003
772,003
1,501
366,049
4,819,769
1,480,503
681,216
7,349,038
120,670
120,670
0
0
0
120,670
8,241,711
1,745,422
0
0
0
0
1,745,422
30,856,751
382,461
31,239,212
0
0
5,880,880
0
5,880,880
2,098,357
2,320,711
1,111,276
155,412
1,266,688
4,235,058
0
4,235,058
46,960,906
0
29,800
0
1,336
31,136
48,737,464
0
910,229
910,229
57,889,404

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
991,986
991,986
0
422,841
5,770,535
1,977,590
130,529
8,301,495
123,370
123,370
0
0
0
123,370
9,416,851
1,804,741
0
114,123
0
0
1,918,864
33,305,165
0
33,305,165
0
0
2,228,318
0
2,228,318
2,188,340
2,060,030
1,346,824
161,940
1,508,764
3,420,596
0
3,420,596
44,711,213
0
67,533
0
85
67,618
46,697,695
0
659,540
659,540
56,774,086

As at 31
As at 31
December 2012 December 2011
(amounts expressed in €)
Liabilities
Share Capital ....................................................................................................................
Share premium reserve ....................................................................................................
Revaluation reserves ........................................................................................................
Legal reserve ....................................................................................................................
Group’s treasury shares reserve .......................................................................................
Statutory reserves .............................................................................................................
Other reserves...................................................................................................................
Profit (loss) carried forward .............................................................................................
Profit (Loss) for the Year ..............................................................................................
Equity ..............................................................................................................................
Pension fund and similar obligations ................................................................................
Provision for taxes ............................................................................................................
Other provisions ................................................................................................................
Provision covering losses incurred by affiliates ...............................................................
Provisions for risks and charges ...................................................................................
Employee Leaving Indemnities ....................................................................................
Bonds ................................................................................................................................
Convertible bonds .............................................................................................................
Borrowings from shareholders..........................................................................................
Borrowings from banks – less than 12 months ................................................................
Borrowings from banks – more than 12 months ..............................................................
Borrowings from banks.....................................................................................................
Borrowings from other lenders .........................................................................................
Down payments – less than 12 months ............................................................................
Down payments – more than 12 months ..........................................................................
Down payments.................................................................................................................
Other amounts owed to suppliers – less than 12 months .................................................
Other amounts owed to suppliers – more than 12 months ...............................................
Amounts owed to suppliers...............................................................................................
Securities payables ............................................................................................................
Payables to subsidiaries ....................................................................................................
Payables to associates .......................................................................................................
Payables to parent companies – less than 12 months .......................................................
Payables to parent companies – more than 12 months.....................................................
Payables to parent companies ...........................................................................................
Tax liabilities – less than 12 months.................................................................................
Tax liabilities – more than 12 months ..............................................................................
Tax liabilities .....................................................................................................................
Payables to social security & welfare inst. – less than 12 months ...................................
Payables to social security & welfare inst. – more than 12 months.................................
Payables to social security & welfare inst. .......................................................................
Other payables – less than 12 months...............................................................................
Other payables – more than 12 months ............................................................................
Other payables ...................................................................................................................
Payables to companies in the Group – less than 12 months.............................................
Payables to companies in the Group – more than 12 months ..........................................
Payables to companies in the Group .................................................................................
Payables ............................................................................................................................
Other accrued expenses.....................................................................................................
Deferred income ................................................................................................................
Accruals and Deferred Income ......................................................................................
Total Liabilities ...............................................................................................................
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11,649,196
0
0
0
0
0
0
(2,173,210)
2,547,620
12,023,606
555,178
0
4,367,738
0
4,922,916
4,214,839
0
0
0
1,389,020
157,839
1,546,859
0
0
627,918
627,918
18,920,848
0
18,920,848
0
0
0
3,355,596
0
3,355,596
1,391,044
0
1,391,044
928,977
0
928,977
4,713,605
0
4,713,605
2,928,084
0
2,928,084
34,412,931
2,259,319
55,793
2,315,112
57,889,404

12,739,196
0
0
0
0
0
0
(3,181,066)
1,007,853
10,565,983
656,617
0
3,484,087
0
4,140,704
5,442,461
0
0
0
1,306,740
1,545,537
2,852,277
0
0
1,280,625
1,280,625
20,095,668
0
20,095,668
0
0
0
1,592,261
0
1,592,261
1,407,779
0
1,407,779
1,081,252
0
1,081,252
5,459,340
0
5,459,340
2,345,228
0
2,345,228
36,114,430
430,455
80,053
510,508
56,774,086

AEM Gestioni S.r.l.
Income Statement
For the year
For the year
ended
ended
31 December
31 December
2012
2011
(amounts expressed in €)
Income Statement
Revenues from sales and services....................................................................................
Change in inventories, work in progress, semi-finished and finished products .............
Change in work in progress .............................................................................................
Addition to assets for internal work.................................................................................
Operating grants and contributions ..................................................................................
Other income ....................................................................................................................
Other revenues and income ..............................................................................................
Value of Production .......................................................................................................
Costs for raw mat., supplies, cons. & goods ....................................................................
Costs for services ..............................................................................................................
Costs for leases and rentals ...............................................................................................
Wages and salaries ............................................................................................................
Social security and contributions ......................................................................................
Employee leaving indemnities ..........................................................................................
Pension fund and similar benefits .....................................................................................
Other costs .........................................................................................................................
Personnel expenses: ..........................................................................................................
Amortisation of intangible assets.....................................................................................
Depreciation of tangible assets .........................................................................................
Impairment of other non-current assets ............................................................................
Impairment of current assets and cash ..............................................................................
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment .....................................................................
Changes in raw materials, supplies, consumables & goods .............................................
Provisions for risks and liabilities.....................................................................................
Other provisions ................................................................................................................
Other operating charges ....................................................................................................
Costs of Production .........................................................................................................
Difference between Value of Production and Costs of Production ...........................
Income from Other equity investments ............................................................................
Income from equity investments.......................................................................................
Sundry financial income ...................................................................................................
Other financial income ......................................................................................................
from parent companies .....................................................................................................
from other companies ......................................................................................................
Interest payables and financial expenses ..........................................................................
Financial Income and Expenses ....................................................................................
Adjustments to Financial Assets....................................................................................
Contingent assets...............................................................................................................
Other Extraordinary income .............................................................................................
Extraordinary income........................................................................................................
Taxes from previous year..................................................................................................
Other extraordinary expenses ...........................................................................................
Other contingent liabilities ................................................................................................
Extraordinary expenses .....................................................................................................
Extraordinary Income and Expenses ...........................................................................
Pre-Tax Income for the Year .........................................................................................
Current taxes .....................................................................................................................
Deferred taxes ...................................................................................................................
Prepaid taxes .....................................................................................................................
Taxes for the Year ...........................................................................................................
Profit (Loss) for the Year ...............................................................................................
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77,036,445
0
(63,768)
135,227
1,119,042
5,534,396
6,653,438
83,761,342
26,294,021
23,096,112
10,503,842
10,208,761
3,322,988
842,097
34,343
196,357
14,604,546
386,874
1,196,490
0
358,690
1,942,054
(39,131)
0
1,938,510
1,604,031
79,943,985
3,817,357
21,084
21,084
165,239
165,239
142,844
74,972
217,816
(31,493)
0
1,110,910
65,219
1,176,129
791
0
288,083
288,874
887,255
4,673,119
2,413,436
0
(287,937)
2,125,499
2,547,620

81,407,132
0
45,987
253,308
1,365,473
1,717,304
3,082,777
84,789,204
25,016,733
25,429,361
11,767,437
10,624,223
3,552,176
901,778
41,004
435,503
15,554,684
400,476
1,224,567
0
0
1,625,043
51,247
0
640,938
2,577,188
82,662,631
2,126,573
9,035
9,035
166,360
166,360
237,148
96,468
333,616
(158,221)
0
37,346
4,203
41,549
449
21
50,525
50,995
(9,446)
1,958,906
1,117,799
(1,195)
(165,551)
951,053
1,007,853

Astem Gestioni S.r.l.
Balance Sheet
As at 31
As at 31
December 2012 December 2011
(amounts expressed in €)
Non-Current Assets
Intangible Assets
Incorporation and extension costs.....................................................................................
R&D and advertising costs, industrial patents and use of intellectual property rights....
Concessions, licences, trademarks and similar rights ......................................................
Goodwill ............................................................................................................................
Intangible assets in progress and payments on account ...................................................
Other intangible asses .......................................................................................................
Total Intangible Assets ...................................................................................................
Tangible Assets
Land and buildings ............................................................................................................
Plant and machinery ..........................................................................................................
Industrial and commercial equipment ..............................................................................
Tangible assets and payments on account ........................................................................
Total Tangible Assets ......................................................................................................
Financial Assets
Equity investments in:
Subsidiaries ...................................................................................................................
Associates ......................................................................................................................
Other companies ...........................................................................................................
Receivables:
From subsidiaries ..........................................................................................................
From associates .............................................................................................................
From parent companies .................................................................................................
From others:
less than 12 months ...................................................................................................
more than 12 months.................................................................................................
Other non-current assets ...................................................................................................
Own shares ........................................................................................................................
Total Financial Assets .....................................................................................................
Total Non-Current Assets ..............................................................................................
Current Assets
Inventories
Raw materials, supplies and consumables........................................................................
Work in progress and semi-finished products ..................................................................
Work in progress to order .................................................................................................
Finished products and goods.............................................................................................
Payments on account.........................................................................................................
Other ..................................................................................................................................
Total Inventories .............................................................................................................
Trade Receivables
From customers .................................................................................................................
less than 12 months .......................................................................................................
more than 12 months .....................................................................................................
From subsidiaries ..............................................................................................................
less than 12 months .......................................................................................................
more than 12 months .....................................................................................................
From associates .................................................................................................................
less than 12 months .......................................................................................................
more than 12 months .....................................................................................................
From parent companies .....................................................................................................
less than 12 months .......................................................................................................
more than 12 months .....................................................................................................
From affiliates: .................................................................................................................
less than 12 months .......................................................................................................
more than 12 months .....................................................................................................
Tax assets: ........................................................................................................................
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0
8,557
0
0
692,442
35,948
736,947

0
30,773
0
0
17,376
713,854
762,003

0
48,925
197,622
1,407,045
1,653,592

0
0
215,045
1,872,614
2,087,659

0
0
0

0
17,775
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

1,785
11,720
0
0
13,505
2,404,044

2,540
10,994
0
0
31,309
2,880,971

36,138
0
0
0
0
0
36,138

49,501
0
0
0
0
0
49,501

3,924,381
3,924,381
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
3,117,319
3,117,319
0
395,280
395,280
0
14,557

5,180,282
5,180,282
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
1,025,047
1,025,047
0
1,037,579
1,037,579
0
741,410

less than 12 months .......................................................................................................
more than 12 months .....................................................................................................
Deferred tax assets: ...........................................................................................................
less than 12 months .......................................................................................................
more than 12 months .....................................................................................................
From others: .....................................................................................................................
less than 12 months .......................................................................................................
more than 12 months .....................................................................................................
Total Trade Receivables .................................................................................................
Financial Assets Other than Non-Current Assets
Interest in subsidiaries ......................................................................................................
Interest in associates..........................................................................................................
Interest in parent companies .............................................................................................
Other interest .....................................................................................................................
Treasury shares..................................................................................................................
Other securities..................................................................................................................
Total Financial Assets Other than Non-Current Assets .............................................
Cash and cash equivalents
Bank and post-office deposits ...........................................................................................
Cheques .............................................................................................................................
Cash on hand .....................................................................................................................
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents .................................................................................
Total Current Assets .......................................................................................................
Prepayments and Accrued Income
Accrued income ................................................................................................................
Prepaid expenses ...............................................................................................................
Total Prepayments and Accrued Income .....................................................................
Total assets ..........................................................................................................................
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As at 31
As at 31
December 2012 December 2011
(amounts expressed in €)
14,557
741,410
0
0
4,125
5,126
4,125
5,126
0
0
1,034,705
1,767,547
1,034,705
1,767,547
0
0
8,490,367
9,765,991
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
22,080
22,080

243,565
0
1,254
244,819
8,771,324

23,600
0
3,518
27,118
9,864,690

0
107,423
107,423
11,282,791

0
97,803
97,803
12,843,464

As at 31 December
As at 31 December
2011
2012
(amounts expressed in €)
Liabilities
Shareholders’ Equity
Share capital .......................................................................................................
Share premium reserves .....................................................................................
Revaluation reserve ............................................................................................
Legal reserve ......................................................................................................
Own share portfolio reserve ...............................................................................
Statutory or regulatory reserves .........................................................................
Extraordinary reserves .......................................................................................
Profit (Loss) carried forward .............................................................................
Profit (Loss) for the year ....................................................................................
Total Equity ......................................................................................................
Provisions for Risk and Charges
Pension fund and similar obligations .................................................................
Provision for deferred and other taxes ...............................................................
Other provisions .................................................................................................
Total Provisions for Risks and Charges ........................................................
Employee Leaving Indemnities ......................................................................
Payables
Bonds ..................................................................................................................
Convertible bonds ..............................................................................................
Borrowings from shareholders...........................................................................
less than 12 months ........................................................................................
more than 12 months ......................................................................................
Borrowings from banks......................................................................................
less than 12 months ........................................................................................
more than 12 months ......................................................................................
Borrowings from other lenders ..........................................................................
less than 12 months ........................................................................................
more than 12 months ......................................................................................
Advances received .............................................................................................
less than 12 months ........................................................................................
more than 12 months ......................................................................................
Amounts owed to suppliers................................................................................
less than 12 months ........................................................................................
more than 12 months ......................................................................................
Securities payables .............................................................................................
less than 12 months ........................................................................................
more than 12 months ......................................................................................
Payables to subsidiaries .....................................................................................
less than 12 months ........................................................................................
more than 12 months ......................................................................................
Payables to associates ........................................................................................
less than 12 months ........................................................................................
more than 12 months ......................................................................................
Payables to affiliates ..........................................................................................
less than 12 months ........................................................................................
more than 12 months ......................................................................................
Payables to parent companies ............................................................................
less than 12 months ........................................................................................
more than 12 months ......................................................................................
Tax liabilities ......................................................................................................
less than 12 months ........................................................................................
more than 12 months ......................................................................................
Payables to social security institutions ..............................................................
less than 12 months ........................................................................................
more than 12 months ......................................................................................
Other payables ....................................................................................................
less than 12 months ........................................................................................
more than 12 months ......................................................................................
Total Payables...................................................................................................
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1,290,319
0
0
232,682
0
0
17,378
60,917
1,696,025
3,297,321

1,290,319
0
0
161,171
0
0
17,378
52,221
1,430,207
2,951,296

0
0
15,000
15,000
1,140,653

0
0
15,000
15,000
1,217,683

0
0
0
0
0
150,271
271
150,000
0
0
0
24,252
24,252
0
4,331,682
4,331,682
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
668,415
668,415
0
320,749
320,749
0
229,992
229,992
0
156,175
156,175
0
697,799
697,799
0
6,579,335

0
0
0
0
0
366
366
0
0
0
0
20,601
20,601
0
5,263,690
5,263,690
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
1,084,452
1,084,452
0
1,020,895
1,020,895
0
150,821
150,821
0
184,128
184,128
0
564,124
564,124
0
8,289,077

As at 31 December
As at 31 December
2011
2012
(amounts expressed in €)
Accruals and Deferred Income
Accrued expenses ...............................................................................................
Deferred income .................................................................................................
Total Accruals and Deferred Income.............................................................
Total Liabilities ................................................................................................

62

1,196
249,286
250,482
11,282,791

1,268
369,140
370,408
12,843,464

Astem Gestioni S.r.l.
Income Statement
For the year ended
31 December
31 December
2012
2011
(amounts expressed in €)
Value of Production
Revenues from sales and services ..........................................................................................
Change in inventories, work in progress, semi-finished and finished products ...................
Change in work in progress ...................................................................................................
Addition to assets for internal work.......................................................................................
Other revenues and income: .................................................................................................
sundry .................................................................................................................................
attributable to the year .......................................................................................................
Total Production Value (A) .................................................................................................
Production Costs
Costs for raw material, supplies, consumables and goods for sale .......................................
Cost for services .....................................................................................................................
Costs for leases and rentals ....................................................................................................
Personnel expenses: ..............................................................................................................
Wages and salaries .............................................................................................................
Social security contributions ..............................................................................................
Employee leaving indemnities ...........................................................................................
Pension fund and similar benefits ......................................................................................
Other costs ..........................................................................................................................
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment: .........................................................................
Amortisation of intangible assets.......................................................................................
Depreciation of tangible assets ..........................................................................................
Impairment of other non-current assets .............................................................................
Impairment of current assets and cash ...............................................................................
Changes in raw materials, supplies, consumables and goods ...............................................
Provisions for risks and liabilities..........................................................................................
Other provisions .....................................................................................................................
Other operating charges .........................................................................................................
Total Costs of Production (B) .............................................................................................
(A)-(B)
Financial Income and Expenses
Income from equity investments: .........................................................................................
from subsidiaries ................................................................................................................
from associates ...................................................................................................................
from other companies ........................................................................................................
Other financial income:
from receivables recognised in non-current assets ............................................................
from subsidiaries
from associates ...............................................................................................................
from parent companies...................................................................................................
from other companies ....................................................................................................
from securities recognised in non-currents assets .............................................................
from securities under working capital other than investments..........................................
Income other than previous ones:
from subsidiaries ............................................................................................................
from associates ...............................................................................................................
from parent companies...................................................................................................
from other companies ....................................................................................................
Interest payables and financial expenses:
from subsidiaries ................................................................................................................
from associates ...................................................................................................................
from parent companies .......................................................................................................
from other companies ........................................................................................................
Exchange gains and losses .....................................................................................................
Total Financial Income and Expenses ...............................................................................
Adjustments to Financial Assets
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21,687,371
0
0
0
1,204,124
236,471
967,653
22,891,495

20,790,723
0
0
0
1,163,397
292,757
870,640
21,954,120

(4,135,625)
(10,168,655)
(1,121,990)
(4,262,231)
(2,704,601)
(818,518)
(208,462)
0
(530,650)
(804,713)
(144,760)
(587,586)
0
(72,367)
(13,362)
0
0
(140,683)
(20,647,259)
2,244,236

(3,865,578)
(9,273,167)
(1,087,232)
(4,354,828)
(2,693,677)
(877,288)
(215,187)
0
(568,676)
(656,241)
(48,171)
(581,005)
0
(27,065)
(16,193)
0
0
(149,147)
(19,402,386)
2,551,734

0
0
0
0
23,017
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
28,753
0
0
0
0
8
0
0

0
0
17,401
5,616
(13,482)
0
0
(6,337)
(7,145)
0
9,535

0
0
27,581
1,164
(53,777)
0
0
0
(53,777)
0
(25,024)

For the year ended
31 December
31 December
2011
2012
(amounts expressed in €)
Revaluation of:
equity investments..............................................................................................................
impaired financial assets other than investments ..............................................................
securities under working capital other than investments ..................................................
others ..................................................................................................................................
Impairments of:
equity investments..............................................................................................................
impaired financial assets other than investments ..............................................................
securities under working capital other than investments ..................................................
others ..................................................................................................................................
Total Adjustments ................................................................................................................
Extraordinary Income and Expenses
Extraordinary income: ..........................................................................................................
capital gains from sales ......................................................................................................
others ..................................................................................................................................
Extraordinary expenses: ........................................................................................................
capital loss from sales ........................................................................................................
taxes relating to previous years..........................................................................................
other extraordinary expenses .............................................................................................
Total Extraordinary Income and Expenses ......................................................................
Pre-Tax Income for the Year ..............................................................................................
Taxes for the year: .................................................................................................................
Current taxes ......................................................................................................................
Prepaid taxes ......................................................................................................................
Deferred taxes ....................................................................................................................
Profit (Loss) for the Year ....................................................................................................
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0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

(50,115)
0
0
0
(50,115)

384,382
37,554
346,828
(69,593)
0
(16,603)
(52,990)
314,789
2,568,560
(872,535)
(871,534)
(1,001)
0
1,696,025

12,433
0
12,433
(92,334)
0
(7,067)
(85,267)
(79,901)
2,396,694
(966,487)
(966,113)
(374)
0
1,430,207

Ecolevante S.p.A.
Balance Sheet
As at 31 December
As at 31 December
2011
2012
(amounts expressed in €)
Assets
Subscribed Capital Unpaid
Non-Current Assets
Intangible Assets
Incorporation and extension costs ..........................................................
R&D and advertising costs .....................................................................
Patents and use of intellectual property rights........................................
Concessions, licences, trademarks and similar rights ............................
Goodwill ..................................................................................................
Intangible assets in progress and payments on account .........................
Others ......................................................................................................
Total intangible assets...............................................................................
Tangible Assets
Land and buildings ..................................................................................
Plant and machinery ................................................................................
Industrial and commercial equipment ....................................................
Other assets .............................................................................................
Vehicles and construction machinery ................................................
Office machines and furniture............................................................
Tangible assets in progress and payments on account ...........................
Total tangible assets ..................................................................................
Financial Assets
Equity investments in:
subsidiaries ..........................................................................................
associates .............................................................................................
parent companies ................................................................................
other companies ..................................................................................
other companies non-entrepreneurial activities..............................
Receivables:
From subsidiaries
less than 12 months .........................................................................
more than 12 months.......................................................................
From associates - less than 12 months ...............................................
From parent companies .......................................................................
From others
less than 12 months .........................................................................
more than 12 months.......................................................................
Other securities ...................................................................................
Own shares ..........................................................................................
Total financial assets .................................................................................
Total ................................................................................................................
Current Assets
Inventories
Raw materials, supplies and consumables..............................................
Work in progress to order .......................................................................
Total inventories ........................................................................................
Trade Receivables
From customers .......................................................................................
less than 12 months .............................................................................
more than 12 months...........................................................................
Customer municipalities .........................................................................
less than 12 months .............................................................................
more than 12 months...........................................................................
From subsidiaries ....................................................................................
less than 12 months .............................................................................
more than 12 months...........................................................................
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0
0
0
3,337
0
98,985
0
102,322

0
0
0
4,159
0
21,760
0
25,919

7,711,497
2,750,399
141,400
61,524
23,288
38,236
2,620,883
13,285,703

7,845,871
3,155,898
147,298
77,082
38,695
38,387
2,205,420
13,431,569

0
0
0
620
0

0
0
0
620
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
620
13,388,645

0
0
0
0
620
13,458,108

0
0
0

0
0
0

4,669,711
4,669,711
0

7,057,364
7,057,364
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

As at 31 December
As at 31 December
2011
2012
(amounts expressed in €)
From associates .......................................................................................
less than 12 months .............................................................................
From parent companies ...........................................................................
less than 12 months .............................................................................
Tax Assets ...............................................................................................
less than 12 months .............................................................................
more than 12 months...........................................................................
Deferred tax assets ..................................................................................
less than 12 months .............................................................................
more than 12 months...........................................................................
From others .............................................................................................
less than 12 months .............................................................................
more than 12 months...........................................................................
Total Trade Receivables ...........................................................................
Financial Assets other than Non-Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Bank and post-office deposits .................................................................
Cash on hand ...........................................................................................
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents ...........................................................
Total Current Assets .................................................................................
Prepayments and accrued income
Prepayments and accrued income...........................................................
Total Prepayments and accrued income ................................................
Total Assets ....................................................................................................
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0
9,548,911
9,548,911
234,514
234,514
0
39,674
39,674
0
228,902
228,902
0
14,721,712

0
11,159,591
11,159,591
105,325
105,325
0
74,751
74,751
0
124,314
124,314
0
18,521,345

661,645
2,649
664,294
15,386,006

280,372
2,539
282,911
18,804,256

590,804
590,804
29,365,455

374,405
374,405
32,636,769

Ecolevante S.p.A.
Balance Sheet
As at 31 December As at 31 December
2012
2011
(amounts expressed in €)
Liabilities
Shareholders’ Equity
Shareholder capital...................................................................................................
Share premium reserve ............................................................................................
Revaluation reserves
Revaluation reserve pursuant to Law 72/83 ........................................................
Revaluation reserve pursuant to Law 413/91 ......................................................
Voluntary revaluation reserve..............................................................................
Legal reserve ............................................................................................................
Own share portfolio reserve .....................................................................................
Not available ........................................................................................................
Statutory reserves
Statutory ...............................................................................................................
Extraordinary .......................................................................................................
Other reserves...........................................................................................................
Reserve available for own share portfolio ...........................................................
Reserve for contributions .....................................................................................
Reserve for contributions suspended ...................................................................
Capital contribution reserve .................................................................................
Reserve to cover training losses ..........................................................................
Profit carried forward ...............................................................................................
Profit (loss) for the year ...........................................................................................
Total Shareholders’ Equity .......................................................................................

1,150,000
5,063,400

1,150,000
5,063,400

0
0
0
230,000
0
0

0
0
0
388,770
0
0

0
3,813,297
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
3,328,660
13,585,357

0
7,063,710
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
4,390,816
18,056,696

Provisions for Risks and Charges
Pension fund and similar obligations.......................................................................
Provision for deferred and other taxes .....................................................................
Other provisions .......................................................................................................
Total Provisions for Risks and Charges ..................................................................

0
561
10,448,623
10,449,184

0
1,122
9,661,200
9,662,322

Employee Leaving Indemnities ................................................................................

326,405

289,097

0
0

0
0

0
5,221
5,221
0
0
5,209
3,428,993
3,428,993
0
0
0
1,097,036
1,097,036
211,775
211,775
98,249
98,249
124,142
124,142
0
4,970,625

0
41,975
41,975
0
0
3,966
3,415,621
3,415,621
0
0
0
110
110
931,962
931,962
90,600
90,600
115,218
115,218
0
4,599,452

Payables
Bonds........................................................................................................................
Convertible bonds ....................................................................................................
Borrowings from shareholders
less than 12 months ..............................................................................................
Borrowings from banks ...........................................................................................
less than 12 months ..............................................................................................
more than 12 months............................................................................................
Borrowings from other lenders ................................................................................
Advances received ...................................................................................................
Trade payables .........................................................................................................
less than 12 months ..............................................................................................
Securities payables ...................................................................................................
Payables to subsidiaries ...........................................................................................
Payables to associates ..............................................................................................
Payables to parent companies ..................................................................................
less than 12 months ..............................................................................................
Tax liabilities............................................................................................................
less than 12 months ..............................................................................................
Payables to social security institutions ....................................................................
less than 12 months ..............................................................................................
Other payables..........................................................................................................
less than 12 months ..............................................................................................
more than 12 months............................................................................................
Total Payables ............................................................................................................

67

As at 31 December
2012
Accruals and Deferred Income
Accrued expenses.....................................................................................................
Deferred income .......................................................................................................
Total Accruals and Deferred Income ......................................................................
Total Liabilities ..........................................................................................................
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As at 31 December
2011

33,884
923
0
28,279
(amounts expressed in €)
33,884
29,202
29,365,455
32,636,769

Ecolevante S.p.A.
Income Statement
For the year ended
31 December
31 December
2012
2011
(amounts expressed in €)
Value of Production
Revenues from sales and services...................................................................................
Change in inventories, work in progress semi-finished and finished products .............
Change in work in progress ............................................................................................
Addition to assets for internal work................................................................................
Other revenues and income
utilisation of provision for landfill..............................................................................
other revenues and income .........................................................................................
Total ................................................................................................................................
Costs of Production
Costs for raw materials, supplies, consumables and goods for sale ..............................
Costs for services ............................................................................................................
Costs for leases and rentals .............................................................................................
Personnel expenses: .......................................................................................................
Wages and salaries ......................................................................................................
Social security contributions .......................................................................................
Employee leaving indemnities ....................................................................................
Other costs ...................................................................................................................
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment ...................................................................
Amortisation of intangible assets................................................................................
Depreciation of tangible assets ...................................................................................
Impairment of other non-current assets ......................................................................
Impairment of current assets and cash ........................................................................
Changes in raw materials, supplies, consumables and goods for sale .......................
Provisions for risks and liabilities...............................................................................
Other provisions ..........................................................................................................
Other operating charges ..............................................................................................
Total ................................................................................................................................
Difference between Value of Production and Costs of Production .............................
Financial Income and Expenses
Income from equity investments .................................................................................
Other financial income from receivables recognised in ..............................................
non-current assets ....................................................................................................
from subsidiaries ..................................................................................................
from other receivables ......................................................................................
from securities recognised in non-currents assets ...................................................
from securities under current assets ........................................................................
Others income not included above ..........................................................................
Bank and postal interest ...........................................................................................
receivables................................................................................................................
overdue interest ........................................................................................................
interest receivable from parent company ................................................................
Other income from subsidiaries...............................................................................
Other income............................................................................................................
Interest payables and financial expenses.....................................................................
Interest payables to parent company .......................................................................
Interest payables to bank .........................................................................................
Other financial charges ............................................................................................
Total .................................................................................................................................
Value Adjustments in Respect of Financial Assets
Revaluation of
equity investments .......................................................................................................
impaired financial assets other than investments ........................................................
securities under current assets other than investments ...............................................
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14,371,990
0
0
0
343,637
341,509
2,128
14,715,627

17,948,841
0
0
0
512,041
398,465
113,576
18,460,882

968,294
4,750,974
316,345
1,042,359
738,453
217,797
59,121
26,988
626,252
3,222
597,961
0
25,069
0
0
1,128,933
1,378,187
10,211,344
4,504,283

1,188,048
5,107,134
431,942
1,122,780
818,770
238,887
65,123
0
897,381
121,950
739,110
0
36,321
0
0
1,466,885
1,690,921
11,905,091
6,555,791

0
0
1
0
0
0
0
0
317,877
1,855
0
316,022
0
0
35,696
0
35,666
30
282,182

0
0
2
0
0
0
0
0
38,804
9,668
0
29,136
0
0
54,722
0
47,960
6,762
(15,916)

0
0
0

0
0
0

For the year ended
31 December
31 December
2011
2012
(amounts expressed in €)
Impairments of
equity investments .......................................................................................................
impaired financial assets other than investments ........................................................
securities under current assets other than investments................................................
Total .................................................................................................................................
Extraordinary Income and Expenses
Extraordinary income:
capital gains from the sale of capital goods ...............................................................
capital gains from the sales of securities .....................................................................
Others ...............................................................................................................................
Extraordinary expenses:
capital loss from the sale of securities .........................................................................
capital loss from the sale of capital goods ...................................................................
Others ...............................................................................................................................
Total .................................................................................................................................
Pre-tax income for the year ..............................................................................................
Taxes for the year
Current taxes ................................................................................................................
Deferred and prepaid taxes ..........................................................................................
Total .................................................................................................................................
Profit for the year...............................................................................................................
Profit (Loss) for the year ...................................................................................................
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0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

144,938
0
0
144,938

22,825
4,540
0
18,285

28,065
0
28,065
116,873
4,903,338

8,041
0
8,041
14,784
6,554,659

1,540,162
34,516
(1,574,678)
3,328,660
3,328,660

2,115,970
47,873
(2,163,843)
4,390,816
4,390,816

Greenambiente S.r.l.
Balance Sheet
Assets
As at 31 December
As at 31 December
2012
2011
(amounts expressed in €)
Subscribed Capital Unpaid
Non-Current Assets
Intangible Assets
Incorporation and extension costs...................................................................................
R&D and advertising costs .............................................................................................
Patents and use of intellectual property rights Concessions, licences, trademarks
and similar rights .........................................................................................................
Goodwill Intangible assets in progress and payments on account .................................
Others ..............................................................................................................................
Total Intangible Assets .................................................................................................
Tangible Assets
Land and buildings ..........................................................................................................
Plant and machinery ........................................................................................................
Industrial and commercial equipment ............................................................................
Other assets .....................................................................................................................
Vehicles and construction ...........................................................................................
Machinery office machines and furniture ...................................................................
Tangible assets in progress and payments on account ...............................................
Total Tangible Assets ....................................................................................................
Financial Assets
Equity investments in:
Subsidiaries .................................................................................................................
associates .....................................................................................................................
parent companies.........................................................................................................
other companies ..........................................................................................................
other companies non-entrepreneurial activities......................................................
Receivables:
from subsidiaries .........................................................................................................
less than 12 months .................................................................................................
more than 12 months...............................................................................................
from associates - less than 12 months ........................................................................
from parent companies ................................................................................................
from others ..................................................................................................................
less than 12 months .................................................................................................
more than 12 months...............................................................................................
Other securities................................................................................................................
Own shares ......................................................................................................................
Total Financial Assets ...................................................................................................
Total ...........................................................................................................................
Current Assets
Inventories
Raw materials, supplies and consumables......................................................................
Work in progress to order ...............................................................................................
Total Inventories ...........................................................................................................
Trade Receivables
From customers ...............................................................................................................
from customers - less than 12 months ........................................................................
from customers - more than 12 months ......................................................................
Customer municipalities - less than 12 months ..........................................................
Customer municipalities - more than 12 months........................................................
From subsidiaries
less than 12 months .....................................................................................................
more than 12 months ...................................................................................................
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0
0

0
0

15,563
720,462
51,295
787,320

48,474
539,973
67,219
655,666

328,989
383,140
28,997
271,295
263,179
8,116
75,759
1,088,180

515,373
1,108,019
24,506
496,609
484,742
11,867
75,759
2,220,266

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
1,875,500

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
2.875.932

0
0
0

0
0
0

21,597,870
21,597,870
0
0
0

20,740,781
20,740,781
0
0
0

0
0

0
0

As at 31 December
As at 31 December
2012
2011
(amounts expressed in €)
From associates
less than 12 months .....................................................................................................
From parent companies ...................................................................................................
less than 12 months .....................................................................................................
Tax assets ........................................................................................................................
Deferred tax assets ..........................................................................................................
From others
less than 12 months .....................................................................................................
more than 12 months ...................................................................................................
Total Trade Receivables ...............................................................................................
Financial Assets Other than Non-Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Bank and post-office deposits .....................................................................................
Cash on hand ...............................................................................................................
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents ...............................................................................
Total ................................................................................................................................
Prepayments and Accrued Income
Prepayments and accrued income ...................................................................................
Total Prepayments and Accrued Income ...................................................................
Total Assets ....................................................................................................................
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0
5,076,307
5,076,307
98,635
157,039
14,834
14,834
0
26,944,685
0

0
1,030,077
1,030,077
157,518
157,124
15,195
15,195
0
22,100,695
0

7,362
2,746
10,108
26,954,793

7,729
1,768
9,497
22,110,192

23,266
23,266
28,853,559

20,169
20,169
25,006,293

Greenambiente S.p.A.
Balance Sheet
Liabilities
As at 31 December
As at 31 December
2012
2011
(amounts expressed in €)
Shareholders’ Equity
Share capital ................................................................................................................
Share premium reserve ...............................................................................................
Revaluation reserves ...................................................................................................
Revaluation reserve pursuant to Law 72/83 ...........................................................
Revaluation reserve pursuant to Law 413/91 .........................................................
Voluntary revaluation reserve .................................................................................
Legal reserve ...............................................................................................................
own share portfolio reserve.........................................................................................
Not available ...........................................................................................................
Statutory reserves
Statutory ..................................................................................................................
Extraordinary...........................................................................................................
Other reserves
Reserve available for own share portfolio ..............................................................
Reserve for contributions ........................................................................................
Reserve for contributions suspended ......................................................................
Capital contribution reserve ....................................................................................
Reserve to cover training losses .............................................................................
Profit carried forward ..................................................................................................
Profit (Loss) for the Year .........................................................................................
Total Shareholders’ Equity ......................................................................................
Provisions for Risks and Charges
Provision for deferred and other taxes ........................................................................
Other provisions ..........................................................................................................
Total Provisions for Risks and Charges .................................................................
Total Employee Leaving Indemnities
Payables
Bonds ...........................................................................................................................
Convertible bonds .......................................................................................................
Borrowings from shareholders....................................................................................
less than 12 months .................................................................................................
Borrowings from banks...............................................................................................
less than 12 months .................................................................................................
more than 12 months ...............................................................................................
Borrowings from other lenders ...................................................................................
Advances received ......................................................................................................
Amounts owed to suppliers.........................................................................................
less than 12 months .................................................................................................
Securities payables ......................................................................................................
Payables to subsidiaries ..............................................................................................
Payables to associates .................................................................................................
Payables to parent companies .....................................................................................
less than 12 months .................................................................................................
Tax liabilities ...............................................................................................................
less than 12 months .................................................................................................
Payables to social security institutions .......................................................................
less than 12 months .................................................................................................
Other payables .............................................................................................................
less than 12 months .................................................................................................
more than 12 months ...............................................................................................
Total Payables............................................................................................................
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50,000
1,600,000
0
0
0
0
10,000
0
0

50,000
1,600,000
0
0
0
0
10,000
0
0

0
3,840,350

0
250,996

0
0
0
0
0
0
2,929,874
8,430,224

0
0
0
0
0
0
3,589,354
5,500,350

0
16,447,985
16,447,985
86,275

0
13,325,160
13,325,160
60,182

0
0
0
0
1,050,145
1,050,145
0
0
2,528
1,365,138
1,365,138
0
0
0
1,133,471
1,133,471
271,632
271,632
29,488
29,488
32,579
32,579
0
3,884,981

0
0
0
0
3,150,138
2,100,138
1,050,000
0
1,176
1,502,672
1,502,672
0
0
0
1,054,346
1,054,346
342,883
342,883
25,808
25,808
29,463
29,463
0
6,106,486

As at 31 December
As at 31 December
2012
2011
(amounts expressed in €)
Accruals and Deferred Income
Accrued expenses ....................................................................................................
Deferred income ......................................................................................................
Total Accruals and Deferred Income......................................................................
Total Liabilities .........................................................................................................
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4,094
0
4,094
28,853,559

14,115
0
14,115
25,006,293

Greenambiente S.r.l.
Income Statement
For the year ended
31 December
31 December
2012
2011
(amounts expressed in €)
Value of Production
Revenues from sales and services..........................................................................................
Change in inventories, work in progress, semi-finished and finished products ...................
Change in work in progress ...................................................................................................
Addition to assets for internal work.......................................................................................
Other revenues and income ....................................................................................................
utilisation of provision for landfill ....................................................................................
other revenues and income ................................................................................................
Total .......................................................................................................................................
Costs of Production
Costs for raw materials, supplies, consumables and goods for sale .....................................
Costs for services ...................................................................................................................
Outsourced services .......................................................................................................
Municipalities and provincial authorities ......................................................................
Costs for leases and rentals ....................................................................................................
Personnel expenses: ...............................................................................................................
Wages and salaries .............................................................................................................
Social security contributions .............................................................................................
Employee leaving indemnities...........................................................................................
Other costs..........................................................................................................................
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment ..........................................................................
Amortisation of intangible assets ......................................................................................
Depreciation of tangible assets ..........................................................................................
Impairment of other non-current assets .............................................................................
Impairment of current assets and cash...............................................................................
Changes in raw materials, supplies, consumables and goods for sale ..................................
Provisions for risks and liabilities..........................................................................................
Other provisions .....................................................................................................................
Other operating charges .........................................................................................................
Total .......................................................................................................................................
Difference between Value of Production and Costs of Production ................................
Financial Income and Expenses
Income from equity investments............................................................................................
Other financial income ...........................................................................................................
from receivables recognised in non-current assets............................................................
from subsidiaries ............................................................................................................
from other receivables....................................................................................................
from securities recognised in non-currents assets .............................................................
from securities under current assets ..................................................................................
Others income not included above ....................................................................................
Bank and postal interest receivables ..............................................................................
overdue interest ..............................................................................................................
interest receivable from subsidiaries .............................................................................
Other income from subsidiaries .....................................................................................
Other income ..................................................................................................................
Interest payables and financial expenses ...............................................................................
Interest payables to parent company .............................................................................
Interest payables to bank................................................................................................
Other financial charges ..................................................................................................
Total .......................................................................................................................................
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13,476,251
0
0
0
26,361
0
26,361
13,502,612

13,980,292
0
0
0
12,242
0
12,242
13,992,534

676,960
3,450,592
3,450,592
0
19,248
615,937
397,455
112,910
25,913
79,659
1,400,004
141,387
1,145,238
0
113,379
0
0
3,122,826
27,396
9,312,963
4,189,649

605,123
3,043,747
3,043,747
0
33,045
588,985
361,483
103,136
22,038
102,328
1,951,172
110,539
1,552,473
0
288,160
0
0
2,333,136
27,631
8,582,839
5,409,695

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
151,470
151,470
0
0
0
0
66,420
0
66,420
0
85,050

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
11,246
11,246
0
0
0
0
134,324
4,867
124,379
5,078
(123,078)

For the year ended
31 December
31 December
2011
2012
(amounts expressed in €)
Value Adjustments in Respect of Financial Assets
Revaluation of
equity investments .............................................................................................................
impaired financial assets other than investments ..............................................................
securities under current assets other than investments ......................................................
Impairments of
equity investments .............................................................................................................
impaired financial assets other than investments ..............................................................
securities under current assets other than investments......................................................
Total .......................................................................................................................................
Extraordinary Income and Expenses
Extraordinary income: ........................................................................................................
capital gains from the sale of capital goods .....................................................................
capital gains from the sales of securities ...........................................................................
Others .................................................................................................................................
Extraordinary expenses: ....................................................................................................
capital loss from the sale of securities ...............................................................................
capital loss from the sale of capital goods .........................................................................
Others .................................................................................................................................
Total .......................................................................................................................................
Pre-Tax Income for the year ...............................................................................................
Taxes for the year ...................................................................................................................
Current taxes ......................................................................................................................
Deferred and prepaid taxes ................................................................................................
Total .......................................................................................................................................
Profit for the year .................................................................................................................
Profit (Loss) for the year .....................................................................................................
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0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

25,608
0
0
25,608
6,695
0
0
6,695
18,913
4,293,612

92,551
0
0
92,551
16,871
0
0
16,871
75,680
5,362,297

1,363,653
85
(1,363,738)
2,929,874
2,929,874

1,822,497
(49,554)
(1,772,943)
3,589,354
3,589,354

Linea Più S.p.A.
Balance Sheet
As at 31 December
As at 31 December
2012
2011
(amounts expressed in €)
Assets
Subscribed Capital Unpaid
Non-Current Assets
Intangible Assets
Incorporation and extension costs ......................................................................
R&D and advertising costs .................................................................................
Patents and use of intellectual, property rights ..................................................
Concessions, licences, trademarks and similar rights ........................................
Goodwill .............................................................................................................
Other intangible assets ........................................................................................
Intangible assets in progress and payments on account .....................................
Total Intangible Assets ........................................................................................
Tangible Assets
Land and buildings .............................................................................................
Plant and machinery ...........................................................................................
Industrial and commercial equipment ................................................................
Other assets .........................................................................................................
Tangible asset in progress and payments on account ........................................
Total Tangible Assets ..........................................................................................
Financial Assets
Equity investments in: ........................................................................................
Subsidiaries......................................................................................................
Associates ........................................................................................................
Other companies ..............................................................................................
Receivables: .......................................................................................................
From subsidiaries ............................................................................................
From associates ...............................................................................................
From parent companies ...................................................................................
From others
Less than 12 months .....................................................................................
More than 12 months ....................................................................................
Other securities ...................................................................................................
Own shares..........................................................................................................
Total Financial Assets..........................................................................................
Total Non-Current Assets ...................................................................................
Current Assets
Inventories
Raw materials, supplies and consumables .........................................................
Work in progress and semi-finished products....................................................
Contracts in progress ..........................................................................................
Finished products and goods ..............................................................................
Payments on account ..........................................................................................
Others ..................................................................................................................
Total Inventories ..................................................................................................
Trade Receivables
From customers
Less than 12 months .....................................................................................
More than 12 months ....................................................................................
From subsidiaries
Less than 12 months .....................................................................................
More than 12 months ....................................................................................
From associates
Less than 12 months .....................................................................................
More than 12 months ....................................................................................
From parent companies
Less than 12 months .....................................................................................
More than 12 months ....................................................................................
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3,592
0
0
0
5,506,730
880,172
0
6,390,494

9,574
0
0
0
5,977,561
1,113,690
0
7,100,825

0
0
1,387
257,115
0
258,502

0
0
1,831
247,736
0
249,567

4,329,309
401,143
3,868,166
60,000
28,328
0
0
0

4,544,209
151,143
4,333,066
60,000
35,426
0
0
0

0
28,328
0
0
4,357,637
11,006,633

0
35,426
0
0
4,579,635
11,930,027

0
45,977
0
0
0
0
45,977

0
52,521
0
0
0
0
52,521

124,076,356
124,076,356
0
6,384,774
6,384,774
0
1,296,962
1,296,962
0
92,666
92,666
0

125,614,045
125,614,045
0
6,018,665
6,018,665
0
638,772
638,772
0
1,344
1,344
0

From affiliates
Less than 12 months .....................................................................................
More than 12 months ....................................................................................
Tax assets
Less than 12 months .....................................................................................
More than 12 months ....................................................................................
Deferred tax assets
Less than 12 months .....................................................................................
More than 12 months ....................................................................................
From others
Less than 12 months .....................................................................................
More than 12 months ....................................................................................
Total Trade Receivables ......................................................................................
Financial Assets other than Non-Current Assets
Interest in subsidiaries ........................................................................................
Interest in associates ...........................................................................................
Interest in parent companies ...............................................................................
Other interest ......................................................................................................
Own shares..........................................................................................................
Other securities ...................................................................................................
Total Financial Assets other than Non-Current Assets ...................................
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Bank and post-office deposits ............................................................................
Cheques...............................................................................................................
Cash on hand.......................................................................................................
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents ......................................................................
Total Current Assets............................................................................................
Prepayments and Accrued Income
Accrued income ..................................................................................................
Prepaid expenses.................................................................................................
Total Prepayments and Accrued Income ..........................................................
Total Assets ..............................................................................................................
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As at 31 December
As at 31 December
2011
2012
(amounts expressed in €)
4,150,890
3,438,455
4,150,890
3,438,455
0
0
1,079,045
14,412,075
1,079,045
14,412,075
0
0
6,450,459
3,721,424
1,279,614
45,578
5,170,845
3,675,846
11,798,490
15,398,562
11,798,490
15,398,562
0
0
155,329,642
169,243,342
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

1,176,840
0
3,760
1,180,600
156,556,219

692,539
0
21,077
713,616
170,009,479

0
216,248
216,248
167,779,100

0
137,278
137,278
182,076,784

As at 31 December
As at 31 December
2011
2012
(amounts expressed in €)
Liabilities
Shareholders’ Equity
Share Capital ........................................................................................................
Share Premium Reserves .....................................................................................
Revaluation Reserves...........................................................................................
Legal Reserve.......................................................................................................
Own Share Portfolio Reserve Statutory or Regulatory .......................................
Reserves ...............................................................................................................
Other Reserves
Spin-off reserve ................................................................................................
Merger reserve ..................................................................................................
Optional reserve ................................................................................................
Profit (Loss) Carried Forward .............................................................................
Profit (Loss) for the Year.....................................................................................
Total Shareholders’ Equity ..................................................................................
Provisions for Risks and Charges
Pension fund and similar obligations ...............................................................
Provision for deferred and other taxes .............................................................
Other provisions ...............................................................................................
Total Provisions for Risks and Charges ..........................................................
Employee Leaving Indemnities ...........................................................................
Payables
Bonds ................................................................................................................
Convertible bonds .............................................................................................
Borrowings from shareholders .........................................................................
Less than 12 months ......................................................................................
More than 12 months.....................................................................................
Borrowings from banks ....................................................................................
Less than 12 months ......................................................................................
More than 12 months.....................................................................................
Borrowings from other lenders ........................................................................
Less than 12 months ......................................................................................
More than 12 months.....................................................................................
Advances received ............................................................................................
Less than 12 months ......................................................................................
More than 12 months.....................................................................................
Amounts owed to suppliers ..............................................................................
Less than 12 months ......................................................................................
More than 12 months.....................................................................................
Securities payables ...........................................................................................
Less than 12 months ......................................................................................
More than 12 months.....................................................................................
Payables to subsidiaries ....................................................................................
Less than 12 months ......................................................................................
More than 12 months.....................................................................................
Payables to associates .......................................................................................
Less than 12 months ......................................................................................
More than 12 months.....................................................................................
Payables to affiliates .........................................................................................
Less than 12 months ......................................................................................
More than 12 months.....................................................................................
Payables to parent companies...........................................................................
Less than 12 months ......................................................................................
More than 12 months.....................................................................................
Tax liabilities ....................................................................................................
Less than 12 months ......................................................................................
More than 12 months.....................................................................................
Payables to social security institutions .............................................................
Less than 12 months ......................................................................................
More than 12 months.....................................................................................
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5,000,000
0
0
1,000,000
0
0

5,000,000
0
0
792,236
0
0

0
1,148,221
0
279,860
3,134,703
10,562,784

0
1,148,221
5,500,000
279,860
5,726,980
18,447,297

0
192,780
3,781,618
3,974,398
861,658

0
2,009
1,079,231
1,081,240
630,932

0
0
0
0
0
35,004,374
23,379,374
11,625,000
0
0
0
6,938,203
56,023
6,882,180
88,410,336
88,410,336
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
557
557
0
9,882,958
9,882,958
0
10,485,977
10,485,977
0
766,136
766,136
0
218,947
218,947
0

0
0
0
0
0
38,921,915
19,546,915
19,375,000
0
0
0
7,051,626
56,542
6,995,084
78,470,337
78,470,337
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
2,631
2,631
0
11,526,454
11,526,454
0
23,469,791
23,469,791
0
1,074,822
1,074,822
0
145,352
145,352
0

Other payables ..................................................................................................
Less than 12 months ......................................................................................
More than 12 months.....................................................................................
Total Payables ....................................................................................................
Accruals and Deferred Income
Accrued expenses .............................................................................................
Deferred income ...............................................................................................
Total Accruals and Deferred Income ..............................................................
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity ........................................................
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As at 31 December
As at 31 December
2011
2012
(amounts expressed in €)
672,772
1,251,948
672,772
1,251,948
0
0
152,380,260
161,914,876
0
0
0
167,779,100

2,439
0
2,439
182,076,784

Linea Più S.p.A.
Income Statement
For the year ended
31 December
31 December
2012
2011
(amounts expressed in €)
Value of Production
Revenues from sales and services ...................................................................................
Change in inventories, work in progress, semi-finished and finished products .............
Change in work in progress .............................................................................................
Addition to assets for internal work ................................................................................
Other revenues and income
sundry............................................................................................................................
attributable to the year ..................................................................................................
Total Value of Production ................................................................................................
Costs of Production
Costs for raw materials, supplies, consumables and goods for sale ...............................
Costs for services .............................................................................................................
Costs for leases and rentals ..............................................................................................
Personnel expenses:
Wages and salaries........................................................................................................
Social security contributions ........................................................................................
Employee leaving indemnities .....................................................................................
Pension fund and similar benefits ................................................................................
Other costs ....................................................................................................................
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment ....................................................................
Amortisation of intangible assets .................................................................................
Depreciation of tangible assets .....................................................................................
Impairment of other non-current assets........................................................................
Impairment of current assets and cash .........................................................................
Changes in raw materials, supplies, consumables and goods for sale ............................
Provisions for risks and liabilities ...................................................................................
Other provisions ...............................................................................................................
Other operating charges ...................................................................................................
Total Costs of Production .............................................................................................
Difference Between Value of Production and Costs of Production .............................
Financial Income and Expenses
Income from equity investments .....................................................................................
From subsidiaries ..........................................................................................................
From associates.............................................................................................................
From other companies ..................................................................................................
Other financial income ....................................................................................................
From receivables under non-current assets:
From subsidiaries ......................................................................................................
From associates .........................................................................................................
From parent companies .............................................................................................
From other companies ...............................................................................................
From securities under non-currents assets other than investments..............................
From securities under current assets other than investments.......................................
Others income not included above:
From subsidiaries ......................................................................................................
From associates .........................................................................................................
From parent companies .............................................................................................
From other companies ...............................................................................................
Interest payables and financial expenses: ....................................................................
From subsidiaries ......................................................................................................
From associates .........................................................................................................
From parent companies .............................................................................................
From other companies ...............................................................................................
Exchange gains and losses ...........................................................................................
Total Financial Income and Expenses .........................................................................
Value Adjustments in Respect of Financial Assets
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401,219,810
(6,544)
0
0
1,774,861
1,774,861
0
402,988,127

315,692,456
32,609
(253,467)
0
1,930,403
1,930,403
0
317,402,001

(369,138,127)
(12,403,346)
(294,202)
(4,382,203)
(2,936,391)
(818,466)
(198,409)
0
(428,937)
(6,386,917)
(1,020,349)
(76,135)
0
(5,290,433)
0
(42,500)
(2,630,238)
(249,344)
(395,526,877)
7,461,250

(283,301,199)
(13,118,779)
(248,049)
(3,393,322)
(2,254,386)
(666,830)
(160,392)
0
(311,714)
(4,702,611)
(1,035,536)
(67,075)
0
(3,600,000)
0
0
0
(258,284)
(305,022,244)
12,379,757

192,938
0
192,938
0
1,218,166

118,182
0
118,182
0
1,453,249

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

335,827
0
128,074
754,265
(2,499,200)
0
0
(257,053)
(2,242,147)
4,825
(1,083,271)

7,966
0
57,594
1,387,689
(1,586,257)
0
0
(227,788)
(1,358,469)
(5,402)
(20,228)

For the year ended
31 December
31 December
2012
2011
(amounts expressed in €)
Revaluation of
Equity investments .......................................................................................................
Impaired financial assets other than investments.........................................................
Securities under current assets other than investments ................................................
Others ............................................................................................................................
Impairments of .................................................................................................................
Equity investments .......................................................................................................
Impaired financial assets other than investments.........................................................
Securities under current assets other than investments ................................................
Others ............................................................................................................................
Total Adjustments..........................................................................................................
Extraordinary Income and Expenses
Extraordinary income
Capital gains from sales................................................................................................
Taxes relating to previous years ...................................................................................
Contingent assets/non-existent liabilities .....................................................................
Others ............................................................................................................................
Extraordinary expenses
Capital loss from sales ..................................................................................................
Taxes relating to previous years ...................................................................................
Contingent liabilities/non-existent assets .....................................................................
Other extraordinary expenses .......................................................................................
Total Extraordinary Income and Expenses ................................................................
Pre-Tax Income for the Year ...........................................................................................
Taxes for the year
Current taxes .................................................................................................................
Prepaid taxes .................................................................................................................
Deferred taxes ...............................................................................................................
Profit (Loss) for the Year .................................................................................................
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0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
(848,857)
(848,857)
0
0
0
(848,857)

366,449
0
30,061
336,388
0
(166,617)
0
(4,690)
(161,927)
0
199,832
6,577,811
(3,443,108)
(5,981,372)
2,729,035
(190,771)
3,134,703

171,864
0
28,829
143,035
0
(124,707)
0
(4,433)
(120,274)
0
47,157
11,557,829
(5,830,849)
(6,807,898)
945,102
31,947
5,726,980

DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER
GENERAL OVERVIEW OF THE LGH GROUP
Linea Group Holding S.p.A. (the “Issuer” or “LGH”) is a joint stock company (società per azioni)
incorporated under the laws of the Republic of Italy for a duration of up to 31 December 2050, which
may be extended by a shareholders’ extraordinary resolution. Originally incorporated as a limited
liability company (società a responsabilità limitata or S.r.l.), the Issuer became a società per azioni
pursuant to a resolution passed at an extraordinary shareholders’ meeting held on 23 September 2013.
The Issuer is registered at the Companies’ Register (Registro delle Imprese) of Cremona under
registration number 01389070192. Its registered office is at Viale Trento e Trieste 38, 26100
Cremona, Italy and its principal place of business is at Via dei Comizi Agrari 10, 26100 Cremona,
Italy. The telephone number of its registered office is +39 0372 6611.
LGH is the holding company of the group consisting of LGH and its consolidated subsidiaries
(collectively, the “LGH Group” or the “Group”) which is a leading provider in Italy of integrated
multi-utility public services (Source: AGICI-Accenture Observatory “Alliances and strategies in the
market of the Pan-European Utilities”, year 2012) and operates mainly in northern Italy and in
particular in the region of Lombardy with a presence in over 250 municipalities across the provinces
of Brescia, Bergamo, Cremona, Lodi and Pavia, and, to a much more limited extent in the south of
Italy in Puglia and Sicily. The sectors in which the LGH Group operates are gas (distribution and
sales), environmental services (waste management, including the collection, treatment and disposal of
general waste, services related to special waste as well as waste to energy transformation), electricity
(production, distribution and sales) and district heating (teleriscaldamento) and co-generation. The
LGH Group also provides certain other public services which include information and communication
technology (“ICT”) and telecommunications services and heating management services.
HISTORY AND DEVELOPMENT OF THE LGH GROUP
LGH was incorporated on 28 July 2006 as a result of the consolidation of the lines of business of four
public utility companies, namely, Azienda Energetica Municipale S.p.A. (“AEM Cremona”), A.S.M.
Pavia S.p.A. (“ASM Pavia”), ASTEM S.p.A. (“Astem”) and COGEME – Servizi Pubblici Locali
S.p.A. (“Cogeme”), in order to take advantage of the significant synergies and efficiencies made
possible by the joining-up of the respective businesses, with the overall aim of improving the quality
of services provided to public.
AEM Cremona, ASM Pavia, Astem and Cogeme, together with Società Cremasca Servizi S.p.A.
(“SCS“) (which joined as a shareholder in 2007) were active respectively in the following provinces:
Cremona; Pavia; Lodi and Milan; Crema, Brescia and Bergamo; and Crema and Cremona and, at the
date of this Prospectus, are the shareholders of the Issuer. Apart from ASM Pavia, they are nonoperating holding companies. For further information on LGH’s shareholders, see “– Shareholders”.
The Issuer is the holding company of the LGH Group and also provides corporate services for the rest
of the Group.
Following the Issuer’s incorporation, the LGH Group has undergone a series of transactions by which
it has (i) taken over a range of utilities businesses previously carried on by its shareholders,
(ii) reorganised the structure of the Group and (iii) made a number of external acquisitions in order to
enter into and consolidate its position certain business areas.
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The key events in the Group’s history since the incorporation of the Issuer may be summarised as
follows:
2006

Incorporation of LGH and subsequent transfer to LGH by its shareholders of the
entire share capital of AEM Gestioni S.r.l. (“AEM Gestioni”), Cogeme Gestioni
S.r.l. (“Cogeme Gestioni”), Astem Gestioni S.r.l. (“Astem Gestioni”) and a
number of other subsidiaries and corresponding capital increase by the Issuer.

2007

Following the addition of SCS as a shareholder of LGH, transfer by SCS to LGH
of the entire share capital of SCS Gestioni S.r.l. (“SCS Gestioni”), together with
the energy, waste and water cycle businesses previously carried on by SCS and
corresponding capital increase by the Issuer. The purpose of this transaction was
to increase the activities carried out by the LGH Group, through the acquisition of
the lines of business of the Issuer’s new shareholder SCS.
Incorporation of Linea Più S.p.A. (“Linea Più”), through the transfer of the lines
of business of the LGH Group relating to gas sales. The purpose of this
transaction was the rationalisation of the gas sale business with the aim of
concentrating all those activities in a single entity.
Incorporation of Linea Distribuzione S.r.l. (“Linea Distribuzione”), through the
transfer of the lines of business of the LGH Group relating to gas distribution.
The purpose of this transaction was the rationalisation of the gas distribution
business with the aim of concentrating all those activities in a single entity.
Transfer to Linea Ambiente S.r.l. (“Linea Ambiente”), wholly owned by Cogeme,
of the waste management business unit of Cogeme Gestioni, through a spin-off of
that business from Cogeme Gestioni.

2008

Acquisition by Linea Distribuzione of the gas distribution division of Padania
Acque S.p.A. (a company outside the Group). The purpose of this transaction was
to achieve growth in the gas distribution.
Acquistion by Linea Più of Padania Trading S.r.l. (“Padania Trading”), a
company which provides gas sale services in the province of Cremona. The
purpose of this transaction was to achieve growth in the gas sales business
through an acquisition outside the Group.
Transfer to the Issuer, through a spin-off from Cogeme Gestioni, of a 100 per cent.
shareholding in Linea Ambiente, a 100 per cent. shareholding in Linea Energia
S.p.A. (“Linea Energia”), a 51 per cent. shareholding in MF Waste S.r.l. (“MF
Waste”) and a 100 per cent. shareholding in Cogeme Informatica S.r.l. (now
known as Linea Com S.r.l. (“Linea Com”). The purpose of this transaction was
to reorganise and simplify the Group structure.

2009

Transfer to LGH, through a spin-off from AEM Gestioni, of a 46.77 per cent.
shareholding in Blugas S.p.A. (“Blugas”). The purpose of this transaction was
the reorganisation of the Group structure.
Transfer of the gas business division from SCS Gestioni to Linea Distribuzione.
The purpose of this transaction was the rationalisation of the gas distribution
business with the aim of concentrating all activities in a single entity.
Merger by incorporation of Padania Trading into Linea Più. The purpose of this
transaction was the reorganisation of the Group structure.
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Acquisition by Linea Più of the corporate division for gas sales of Solea S.r.l. The
purpose of this transaction was to achieve growth in the gas sales business
through an acquisition outside the Group.
Acquisition by LGH of a 40 per cent. shareholding in SECA S.p.A. (“SECA”), a
company involved in the management of an oil biomass plant. The purpose of
this transaction was to achieve growth in the electricity production business
through an acquisition outside the Group.
2010

Transfer to LGH by AEM Cremona, Cogeme and Astem, shareholders of the
Issuer, of assets, networks, plants and an 80 per cent. shareholding in
Greenambiente S.r.l. (“Greenambiente”) and an 80 per cent. shareholding in Aem
Com S.r.l. (“AEM Com”) and corresponding capital increase by the Issuer. The
purpose of this transaction was a rationalisation the Group structure.
Incorporation of Linea Com through the merger between Cogeme Informatica
S.r.l. and Pavia Network S.p.A., a company involved in the ICT business. The
purpose of this transaction was the reorganisation and the simplification of the
Group structure.

2011

Transfer to LGH by its shareholder ASM Pavia of its gas distribution network and
corresponding capital increase by the Issuer.
Acquisition by LGH of an 85 per cent. shareholding in Ecolevante S.p.A.
(“Ecolevante”), operating in the waste disposal business, from two private
individuals. The purpose of this transaction was to archive growth in the waste
disposal business through an acquisition outside the Group.

2012

Discontinuance of the Group’s integrated water services business, through the sale
by SCS Gestioni and AEM Gestioni to Padania Acque Gestione S.p.A. (“Padania
Acque Gestione”). The purpose of this transaction was the reorganisation of the
Group structure, by transferring an entire business area.
Sale by Astem Gestioni, AEM Gestioni and Cogeme Gestioni to Linea Più of their
respective front office staff (i.e. employees dealing directly with customers). The
purpose of this transaction was the reorganisation and the simplification of the
Group structure, by concentrating in Linea Più all the activities relating to the gas
sales staff.

2013

Transfer by LGH to Linea Distribuzione of gas network assets and corresponding
capital increase (completed on 1 July 2013) by Linea Distribuzione. The purpose
of this transaction was a rationalisation of the Group structure.
Transformation of LGH from a società a responsabilità limitata to a società per
azioni.
Merger by incorporation of Cogeme Gestioni into SCS Gestioni, which changed
its name to Linea Getioni S.r.l. (“Linea Gestioni”). Completed on 1 November
2013, the purpose of the transaction was to rationalise the Group structure.

For further information on the activities carried out by LGH’s subsidiaries, see “– Group Structure”
and “- Subsidiaries and Associated Companies”.
Seven years after its incorporation, the LGH Group has reached a size that makes it comparable with
the major domestic operators in its business field and able to play an important role in the market for
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public services and utilities (Source: AGICI-Accenture Observatory “Alliances and strategies in the
market of the Pan-European Utilities”, 2012). See “– Competitive Position”.
GROUP STRUCTURE
The Issuer is the holding company of the Group and provides corporate services for the Group, while
the Group’s operational activities are carried out through the subsidiaries.
The chart below illustrates the holding structure of LHG’s shareholders, each of which is wholly
owned by municipalities.
Municipality of
Cremona
100%

Municipalities
of area BS/BG
100%

Municipalities
of Pavia area
100%

Municipalities
of Lodi area
100%

Municipalities
of Crema area
100%

AEM Cremona

Cogeme

ASM Pavia

ASTEM

SCS

30.915%

30.915%

15.902%

13.221%

9.047%

LGH

The chart below shows the organisational structure of the LGH Group, including the Issuer’s principal
subsidiaries as at the date of this Prospectus.
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The Group’s current structure involves two broad categories of directly-owned subsidiaries, as
described below.
1)

2)

Subsidiaries in charge of waste collection, district heating, electricity distribution, operation
of public lighting and other activities, in a specific geographical area (Società Operative
Territoriali or “SOTs”). The Issuer’s SOTs are:
-

AEM Gestioni: a multi-utility company operating in Cremona, active in
environmental hygiene services (collection and disposal of waste, street cleaning),
district heating and electricity distribution and sales;

-

Astem Gestioni: a multi-utility company operating in Lodi and surrounding areas,
active in environmental hygiene services (collection of waste, street cleaning and
management of public green areas), district heating and other activities such as tax
assessment and collection on behalf of the Municipality of Lodi; and

-

Linea Gestioni: a company mainly involved in environmental services, providing
services to several municipalities in the provinces of Brescia, Bergamo, Crema and
the surrounding area.

Subsidiaries operating in a specific business area (Società Operative di Business or “SOBs”)
which, in some cases, are also intermediate holding companies within the Group. The
Issuer’s SOBs are:
-

Linea Ambiente: a company involved in (i) management of plants for waste disposal
and treatment; (ii) integrated management of waste flows for the entire LGH Group;
(iii) design and development of waste disposal plants; (iv) technical-environmental
consulting for municipalities;

-

Linea Distribuzione: a company involved in the distribution of methane gas to
residents and businesses in 99 municipalities, mainly in the provinces of Bergamo,
Brescia, Cremona, Lodi and Pavia;

-

Linea Energia: an engineering company specialising in energy activities (in
particular, hydropower, biogas, photovoltaic and biomass), including design,
development and management of energy production plants and management of
engineering processes for the benefit of the Group; and

-

Linea Più: a company involved in gas and electricity sales (approximately
500 million cubic metres of gas and 540 GWh of electricity), customer management,
energy trading and the design, sales, installation and maintenance of photovoltaic
plants.

The Issuer depends on revenues and income generated by its operating subsidiaries.
By reference to the Issuer’s 2012 year-end consolidated financial statements, the following
subsidiaries of the Issuer were “Material Subsidiaries” as of 31 December 2012 for the purposes of
the Terms and Conditions of the Notes: AEM Gestioni, Ecolevante and Linea Più (which are
Guarantors) and Linea Distribuzione, Linea Energia and Lomellina Energia S.p.A. (“Lomellina
Energia”).
Pursuant to its current strategic plan, LGH’s intention is to re-organise the Group, in order to carry out
a transition from the current model of SOTs and SOBs, transferring businesses from SOTs to SOBs
and reorganising its waste collection and district heating businesses under newly incorporated SOBs.
For further details, see “- Strategy”.
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For further information on the Issuer’s principal subsidiaries, see “- Subsidiaries and Associated
Companies”.
BUSINESS OF THE LGH GROUP
Overview
The businesses of the LGH Group include both fully regulated services managed under “licensed
concessionary regimes”, namely gas distribution, general waste collection and electricity distribution
(collectively, “Regulated Activities”) and businesses managed under “free competition” regimes,
namely gas sales, general and special waste treatment and disposal, waste to energy, electricity
production and sales, district heating (teleriscaldamento) and co-generation, heating management
services and ICT services (collectively, “Liberalised Activities”).
The EBITDA generated by Regulated Activities for the year ended 31 December 2012 and for the six
months ended 30 June 2013 accounted for over 30 per cent of the total EBITDA generated by the
Group.
The LGH Group operates in five main business areas:
●

Gas distribution and sales, i.e. the distribution and sale of natural gas;

●

Environmental services, i.e. (i) services related to solid general waste, including the
collection, treatment and disposal of general waste, (ii) services related to special waste,
primarily the treatment and disposal of hazardous and non-hazardous special waste, and
(iii) waste to energy transformation;

●

Electricity production, distribution and sales, i.e. the production (through renewable and
innovative sources and combined cycle), distribution and sale of electricity;

●

District heating and co-generation, i.e. the production and sale of district heating and the
production of heat at the power plants combined with that of electricity; and

●

Other services, mainly heating management services and ICT and telecommunications
services.

The LGH Group transferred its integrated water services business area to Padania Acque Gestione on
1 December 2012.
Key Concessions
The following is a summary of the LGH Group’s key concessions, through which it carries out its
Regulated Activities:
●

General waste collection: The general waste collection activities of the LGH Group are
carried out in 133 municipalities, with a total of 649,700 inhabitants served. The main five
concessions are:
-

Municipality of Cremona (72,300 inhabitants served), expiring in 2029;

-

Seven municipalities in the Rovato area (58,700 inhabitants served), expiring in 2023;

-

Municipality of Lodi (43,600 inhabitants served), expiring in 2030;

-

Municipality of Crema (34,400 inhabitants served), expiring in 2015; and

-

Municipality of Palazzolo (19,600 inhabitants served), expiring in 2024.
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●

●

Gas distribution: The gas distribution activities of the LGH Group operate in 99
municipalities, with a total of 269,200 delivery points and 3,200 kilometres of network. This
business is conducted pursuant to concessions originally granted for a duration of 10 to
30 years (in some instances even longer), depending on the original agreements entered into
with each municipality. These arrangements have been modified, however, by Legislative
Decree No.164 of 23 May 2000 (the so called “Letta Decree”), implementing Directive
98/30/EC, as amended, which provides for a transition period during which the existing
operators continue providing services under the original concessions until the selection of
new concessionaires by means of public tender. The main five concessions are:
-

Municipality of Pavia (43,900 delivery points; 293 kilometres of network);

-

Municipality of Cremona (38,400 delivery points; 277 kilometres of network);

-

Municipality of Lodi (23,000 delivery points; 163 kilometres of network);

-

Municipality of Crema (17,900 delivery points; 163 kilometres of network); and

-

Municipality of Rovato (7,700 delivery points; 100 kilometres of network).

Electricity distribution: The LGH Group concessions for this business are due to expire in
2030. The electricity distribution activities of the LGH Group are carried out in the
Municipality of Cremona, with a total of 46,000 delivery points and 220 kilometres of
network).

Operational Overview and Financial Data by Business Area
The table below shows selected line items from the results of operations of the Group for the years
ended 31 December 2012 and 2011.
31 December
31 December
2011
2012
(data in thousands of €)
Total net revenues ................................................................................................
Total expenses .......................................................................................................
Gross operating margin (EBITDA) (*) ...................................................................
Amortisation, depreciation and write-down ..........................................................
Operating result (EBIT) (**)....................................................................................
________________________
(*)
(**)

655,759
(555,976)
99,783
(60,712)
39,071

568,308
(460,945)
108,243
(59,204)
49,039

EBITDA is the operating result before charging amortisation, depreciation and impairment of tangible fixed assets,
intangible fixed assets and goodwill.
EBIT is the operating result before financial income and charges and taxes.

The table below shows the selected line items from the results of operations of the Group for the six
months ended 30 June 2013 and 2012.
1 January to
1 January to
30 June 2013
30 June 2012
(data in thousands of €)
Total net revenues ...............................................................................................
Total expenses ......................................................................................................
Gross operating margin (EBITDA) ......................................................................
Amortisation, depreciation and write-down .........................................................
Operating result (EBIT) ........................................................................................

372,712
(322,740)
49,972
(28,841)
21,130

338,374
(286,943)
51,432
(30,539)
20,892

The table on the following page shows a breakdown by business area of the results of operations of
the Group for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011, and for the six month ended 30 June 2013
and
2012.
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(data in
thousands of €)

Gas

Gas

Environmental

Electricity

Electricity

Electricity

District

Integrated

Other

Distribution

Sales

Services

Production

Distribution

Sales

Heating and co-

Water

Services

generation

Revenues
- of which
intersector

Total Group

Services

30

31

30

31

30

31

30

31

30

31

30

31

30

31

30

31

30

31

30

31

30

31

30

31

June

Dec

June

Dec

June

Dec

June

Dec

June

Dec

June

Dec

June

Dec

June

Dec

June

Dec

June

Dec

June

Dec

June

Dec

June

Dec

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012 2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

22,313

50,978 184,639 273,225

17,711

31,957

9,061 19,500 73,961 138,863 16,527 22,864 106 17,687 13,035

25,582

12,811

35,179 (54,012) (97,867) (17,945) (55,315)

(13,122) (25,365)

94,507 193,105

(8,073) (13,341) (14,486) (26,535) (9,150) (13,248) (1,230) (2,000) (1,701)

(4,411) (3,262) (5,580)

16,515

22,655

23,943

49,178

6,169

11,253

4,002

7,948

3,012

4,062

4,233

4,170

EBITDA

48.9

40.8

8.9

8.3

25.3

25.5

34.8

35.2

44.2

40.8

4.1

2.9

25.6

18.2

0.0

(11.0)

(3,703)

(6,017)

(579)

(7,443) (2,216) (4,540) (2,279)

(1,981)

(645) (1,457)

0.0

7,211

14,797

15,936

15,967

9,776

17,290

3,076

3,811

1,786

3,408

732

2,082

3,588

2,713

0.0 (2,327)

32.3

29.0

8.6

5.8

10.3

9.0

17.4

11.9

19.7

17.5

1.0

1.5

21.7

11.9

(6,688) (14,166) (31,889) (3,092)

2013

2012

372,712

655,759

49,972

99,783

13.4

15.2

0.0 (845.2) (682.1) (1,754.6) (2,305.3) (4686.1) 54012.3 97867.3

20,814

EBIT

IAS Effects

31

10,914

EBIT margin
(%)
Financial
management
Shareholdings
income and
correction of
financial assets
value
EBT

Eliminations

30

EBITDA

margin (%)
Amortisation,
depreciation
and provisions

Corporate

0.0 (1,948)

0.0

3,404

2,410

26.1

9.0

-158.3

(379) (1,048)

(3,284)

(3,919)

(13.2)

2,356

(874)

18.1

(3.42)

(20,277) (17,132)

0.0

0.0

-48.7

0.0

0.0

(5,086)

0.0

0.0

2,806

8,051

(28,841)

(60,712)

(24,196) (22,218)

0.0

0.0

863

4,422

21,130

39,071

0.0

0.0

5.7

6.0

(188.9)

(63.2)

(1,943)

(3,629)

(10,795.3) (23,973.5)

Income taxes

(51.1)

(3,820.1)

10,283.9

11,276.9

(7,352) (10,366.1)

Net income

2,931.8
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910.8

Gas distribution and sales
Gas distribution and sales services are divided into two areas of activity:
●

Gas distribution, i.e. the management of the plants (with particular reference to the main steps
of the gas distribution process), of the pipes and of the distribution network; and

●

Gas sales, i.e. the sale of natural gas for civil and industrial use.

The following companies within the LGH Group operate in the gas distribution and sales business
area: Linea Distribuzione and Linea Più.
Gas distribution
Linea Distribuzione carries on the Group’s natural gas distribution and metering business, which is
classified as a public service regulated by the Italian Authority for Electricity and Gas (Autorità per
l’Energia Elettrica ed il Gas or “AEEG”). As required under the provisions of Legislative Decree
No. 164 of 23 May 2000, the Group’s gas distribution and sales businesses are carried on by separate
legal entities (Linea Distribuzione and Linea Più, respectively).
The table below shows selected line items from the results of operations of the Group’s gas
distribution business for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011.

Revenues .........................................................................................
Expenses ..........................................................................................
EBITDA ..........................................................................................
Amortisation, depreciation and provisions .....................................
EBIT ................................................................................................

2012
2011
Variation %
Gas distribution (data in thousands of €)
50,978
47,323
7.7
30,164
29,508
2.2
20,814
17,815
16.8
6,017
4,958
21.4
14,797
12,857
15.1

The main steps of the gas distribution process can be summarised as follows:
●

heating of incoming gas from the methane pipeline to the high pressure cabin by means of a
heat exchanger, which is necessary to avoid freezing of machinery and to allow correct gas
meter readings;

●

first pressure reduction;

●

gas measurement;

●

introduction of odorant to give warning of potential gas leaks;

●

input to the network of medium pressurised gas;

●

arrival in the low pressure cabin;

●

further gas pressure reduction to make it compatible with domestic premises;

●

entry into the low-pressure gas network; and

●

measurement at the final customer’s premises.

As at 31 December 2012, Linea Distribuzione carried out its activity in 76 municipalities in the
provinces of Bergamo, Brescia, Cremona, Lodi, Padova, Parma, Pavia and Vicenza. Also, in 2012
Linea Distribuzione had system and distribution networks under its management amounting to a total
of 2,911 km in length, 66 high pressure cabins and 1,176 low pressure cabins. In 2012, Linea
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Distribuzione distributed more than 675 million cubic metres of natural gas to more than 269,000
users (delivery points).
The table below shows the main information and data relating to the performance of the gas
distribution services for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011.

Year
2012 ...................
2011 ...................

Residents
served (No.)

Municipaliti
es served
(No.)

Total
volume of
gas
transported
(m3)

254,183
253,513

76
76

674,630,000
654,973,686

Length of
distribution
network
(Km)
2,911
2,887

Detected
network
leak
repaired
(No.)
1,718
1,415

High
pressure
cabins (No.)

Low
pressure
cabins (No.)

66
64

1,176
1,118

Network
inspected
(%)
63
61

Gas sales
Linea Più carries on the Group’s natural gas sales business. In addition to maintaining its existing
customers, the aims of Linea Più include the expansion of sales through the development of strategic
alliances with neighbouring operators, i.e. the entering into of commercial arrangements with
operators of small dimensions in the gas sales business located in the same area as Linea Più. Linea
Più is accredited by the AEEG as an ESCO (Energy Service Company), i.e. a company able to offer
the following services:
●

analysis of energy consumption;

●

evaluation, funding and implementation of plans to increase energy efficiency;

●

plant management and maintenance; and

●

risk management.

The table below shows selected line items from the results of operations of the Group’s gas sales
business for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011.

Revenues ...............................................................................................
Expenses ................................................................................................
EBITDA ................................................................................................
Amortisation, depreciation and provisions ...........................................
EBIT ......................................................................................................

2011
Variation %
2012
Gas sales (data in thousands of €)
273,225
214,563
27.3
250,570
194,101
29.1
22,655
20,462
10.7
6,688
2,789
139.8
15,967
17,673
(9.7)

The table below shows information on the sales of natural gas by LGH Group for the years ended
31 December 2012 and 2011.
Parameter
Total gas sold ..........................................................
Total gas clients ......................................................

Units
Million of m3
-

2012
494
212,757

2011
409
215,660

Environmental services
The LGH Group operates in the waste sector, which consists of waste collection and transport from
municipalities and private clients, street sweeping, the management of facilities for the disposal,
treatment and transformation of waste into energy and the management of ecological platforms and
municipal collection points. The following companies within the LGH Group operate in the
environmental services business area: AEM Gestioni, Astem Gestioni, Ecolevante, Greenambiente,
Linea Ambiente, Linea Gestioni and Lomellina Energia.
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The table below shows selected line items from the results of operations of the Group’s environmental
services business area for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011.

Revenues ..............................................................................................
Costs .....................................................................................................
EBITDA ...............................................................................................
Amortisation, depreciation and provisions ..........................................
EBIT .....................................................................................................

2011
Variation %
2012
Environmental services (data in thousands of €)
193,105
210,740
(8.4)
143,926
148,687
(3.2)
49,179
62,053
(20.7)
31,889
31,891
0.0
17,290
30,162
(42.7)

The €12,872 thousand decline in cumulative EBIT in 2012, as compared to 2011, can be broken down
as follows:
1)

€4,337 thousand for Lomellina Energia, the result of a €3.5 million drop in turnover and a
€1 million increase in costs;

2)

€2,061 thousand for Ecolevante (which operates the landfill in Grottaglie), the result of a
€3.7 million drop in turnover, following the reduction in the amount of waste received (the
effect of the ongoing national crisis);

3)

€3,271 thousand due to a reduction in the area served and the application of new economic
conditions by the contract-awarding municipalities, which led to a decline in revenues and a
more than proportional drop in operating costs;

4)

€1,532 thousand for Linea Ambiente, caused by saturation of the Rovato landfill in 2011, the
effect of which was felt throughout 2012, and a drop in waste brokerage sales volumes at
Lomellina Energia; and

5)

€1,294 thousand for Greenambiente due mainly to a 4 per cent. drop in amounts of waste
disposed of compared to 2011. This was the result of the unfavourable economic situation,
which led to a reduction in consumption and tourism and production activities.

Waste can be broadly divided into two macro-areas, depending on its origin: general waste (i.e.
house-hold waste) and special waste, i.e. waste from manufacturing, commercial and services
activities, comprising both non-hazardous and hazardous waste. Special waste activities are carried
out using either dedicated or multi-use plants.
The table below shows the LGH Group’ plants for disposal, waste treatment and waste-to-energy
managed by the various companies of the Group, as at the date of this Prospectus.
Company
Linea Ambiente

Type of Plant
Controlled landfill(*)
Controlled landfill
Plant for waste treatment and recovery

Greenambiente
AEM Gestioni
Lomellina Energia
Ecolevante
Linea Gestioni
____________
(*)

Controlled landfill
Controlled landfill
Waste-to-energy
Waste-to-energy
Controlled landfill
Plant for chemical-physical disposal

Location
Rovato (BS)
Provaglio d’Iseo (BS)
Castrezzato – Trenzano (BS)
Fombio (LO)
Coccaglio (BS)
Augusta (SR)
Malagnino (CR)
Cremona (CR)
Parona (PV)
Grottaglie (TA)
Crema (CR)

A controlled landfill is a site for the disposal of waste materials under the ground.
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General waste
The LGH Group ranks as the fifth national player for total waste tonnage managed and the second
operator in Lombardy (Source: Istituto Superiore per la Protezione e la Ricerca Ambientale
(“Ispra”), Rapporto Rifiuti Urbani, 2013).
The LGH Group’s activities in the general waste sector can be summarised as follows:
●

Collection: general waste collection, transport, road sweeping and management of ecological
areas, collection platform and centres for a total of 133 municipalities served and 649,685
inhabitants in 2012. The waste collected in 2012 amounted to 288,547 tons;

●

Treatment: an intermediate phase, after which waste is ready to be disposed of (in incinerators
or landfills) or recycled, the flow of waste is collected by the LGH Group, together with
waste contributed by its partners and is sent to different types of plants depending on its
origin or composition; and

●

Disposal: the final phase, which includes the intermediation or direct disposal, either in
facilities owned by the Group or in third-party plants; in 2012, the amount of waste disposed
and intermediated was equal to approximately 1.0 million tons, of which approximately
690,000 tons were disposed of in facilities owned by the Group (of which 350,000 tons went
to landfills) and more than 300,000 tons in third-party plants.

The table below provides details of the municipalities and residents served by the LGH Group general
waste services, as of 31 December 2012.
Territory
Cremona and neighbouring towns .......................................................................
Lodi and Fombio ..................................................................................................
Rovato and neighbouring towns ..........................................................................
Crema and and neighbouring towns ....................................................................

No. of
municipalities
9
30
44
50
133

Total .....................................................................................................................

No. of residents
84,000
150,079
249,625
165,981
649,685

The table below illustrates the amount of general waste collected in each collection plant for the years
ended 31 December 2012 and 2011.
Territory
Cremona and neighbouring towns .........
Lodi and Fombio ....................................
Rovato and neighbouring towns ............
Crema and neighbouring towns .............

Criterion
Total waste collected per area
(in tonnes)

Total .......................................................

Unit
T
T
T
T
T

2012
43,432
72,718
103,193
69,204
288,547

2011
45,264
73,431
123,519
71,513
313,727

LGH Group also carries out collection services for recyclable waste in all the municipalities that are
served by the general waste services. The collection services for recyclable waste are performed in
three different ways: (i) collection from public collection points and ecological platforms;
(ii) collection from bins and containers placed on the territory of the local communities; and
(iii) “door to door” collection.
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The table below illustrates the average level of the collection services for recyclable waste in each
municipality covered by the service, as a percentage of the total waste collected, for the years ended
31 December 2012 and 2011.

Territory
Cremona .........................................................................................
Cremona neighbouring towns ........................................................
Lodi and neighbouring towns ........................................................
Fombio and neighbouring towns ...................................................
Crema and neighbouring towns .....................................................
Rovato and neighbouring towns ....................................................

Separate Collection
2012, as a percentage of
the total waste collected
48%
57%
60%
61%
73%
53%

Separate Collection
2011, as a percentage of
the total waste collected
49%
56%
54%
62%
73%
50%

Special waste
The LGH Group’s activities in the special waste sector are principally aimed at the treatment and
disposal of hazardous and non-hazardous special waste. Special waste is a deregulated business,
which involves few major national players and a large number of minor players (i.e. single plant
players).
Waste to energy
The waste to energy plants produce electricity and/or heat using municipal solid waste and/or
hazardous waste as fuel. This activity offers the double advantage of eliminating waste and
simultaneously generating energy through the heat produced by their combustion.
The LGH Group ranks as the third national operator for waste incinerated in waste to energy plants
(WTE) (Source: Ispra, Rapporto Rifiuti Urbani, 2013).
The tables below show the results obtained in the two LGH Group’s waste to energy plants in Parona
and Cremona for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011.
Parona
Parameter
Total general waste..................................................................
Total Special Waste .................................................................
Total refuse – derived fuel ......................................................
Total waste disposed..............................................................
Gross production of electricity ...............................................
Cremona
Parameter
Total general waste.................................................................
Total Special Waste ................................................................
Total waste disposed.............................................................
Gross production of electricity ...........................................

Unit
t
t
t
t
MWh

Unit
t
t
t
MWh

2012
111,985
62,934
94,204
269,123
231,469

2011
128,893
71,565
86,242
286,070
254,383

2012
65,445
1,153
66,598
22,672

2011
64,229
1,018
65,247
19,952

Electricity production, distribution and sales
Electricity production, distribution and sales services are divided into three areas of activity:
●

Electricity production;

●

Electricity distribution, concerning the operation of the electricity network; and

●

Electricity sales, which comprises either the sale of electricity or the sale of plants for the
production of electricity from renewable sources.
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Electricity production
Linea Energia is the company within the LGH Group carrying on the production of electricity,
primarily through renewable sources. Linea Energia has a production capacity of approximately 250
GWh/year (of which over 90 per cent. is generated from renewable sources).
As of
31 December 2012, Linea Energia operates through the use of its own generating plants, amounting to
a power capacity of 50 MW, and through the management of third-party plants, amounting to a power
capacity of 20 MW.
The table below shows selected line items from the results of operations of the Group’s electricity
production business for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011.

Revenues ........................................................................................
Expenses .........................................................................................
EBITDA .........................................................................................
Amortisation, depreciation and provisions ....................................
EBIT ...............................................................................................

2011
Variation %
2012
Electricity production (data in thousands of €)
31,957
32,488
(1.6)
20,703
17,528
18.1
11,254
14,960
(24.8)
7,443
6,865
8.4
3,811
8,095
(52.9)

The decrease in cumulative EBIT in 2012, as compared to 2011, was due mainly to the following:
1)

a €2,988 thousand decline for Linea Energia, due partly to a reduction in revenues as the
result of low rainfall in 2012 and hence a reduction in the production of electricity by
hydroelectric power stations, and to greater allocations to the biogas contingencies provisions,
relating to the awarding of green certificates to the plants in Augusta, Provaglio and Rovato;

2)

a €562 thousand decline for AEM Gestioni, due to a halt in the production of electricity by
the thermoelectric power plant during the first few months of 2012, caused by technical
problems;

3)

reduced production by Astem Gestioni’s cogeneration plant.

Below is a short description of plants using renewable energy sources.
●

Hydroelectric plants: Hydroelectric plants convert the hydraulic energy of a watercourse,
natural or artificial, into electrical energy. Normally, they are built near rivers with an
abundant flow of water, in order to convey it in pipes at high speed and under high pressure,
thereby generating electricity.

●

Plants for the recovery of landfill gas: These plants exploit biogas (i.e. a mixture of various
types of gas, mainly methane) obtained by the fermentation of the bacteria present in organic
waste in landfills. The biogas is considered a green energy because it comes from renewable
sources, it forms spontaneously and is collected and used for the production of electricity to
avoid its dissemination in the environment.

●

Photovoltaic park: The photovoltaic park, located in Cremona, is installed on the roofs of the
AEM Cremona service centre. It started to operate in December 2008 and, at the date of this
Prospectus, has about 3,000 panels with high efficiency made with polycrystalline silicon
modules and is arranged in an area of 10 thousand square metres.

●

Woody biomass plant: The woody biomass plant converts heat generated by the combustion
of the woody material into electrical energy. The plant is located in the municipalities of
Cremona. The plant is equipped with advanced systems of dust suppression and is constantly
monitored to ensure full compliance with the requirements of national and regional
regulations.
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The table below shows the data of gross electricity produced by Linea Energia as of
31 December 2012 and 2011.
Plants
Gross electricity produced by hydroelectric power stations ..........................
Gross electricity produced by plants for the recovery of landfill gas ............
Gross electricity produced by photovoltaic park ............................................
Gross electricity produced by woody biomass plants ....................................
Gross electricity produced by renewable sources .....................................

Units
MWh
MWh
MWh
MWh
MWh

2012
127,422
30,800
561
156
158,939

2011
139,682
32,030
583
172,295

Electricity distribution
The Group’s distribution network consists of a primary high-voltage distribution network, which
connects receiving stations to primary network stations, and a secondary medium- and low-voltage
network, which connects primary network stations to secondary network stations and individual
customers. The LGH Group distributes electricity for the entire city of Cremona through its
subsidiary AEM Gestioni, part of which it produces itself. As of 31 December 2012, there were
approximately 300 cabins transforming electricity from 15,000 to 380/220 volts and 1,000 lines of
low voltage (380/220 volts) serving more than 40,000 customers. The network consists of 18
medium-voltage lines with a length of approximately 130 kilometres of overhead wire. The
management of the medium and low voltage electricity network allows for the distribution of
electricity to all retail customers in the Municipality of Cremona.
The table below shows the main data related to electricity distribution as of 31 December 2012 and
2011.

Low and medium voltage....................................................................................................

2012
2011
Electricity distributed (MWh)
322,112
328,617

High voltage ........................................................................................................................
Medium voltage ..................................................................................................................
Low voltage .........................................................................................................................
Total ....................................................................................................................................

2012
2011
Total length of the network (km)
20.72
20.72
271.85
268.16
682.87
677.24
975.44
966.12

The table below shows selected line items from the results of operations of the Group’s electricity
distribution business for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011.

Revenues ..........................................................................................
Expenses ...........................................................................................
EBITDA ...........................................................................................
Amortisation, depreciation and provisions ......................................
EBIT .................................................................................................

2011
Variation %
2012
Electricity distribution (data in thousands of €)
19,499
16,776
16.2
11,551
10,136
14.0
7,948
6,640
19.7
4,540
3,729
21.8
3,408
2,911
17.1

Electricity sales
The LGH Group operates in the sale of electricity and the sale and installation of plants for the
production of electricity from renewable sources through its subsidiary Linea Più.
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The table below shows selected line items from the results of operations of the Group’s electricity
sales business for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011.

Revenues ...........................................................................................
Expenses ............................................................................................
EBITDA ............................................................................................
Amortisation, depreciation and provisions .......................................
EBIT ..................................................................................................

2011
Variation %
2012
Electricity sales (data in thousands of €)
138,863
109,099
27.3
134,801
103,607
30.1
4,062
5,492
(26.0)
1,980
1,007
96.6
2,082
4,485
(53.6)

The decline in cumulative EBIT in 2012, as compared to 2011, was principally due to a considerable
increase in the cost of raw materials used by Linea Più. This increase can be attributed in part to the
electricity brokerage effects, which were then offset by trading revenues. The increase in
amortisation, depreciation and provisions is mainly due to allocations to the provision for
contingencies to cover mark-to-market (derivatives) and to the provision for bad debts.
Linea Più benefits from a strong local presence and large size, both of which are intended to offer a
fair price/quality ratio to customers and offer the possibility of competing in a liberalised market. In
2012, Linea Più served approximately 230,000 customers.
The table below shows the main data on sales of electricity as of 31 December 2012 and 2011.
Parameter
Total electricity sold ..........................................................................
Total electricity clients ......................................................................

Units
MWh
—

2012
593,680
52,806

2011
539,940
48,612

District heating and co-generation
District heating is a service involving the sale of heated water or steam to be used for customer home
heating and domestic hot water needs. It is an alternative system to traditional boilers, which makes it
possible to concentrate the production of heat in few centralised installations that are more efficient
and better controlled than home boilers. From these centralised installations, the heat is distributed
through a network of isolated pipelines to the customers’ houses in the form of hot water. The heat
then fuels the domestic heating system using non-polluting heat exchangers. District heating provides
a solution to air pollution problems through the replacement of home boilers (frequently fuelled with
gas-oil or methane) and allows heat generation from high-efficiency production methods, renewable
energy or energy recovered from other production processes. In order to produce the necessary heat,
the power plants can be operated by various fuels (i.e. natural gas, fuel oil, coal, biomass or waste).
Moreover, the production of heat at the power plants can also be combined with that of electricity (a
process known as co-generation).
The following companies within the LGH Group operate in the district heating and co-generation
business area: AEM Gestioni, Astem Gestioni and S.T.e.A.M. S.r.l. (“STeAM”).
The table below shows selected line items as at 31 December 2012 and 2011 in the district heating
business.

Revenues ...............................................................................................
Expenses ................................................................................................
EBITDA ................................................................................................
Amortisation, depreciation and provisions ...........................................
EBIT ......................................................................................................

2011
Variation %
2012
District heating (data in thousands of €)
22,864
22,528
1.5
18,694
17,917
4.3
4,170
4,611
(9.6)
1,457
1,440
1.2
2,713
3,171
(14.4)

The decline in cumulative EBIT in 2012, as compared to 2011, primarily concerned Astem Gestioni
and STeAM, which recorded a decrease in revenues due to lower sale volumes and increased costs,
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principally caused by a reduction in corporate and household consumption resulting from the ongoing
market crisis in Italy.
The LGH Group’s co-generation plants are located in Cremona, Lodi and Rho. The table below
illustrates the key data for the district heating supplied by the LGH Group in those three areas in 2012.

User connected (No.) ...........................................................................
Length of the network (km)..................................................................
Volumetry connected (m3) ..................................................................
Thermal energy produced (MWh) ........................................................

Network of
Cremona*
580
56
5,337,000
175,608

Network of
Lodi
90
15
1,300,000
38,200

Network of
Rho
n.a.
n.a.
815,000
28,000

____________
*
The data concerning production and sale of thermal energy in the district heating network of Cremona include the contribution of a
waste to energy plant.

Other services
The other services carried out by LGH Group are mainly divided into two areas of activity:
●

heating management services; and

●

ICT and telecommunications services.

The table below shows selected line items from the results of operations of in the Group’s other
services for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011.

Revenues ..............................................................................................
Expenses ...............................................................................................
EBITDA ...............................................................................................
Amortisation, depreciation and provisions ..........................................
EBIT .....................................................................................................

2011
Variation %
2012
Other services (data in thousands of €)
25,582
32,771
(21.9)
23,172
28,495
(18.7)
2,410
4,276
(43.6)
3,284
3,472
(5.4)
(874)
804
(208.7)

The decline in cumulative EBIT in 2012, as compared to 2011, is mainly due to downsizing of the
outlet market for photovoltaic systems (which mainly involves Linea Più) as a result of a sharp drop
in incentives and regulatory uncertainty. Astem Gestioni also suffered a decline in services contracted
out by local entities, which were assigned to Astem.
Heating management services
The LGH Group uses its industrial plant management experience to offer heat-production plant
management for third parties. The LGH Group’s companies AEM Gestioni and Astem Gestioni
manage plants for water heating on behalf of public and/or municipal authorities.
The table below provides information on the heating management services supplied by the relevant
companies within the LGH Group as at 31 December 2012.

Company
AEM Gestioni ..............................................
Astem Gestioni .............................................

No. of plants
managed
220
97

Plants with
heat power of ≥
35 kW
220
60

Plants with
remote control
(%)
3
31

Total heat
power
managed (MW)
85
29

ICT and telecommunications services
The LGH Group operates in the field of ICT and telecommunications, with the aim of providing
advanced service solutions to institutions, businesses and private individuals. LGH Group is active in
the ICT and telecommunications sector through two subsidiaries: Linea Com and AEM Com. Linea
Com’s mission is to provide safe and reliable technology services to support customers in the area of
new technologies of communication and information: it provides information technology services and
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manages information technology systems and fibre optic broadband networks. AEM Com manages
the fibre optic network in the city of Cremona and offers broadband services: it provides landline, fast
internet connection, data transmission, as well as other services as an internet service provider. In
2007 AEM Com completed a WiFi network in Italy linking 211 municipalities in the provinces of
Cremona, Lodi, Bergamo, Brescia, Piacenza, Mantova and Parma. AEM Com also has an important
ICT infrastructure (server farm) providing platforms and advanced services and an experienced team
of technicians in the field of telecommunications.
As part of the Group’s ongoing reorganisation, Linea Com and AEM Com are due to merge into a
single entity on 1 January 2014. Operating in conjunction with the IT structure of LGH and thereby
completing the process of integration of service capacity, the past-merger entity is expected initially to
continue operating under the two brands AEM Com and Linea Com.
COMPETITIVE POSITION
LGH operates in the multi-utility market, mainly in the south of the region of Lombardy, with a
particular focus on the provinces of Lodi, Cremona, Pavia and Brescia. Although it is significantly
smaller in terms of revenues than the largest national multi-utility companies such as A2A, Hera, Iren
and Acea, at local level it is the largest among neighbouring multi-utility companies such as TEA,
ACSM AGAM and Gelsia. (Source: AGICI-Accenture: Observatory “Alliances and strategies in the
Pan-European utilities market”; Annual Financial Statements; LGH Group Company data.) In the
individual business areas in which it operates:
●

Gas distribution: The LGH Group is the tenth largest Italian player in gas distribution in
terms of points of delivery, i.e. customers), serving approximately 269,000 clients. Linea
Distribution has a strong market position in its principal geographical areas of activity with
respect to so-called “Ambiti”, i.e. municipalities which group together to make invitations to
tender for concessions, particularly in Cremona, Pavia and Lodi. (Source: AEEG: Annual
Report; Company Annual Financial Reports; LGH Group Company data.)

●

Gas sales: LGH is the thirteenth largest player in Italy in terms of gas volumes sold to end
users, with approximately 0.5 million cubic metres sold in 2012. LGH’s positioning is
strongest in its key provinces (Lodi, Cremona, Pavia and Brescia), where it sold almost
20 per cent. of all gas sold to end users in 2012. (Source: AEEG: Annual Report; Company
Annual Financial Reports; LGH Group Company data.)

●

Environmental services: LGH is the fifth largest player in Italy in terms of waste treatment
volumes, with approximately 1.0 billion tonnes treated in 2012. In terms of urban waste
collection, LGH collected an average of 6.3 per cent. of urban waste volumes in Lombardy
over the two-year period from 2011 to 2012 (approximately 4.8 million tonnes/year). With
regard to Waste to Energy, LGH is the third largest Italian player, with approximately
300,000 tonnes treated in 2012. (Source: ISPRA: Urban Waste Report; Region of Lombardy:
Waste Production Report; Company Annual Financial Reports; LGH Group Company data.)

●

Electricity production: The LGH Group is a small player compared to largest power
generation operators and does not rank among top players in terms of electricity generated in
2012. Its generation portfolio is focused on renewable and assimilated sources, which
accounts for more than 80 per cent. of power generated by the Group (approximately 0.6
TWh) in 2012. (Source: AEEG: Annual Report; Company Annual Financial Reports; LGH
Group Company data.)

●

Electricity distribution: The LGH Group is a relatively minor player in power distribution,
with a significantly smaller size in comparison to the largest domestic players and total power
distributed in 2012 amounting to 0.6 TWh. (Source: AEEG: Annual Report; Company
Annual Financial Reports; LGH Group Company data.)
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●

Electricity sales: LGH’s market share in its main geographical area represents approximately
3 per cent. of total electricity sold (2012). (Source: AEEG: Annual Report; Company Annual
Financial Reports; LGH Group Company data.)

●

District heating and co-generation: The LGH ranked fifth among operators in district heating
in 2012. The market is characterised by a large divide between the two top players (A2A and
Iren), which each accounted for approximately 75 million cubic metres sold, and the
“followers”, comprising Hera, AGSM Verona and LGH, which accounted for less than
20 million cubic metres each. (Source: AIRU: District heating yearbook; Company Annual
Financial Reports; LGH Group Company data.)

STRATEGY
Since the establishment of the Issuer, the LGH Group has undertaken a strategy aimed at growth and
at increasing efficiency in its core business activities, undergoing a constant process of corporate
restructuring aimed at strengthening and consolidating its market position. With this purpose, in the
coming years the Issuer is planning to intervene as follows:
●

Gas distribution: consolidation and growth of customer base, with the intention of
participating in competitive public tenders in strategic local areas and of withdrawing the
Group’s presence from non-strategic local areas;

●

Environmental services: (i) rationalisation of the waste collection services, through the
concentration of all the activities into a single legal entity, i.e. a new SOB; and
(ii) centralisation of managerial responsibility and of organisational supervision for all the
Group’s waste management plants in Linea Ambiente, the SOB in charge of management of
plants for waste disposal and treatment;

●

Electricity production: focus on improving operational efficiency in a “business-as-usual”
scenario without discontinuity;

●

Gas and electricity sales: (i) rationalisation of the operations relating to the distribution of
energy to retail, through the concentration of all those activities in Linea Più; and
(ii) customer base growth through a strategy of “dual fuel sales” (i.e. sale of both electricity
and gas as part of a package);

●

District heating and co-generation: rationalisation of the district heating operations, through
the concentration into a single legal entity, i.e. a new SOB, of all the existing activities and
the development of the plant located in Lodi and its network; and

●

Other services: rationalisation of the operations in the ICT and telecommunications services,
through concentrating all the activities into a single legal entity.

The LGH Group estimates for the next five years an investment plan of €274,000 thousand.
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
As at the date of this Prospectus, the Group’s main property, plant and equipment are:
●

waste to energy plants at Parona (PV) and Cremona, with a disposal capacity of 440,000
t/year;

●

plants for waste treatment and recovery, located in Coccaglio (BS) and Fombio (LO);

●

controlled landfills in Rovato (BS), Malagnino (CR), Augusta (SR) and Grottaglie (TA);

●

gas networks of Cremona, Rovato, Lodi and Pavia;
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●

hydroelectric power plants in Valle Camonica (BS) of about 37 MW installed power;

●

plants for the recovery of landfill gas (BS, CR and SR) of about 11 MW installed power;

●

three co-generation plants and three district heating networks in the provinces of Cremona,
Lodi and Rho in the province of Milan;

●

electricity distribution network of Cremona;

●

a fleet of 440 motor vehicles for waste collection and transportation, as well as for cleaning
activities.

The table below shows the changes occurred in the net value of the LGH Group’s property, plant and
equipment between 31 December 2012 and 30 June 2013.

Type of assets
Land and buildings ................................
Plant and machinery ..............................
Industrial and commercial.....................
Work in progress and advances.............
Other tangible assets .............................
Total tangible assets ............................

Net Book
Value at
31 December 2
012

Increases
and/or
decreases

Ammortisation
and
depreciation

(data in thousands of €)
387
(2,636)
2,303
(14,712)
356
(2,356)
9,047
0
786
(2,990)
12,879
(22,694)

75,976
360,585
16,517
21,257
16,215
490,550

Net Book
Value at
30 June 2013

Other

0
676
(35)
0
(641)
0

73,727
348,852
14,482
30,304
13,370
480,735

INVESTMENTS
Capital expenditure
The table below shows the breakdown of total investments of the LGH Group for each business area
for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011.
Total investments

2012

%

2011
(data in thousands of €)
38.7
14,792.0
14.1
56,322.2
27.1
2,671.5
7.4
3,207.2
1.8
927.8
1.7
2,452.1
4.1
1,526.4
5.0
2,294.3
100
84,193.5

Gas distribution ..............................................
18,199.4
Environmental services ..................................
6,636.2
Electricity production.....................................
12,750.5
Electricity distribution....................................
3,474.9
District heating ...............................................
830.1
Integrated water services (*) ...........................
821.5
Other services .................................................
1,932.8
Corporate (software, hardware and others) ...
2,349.9
46,995.3
Total ...............................................................
____________
(*)
The integrated water services business has been discontinued since 1 December 2012.

%

Variation
17.6
66.9
3.2
3.8
1.1
2.9
1.8
2.7
100

3,407.4
(49,686.0)
10,079.0
267.7
(97.7)
(1,630.6)
406.4
55.6
(37,198.2)

The table below shows the breakdown of total investments of the LGH Group for each business area
for the six months ended 30 June 2013 and 2012.
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Total investments

30.06.2013

Gas Distribution ..............................................................
Environmental services ...................................................
Electricity production......................................................
Electricity distribution.....................................................
District heating ................................................................
Integrated water services(*) .............................................
Other services ..................................................................
Corporate (software, hardware and others) ....................
Total ................................................................................

11,134
7,103
2,694
1,341
336
0
798
1,574
24,980
12,693
12,287

30.06.2012
Var.
(data in thousands of €)
4,299
6,835
4,018
3,085
6,383
(3,689)
1,151
190
398
(62)
335
(335)
863
(66)
696
878
18,143
6,837
11,224
1,469
6,919
5,368

of which “Maintenance” ...............................................
of which “Development” ................................................
____________
(*) The integrated water services business has been discontinued since 1 December 2012.

Var. %
159
77
(58)
17
(16)
(100)
(8)
126
38
13
78

During 2012, the LGH Group carried out investments for a total amount of about €46,995 thousand,
with a decrease of €37,198 thousand compared to 2011 (mainly due to the fact that in 2011 LGH
carried out an investment of more than €46 million for the acquisition of an 85 per cent. shareholding
in Ecolevante).
Gas distribution
Gas distribution investments by the LGH Group saw a substantial increase in 2012, as compared to
2011, which brought the investments from €14,792 thousand in 2011 to €18,199 thousand in 2012.
The increase of about €3,407.4 thousand in investments was primarily due to one-off expenses from
taking part in competitive public tenders (over €2 million) and maintenance of the safety of the entire
gas network and plants.
The increased investments relating to gas distribution, from €4,299 thousand for the six months ended
30 June 2012 to €11,134 thousand for the six months ended 30 June 2013 were due to investments for
development of an amount equal to €4,802.4 thousand for pipes, €1,502 thousand for connections to
the gas mains, €882.3 thousand for gas cabins and €455.5 thousand for gas metres. These items are
considered as investments for development because they relate to the business acquired at the
beginning of 2013 from the entity formerly in charge of the relevant activities in the province of
Cremona.
Environmental services
There was a strong decrease in investments relating to environment, from €56,322.2 thousand in 2011
to €6,636.2 thousand in 2012 due to the acquisition of an 85 per cent. shareholding in Ecolevante in
2011. Other investments carried out in 2011 related to treatment plants and waste disposal.
The increased investments relating to environment, from €4,018 thousand for the six months ended
30 June 2012 to €7,103 thousand for the six months ended 30 June 2013 were due to investments for
maintenance for an amount equal to €1,504.8 thousand and to the construction of the plant in
Coccaglio, treating waste with the aim of re-using it and having a capacity of 80 thousand tons of
waste treated per annum, for an amount equal to €1,302.4 thousand.
Electricity production
Investments in electricity production saw an increase from €2,671.5 thousand in 2011 to
€12,750.5 thousand in 2012 due to the implementation of initiatives relating to the enlargement of
own renewable energy plants, in particular the woody biomass plant in Cremona
(€9,068 thousand invested in 2012) and the mini-hydro plant of Corna (€1,050 thousand invested in
2012).
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The decreased investments relating to electricity production, from €6,383 thousand for the six months
ended 30 June 2012 to €2,694 thousand for the six months ended 30 June 2013 were mainly due to
reduced investments for specific machinery, i.e. from €5,557.7 thousand for the six months ended
30 June 2012 to €2,238.5 thousand for the six months ended 30 June 2013 (which in turn were mainly
represented by the investment of €1,893.1 thousand for the woody biomass plant in Cremona).
Electricity distribution
There was a slight increase in investments in the energy distribution services, from
€3,207.2 thousand in 2011 to €3,474.9 thousand in 2012, essentially due to higher activity of
electricity substations. The investments in the energy distribution services for the six months ended
30 June 2013 are due to ordinary maintenance and are substantially in line with the investments
carried out for the six months ended 30 June 2012.
District heating
Investments in the district heating activities saw a decrease from €927.8 thousand in 2011 to €830.1
thousand in 2012, due to decreased activities in mains connections for new customers. The
investments in the district heating activities for the six months ended 30 June 2013 are due to ordinary
maintenance and are in substantially in line with the investments carried out for the six months ended
30 June 2012.
Other services
There was a slight increase in investments for ICT from €1,526.4 thousand in 2011 to €1,932.8
thousand in 2012, mostly benefiting the telecommunications plants and networks of AEM Com.
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FINANCING
The table below shows the Issuer’s principal financing agreements as at the date of this Prospectus.
Amount
(€/000)
215,000

Maturity
30/06/2022

Installments
(Yes/No) and
intervals
Yes, half-yearly

Date
13/12/2005

Lender
Pool of banks

Borrower
Lomellina
Energia

30/05/2003

UniCredit

Linea Energia

114,500

30/05/2021

Yes, half-yearly

01/07/2010

Pool of banks

LGH

71,500

30/06/2015

Yes, quarterly

14/03/2013

Pool of banks

LGH

35,000

31/12/2017

01/07/2010

Pool of banks

Linea Più

31,000

22/06/2011

BNP Paribas

Linea Ambiente

12/04/2005

Intesa Sanpaolo

LGH

Other security
Covenants

Covenants
LLCR ≥1,10

Debt / MP ≥ 3.60

-

Covenants, undertaking
to capitalize the
company, undertaking to
move the cash-flows by
the company via a named
current account and
assignment of
receivables
Covenants

Yes, quarterly

-

Covenants

● PFN / Ebitda ≤ 4.50
● Ebitda / OFN ≥ 3.50
● PFNadj / MP ≤ 2.00

30/06/2015

Yes, quarterly

-

Guarantee by LGH,
Covenants

● PFN / Ebitda ≤ 4.50
● PFNadj / MP ≤ 2.00

31,000

22/06/2021

Yes, half-yearly

Pledge over Ecolevante’s
shares

Covenants

● PFN / Ebitda ≤ 3.25/4.25
● Ebitda / OFN ≥ 5.504.50
● PFNadj / MP ≤ 1.301.75

28,000

31/12/2019

Yes, half-yearly

Pledge over MF Waste’s
quotas

Undertaking to hold
control of Lomellina
Energia
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Collateral
(i) pledge over Lomellina
Energia’s quotas,
(ii) mortgage on
properties and (iii) lien
(privilegio speciale) on
some plants
(i) mortgage on
properties and (ii) lien
(privilegio speciale) on
some plants

● PFN / Ebitda ≤ 4.50
● Ebitda / OFN ≥ 3.50
● PFNadj / MP ≤ 2.00

Where:
“LLCR” means loan life cover ratio;
“MP” means equity;
“OFN” means net liabilities;
“PFN” means net financial position; and
“PFNadj” means adjusted net financial position.
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In addition, in October 2013, LGH and the European Investment Bank signed an agreement for a €95
million loan facility for the construction and maintenance of the gas distribution network in five
provinces, for the energy distribution network in Cremona and the extension of the district heating
distribution network in Lodi. An €80 million drawdown is expected by the end of 2013. The facility
provides for the following covenants: Net financial position/EBITDA ≤ 4.00; Net financial
position/Equity ≤ 1.65; and EBITDA/Net liabilities ≥ 4.75.
The table below shows the other main financing agreements of the Issuer as at the date of this
Prospectus:
Date
01/07/2010
27/06/2007
01/07/2010
15/11/2006
14/03/2013
21/10/2005
26/02/2004
26/02/2009

Lender
Pool of banks ............................................
UBI Banca ................................................
Pool of banks ............................................
Banca Popolare di Cremona.....................
Pool of banks ............................................
Intesa Sanpaolo.........................................
Intesa Sanpaolo.........................................
Banca Cremonese Credito Cooperativo ...

01/12/2012
29/01/2002
29/01/2002
14/03/2013
12/12/2008
28/05/2012
06/10/2010
20/03/2010

Pool of banks ............................................
Cassa depositi e prestiti ............................
Cassa depositi e prestiti ............................
Pool of banks ............................................
UBI Banca ................................................
ING Lease .................................................
Banca popolare dell’Emilia Romagna .....
Sparkasse ..................................................

Borrower
Linea Ambiente
LGH
Linea Distribuzione
LGH
Linea Più
Steam
LGH
LGH
LGH Rinnovabili S.r.l.
(“LGH Rinnovabili”)
LGH
LGH
Linea Distribuzione
AEM Gestioni
LGH Rinnovabili
Aem Com
Aem Com

Amount
(€/000)
17,000
13,000
10,500
10,000
10,000
10,000
8,000
8,000

Maturity
30/06/2015
30/12/2020
30/06/2015
31/12/2013
31/12/2017
30/06/2019
31/12/2015
26/02/2019

6,657
5,216
5,164
5,000
4,250
4,000
3,000
2,000

30/09/2028
31/12/2022
31/12/2022
31/12/2017
31/12/2013
31/12/2022
31/10/2015
31/03/2015

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
The principal subsidiaries of the Issuer other than the SOTs and SOBs are:
●

Greenambiente: based in Priolo Gargallo (SR), it owns and directly manages the waste
disposal plant of municipal solid waste in Augusta (SR), in Sicily, in southern Italy;

●

Ecolevante: based in Rovato (BS), it owns and directly manages the waste disposal plant in
Grottaglie (TA) in the southern Italian region of Puglia;

●

LGH Rinnovabili: based in Cremona (CR), it owns and directly manages a woody biomass
plant in Cremona and an electricity flowing-water production plant in Darfo Boario Terme
(BS);

●

Lomellina Energia: based in Parona (PV), it manages the LGH Group’s most important
incinerator;

●

MF Waste: based in Rovato (BS), it is a holding company, which does not carry out any
operating activities, and holds 80 per cent. of the share capital of Lomellina Energia;

●

STeAM: based in Rho (MI), it manages the cogeneration plant and district heating network in
Rho, to the west of Milan;

●

AEM Com: based in Cremona, it is responsible for the provision of landline, mobile and web
services through a network of fibre optic broadband and WiMAX in the city of Cremona and
part of the province;
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●

Linea Com: based in Rovato (BS), it provides ICT support to LGH, as well as services and
management activities for the information systems of the municipalities handling special
projects for local authorities; and

●

Amico Gas S.r.l. (“Amico Gas”): based in Pavia, it is active in after-sales technical assistance
and maintenance, as well as sales and maintenance of small gas appliances (boilers, water
heaters, etc.), mainly in the city of Pavia.

The principal companies in which the Issuer has a minority shareholding are:
●

Blugas Infrastrutture S.r.l., in which the Group has a 45.74 per cent. shareholding. Based in
Cremona, it is responsible for the storage and transportation of natural gas, as well as the
building of the connected plants;

●

Blugas, in which the Group has a 48.22 per cent. shareholding. Based in Mantua, Blugas
originally carried out natural gas import, export, production and the wholesale and retail sale
of gas and electricity. In 2008, Blugas — with a 25 per cent. shareholding — and other
shareholders incorporated Sinergie Italiane S.r.l. (“Sinit”), which was in charge of modulation
and transport of natural gas. In September 2010, Blugas transferred to Sinit its activities of
import, modulation, storage and wholesale of natural gas. Blugas is therefore a holding
company which as of the date of this Prospectus owns 30.94 per cent. of the share capital of
SINIT. In March 2012, after having agreed to cover losses incurred by Sinit for the year
ended 30 September 2011, the shareholders of Sinit placed the company in voluntary
liquidation, partly due to its financial prospects and partly (from the LGH Group’s point of
view) for strategic reasons, with the aim of allowing the company to recover receivables,
eliminate contingent liabilities and gradually close down its business in an orderly fashion.

REGULATORY FRAMEWORK
See the separate Section “– Regulation”.
SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDERS
Share capital
As at 30 June 2013, the Issuer had an authorised, issued and fully paid-up capital of €189,494,116.00.
Following the Issuer’s transformation into a società per azioni, its share capital is €189,494,116.00,
consisting of 189,494,116 ordinary shares of €1.00 each. The Issuer’s ordinary shares are unlisted.
Shareholders
As at the date of this Prospectus, the LGH’s share capital is owned as follows.
Name
Cogeme......................................................................................................................
AEM Cremona ..........................................................................................................
Astem. .......................................................................................................................
ASM Pavia ................................................................................................................
SCS ............................................................................................................................
Total ..........................................................................................................................

No. of ordinary
shares
58,582,106
58,582,106
25,053,017
30,133,354
17,143,533
189,494,116

Percentage of
ordinary shares
30.915
30.915
13.221
15.902
9.047
100.0

On 30 June 2010, the shareholders of the Issuer, namely AEM Cremona, ASM Pavia, Astem, Cogeme
and SCS, entered into a shareholders’ agreement, the main provisions of which are summarised
below:
●

Board of Directors: The Board of Directors of LGH is composed of five members and each
shareholder has the right to appoint one member. The Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Issuer are appointed among candidates selected by AEM Cremona and
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Cogeme, respectively, with the approval of shareholders holding at least 70 per cent. of the
share capital. Should the approval by shareholders holding at least 70 per cent. of the share
capital fail to be obtained, they will be chosen by a simple majority of the shareholders from a
list of three candidates selected by AEM Cremona and Cogeme, respectively, which will both
be required to abstain from voting.
●

Board of Statutory Auditors: The Board of Statutory Auditors of LGH is composed of three
Statutory Auditors and two Alternate Auditors. The three Statutory Auditors are appointed by
the shareholders ranking in the third, fourth and fifth positions for number of shares of the
Issuer held, while the two Alternate Auditors are appointed by the shareholders ranking in the
first and second positions for number of shares of the Issuer held.

●

Corporate governance of the SOTs and SOBs: Where the SOTs’ administrative body is a
Board of Directors (consisting of three or five members), the Board of Directors’ members
are appointed by the shareholder of the Issuer carrying out its business in the same province
of the relevant SOT. The shareholder of the Issuer carrying out its business in the same
province of the relevant SOT will also be entitled to appoint an Alternate Auditor. Where the
SOBs’ administrative body is composed of a Board of Directors (consisting of three or five
members), the Board of Directors’ Chairman will be appointed by the shareholder of the
Issuer that has its registered office in the same place as the relevant SOB. In addition, the
SOTs’ and SOBs’ Board of Directors remuneration as well as the budget allocation shall be
approved by the Issuer’s Board of Directors in advance.

●

Strategic and Investment Committee: The committee must be composed of (i) the Chairmen
of the shareholders of LGH, (ii) the Chairman of LGH, and (iii) the Chief Executive Officer
of LGH.

●

Inter-group Coordination Committee: The committee must be composed of (i) the members
of the Issuer’s Board of Directors, (ii) a representative for each of LGH’s shareholder, (iii) the
SOTs’ Chairmen, and (iv) the SOBs’ Chairmen. As at the date of this Prospectus, the Intergroup Coordination Committee has not been appointed.

LITIGATION
Due to its extensive customer base and varied business, LGH is party to a number of civil and
administrative proceedings arising in the ordinary course of its business including, without limitation,
employee disputes and from time to time may be subject to inspections by taxation and other
authorities. The Issuer’s management believes that provisions made in the Group’s balance sheet for
such proceedings, which amounted to €410,000 as at 31 December 2012 and to €410,000 as at
30 June 2013, are adequate, under the circumstances, to cover all potential risks and damages that
may arise from any such proceedings and that there are no other material legal or arbitration
proceedings pending against LGH or against any other company in the LGH Group.
Proceedings before the Italian Competition Authority
In August 2012, the Italian Competition Authority (Autorità Garante della Concorrenza e del
Mercato, “AGCM”) issued a ruling against Linea Distribuzione and LGH for an alleged violation of
Section 101 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, which prohibits all agreements
between undertakings and other concerted practices which may distort trade within the EU (the
“AGCM Ruling”).
The AGCM Ruling found that Linea Distribuzione unlawfully colluded with another gas distributor
(at the time, E.On Rete S.r.l.) by jointly participating in a public tender by means of a temporary
association (associazione temporanea d’impresa), i.e. exclusively aimed at the joint participation and
management of a public tender, launched by the Casalmaggiore municipality for the award of gas
distribution service contracts in eight municipalities of the Cremona province (namely,
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Casalmaggiore, Rivarolo del Re, San Martino del Lago, Solarolo Rainerio, Spineda, Motta Baluffi,
Torricella del Pizzo and Voltido).
The AGCM found that LGH was jointly liable with Linea Distribuzione for the alleged violation,
imposing on the two companies an administrative fine totalling €129,675, which was duly paid by
such companies.
The Group successfully appealed against the AGCM Decision before the Administrative Regional
Tribunal (“TAR”), which annulled the AGCM Decision in its entirety on 7 May 2013 (the “TAR
Judgment”).
As at the date of this Prospectus, an appeal filed by the AGCM is pending before the Supreme
Administrative Court (“Consiglio di Stato”) against the TAR Judgment. Linea Distribuzione and
LGH are resisting the AGCM appeal but the date for the public hearing is yet to be scheduled.
In addition to payment of the fine, an adverse ruling by the Consiglio di Stato may have an adverse
impact on the service agreements for gas distribution between Linea Distribuzione and the
municipalities having taken part in the public tender and may cause reputational damage to Linea
Distribuzione. Also, an adverse ruling by the Consiglio di Stato might cause the above municipalities
to bring legal action against Linea Distribuzione.
Setramar proceedings
During 2012, LGH commenced proceedings before the Court of Florence against Setramar S.p.A.,
Adriacoke S.p.A. and Sider Piombino S.p.A. to recover €7,247 thousand, plus interest and expenses,
due as consideration for the sale of LGH’s interest owned in SECA. Although the total amount due
under the agreement is more than €14 million, the claim is only limited to the first instalment,
amounting to 50 per cent. of the total. The defendants challenged an application by the Issuer for an
interim order for payment initially granted by the Court and a hearing took place on
18 September 2013. On 4 November 2013, the Court dismissed the defendants’ requests and granted
LGH the right to enforce the interim order for payment. However, on the actual merits of the case, the
proceedings are still at their initial stages.
Linea Gestioni proceedings
Linea Gestioni is the defendant in an action brought before the TAR of Brescia by its competitors to
dispute the final awards of urban environmental services in favour of Linea Gestioni (at that time
Cogeme Gestioni) by the local municipalities of Maclodio (TAR of Brescia, decision No. 1468/2012),
Gambara (TAR of Brescia, decision No. 2004/2012) and Rovato (TAR of Brescia, decision No.
1387/2012). The Court confirmed the legitimacy of the awards in favour of Linea Gestioni (at that
time Cogeme Gestioni). The plaintiffs have filed an appeal with the Consiglio di Stato, but as at the
date of this Prospectus a hearing to resolve the matter has not yet been scheduled.
Lomellina proceedings
In November 2011, the public company Gestore Servizi Energetici S.p.A. (“GSE”) sent to Lomellina
Energia two notices concerning Lomellina Energia’s two production lines. By means of the notices,
Lomellina Energia was informed that, without any apparent grounds, GSE had replaced the criteria
for calculating discounted energy for the purpose of awarding green energy certificates, as provided
by law, which had already been agreed among the parties and applied starting from the production
year 2007, with due issuance, collection and simultaneous payment of the green energy certificates
requested by Lomellina Energia. This change in the criteria, applied prudentially by Lomellina
Energia starting from 2011, led to a reduction in the number of green energy certificates due to it.
Even the duration of the incentives for the non-biodegradable portion of line 1 waste declared by GSE
in the aforesaid notices was shorter than the one prescribed by law. In order to protect its rights,
Lomellina Energia filed an appeal with the TAR of Lazio against GSE’s measures, the aim being to

111

have them declared cancelled and receive payment of the amounts due. An application by Lomellina
Energia for an injunction suspending the measures was rejected by the TAR. Following the appeal
against these orders, the Consiglio di Stato referred the matter to the Lazio Regional Administrative
Court to decide on the merits and a hearing was held in February 2013. On 15 April 2013, the TAR
of Lazio published its judgments on the two production lines, as follows:
●

for line 1, the Court upheld Lomellina Energia’s right to receive incentives for the portion of
production from non-biodegradable waste up until 19 January 2014;

●

for line 2, the Court rejected Lomellina Energia’s requests.

Lomellina Energia requested the opinion of an independent consultant instructed in its defence, who
maintained that, despite the Court’s unfavourable decisions, Lomellina Energia’s well-founded
reasons suggested that the risk assessment of losing the case could be considered “possible”.
Therefore, like in 2011, Lomellina Energia made no allocation to the provision for contingencies and
initiated appeal proceedings before the Consiglio di Stato. Pending final settlement of the claim,
Lomellina Energia took the precaution of recording in its financial statements only green certificates
relating to excess electricity fed into the grid from line 2, which amounted to €200 thousand for 2012,
compared to a potential amount of €2,734 thousand using the previous method of calculation by the
GSE.
For 2011, using the same prudential criteria, Lomellina Energia recognised a figure of €400 thousand,
compared to €2,994 thousand due when using the previous method of calculation by the GSE. For
2007 to 2010, using the previous method of calculation contested by GSE, the company recorded an
overall amount of €11.7 million, which, if GSE’s claims were upheld, would drop to about
€5.5 million.
Linea Energia proceedings
An appeal was filed with the Regional Court for Public Water (“TRAP”) on behalf of Linea Energia
to ascertain its right to extend the concession of large water diversions for hydroelectric purposes to
the Resio plant in the Municipality of Esine up until 31 December 2020, subject to non-application of
the Lombardy Regional Authority’s Note issued on 24/12/2009.
The Milan Court of Appeal, Section III (civil law) — acting as the TRAP — under ruling no. 2308 of
17.04.2013, published on 4th June 2013, held that the Linea Energia’s application for ascertainment
of the right to extend the concession until 31 December 2020 should be rejected due to the absence of
said right on the date of publication of Constitutional Court ruling no. 1 of 2008. Linea Energia filed
an appeal with the TRAP based on a presumed erroneous assessment with regard to the date of
establishment of the ten-year extension
MANAGEMENT
Corporate governance
LGH has opted for the traditional corporate governance model, which involves the division of power
between the shareholders, the Board of Directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors.
The Issuer’s by-laws entrusts the management of LGH to the Board of Directors, which is composed
of five members appointed by the shareholders’ meeting, one for each of the shareholders, by a voting
list system. The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are appointed, respectively, by AEM
Cremona and Cogeme. All the members are appointed for a period to be determined by the
shareholders’ meeting at the time of the appointment, which cannot be longer than three financial
years. Directors may be reappointed.
The Board of Directors has the widest powers in order to perform the ordinary and extraordinary
management of the Issuer. It is authorised to carry out all the acts it deems necessary or appropriate
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to achieve LGH’s corporate purpose, with the sole exception of those powers expressly reserved for
the shareholders’ meeting under applicable law or LGH’s by-laws.
The Board of Statutory Auditors is composed of five members, three statutory auditors and two
alternate auditors, who must meet the requirements provided for by applicable law and the by-laws.
All members of the Board of Statutory Auditors are appointed by the shareholders’ meeting by way of
a voting list system for three financial years. The alternate auditors replace any regular auditor who
resigns or is otherwise unable to serve as a statutory auditor in accordance with applicable law and
LGH’s by-laws. The Board of Statutory Auditors is the body that supervises LGH’s correct
administration, assessing the adequacy of the organisation, administration and accounting structure
adopted by the Board of Directors.
The Issuer has adopted a system of internal auditing in order to ensure that the management of the
business is carried out consistently with the general goals pursued and in compliance with the relevant
laws. This operates on different levels:
●

an audit directly operated by each department in respect of their own responsibilities and
activities;

●

a risk management audit, performed by specific departments; and

●

an independent audit operated by a system of internal auditing.

The Issuer has also sought to enhance business efficiency and a centralised control of business
operations through the creation of a Strategic and Investment Committee. The committee, composed
of the chairmen of the companies which are shareholders of LGH, the chairman of LGH and the CEO,
is entrusted with the power to elaborate strategies to be presented to the Board of Directors for
subsequent evaluation.
Board of Directors
The current members of the Board of Directors were appointed by a resolution passed at the Issuer’s
shareholders’ meeting held on 7 February 2013 for a period expiring on the date of the shareholders’
meeting called to approve LGH’s financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2014.
The table below shows the names of the current members of the Board of Directors, their positions
and principal activities held outside the Group.
Name
Alessandro Giuseppe Conter .....

Position
Chairman

Claudio Tedesi ............................

Vice Chairman

Franco Mazzini...........................

Chief Executive
Officer

Giuseppe Demuro ......................

Director

Giovanni Soffiantini ...................

Director

Principal activities outside the Issuer
Chairman of the Board of Directors of Blugas
Director of Lomellina Energia
Director of MF Waste
General Manager (Direttore Generale) of ASM Pavia
Director of Linea Ambiente
Director of Linea Distribuzione
Director of Blugas Infrastrutture
Director of Linea Più
Director of AEM Cremona
Manager of the Municipality of Lodi
Director of AEM Gestioni
Director of Linea Gestioni
General Manager (Direttore Generale) of S.C.R.P. S.p.A.
Director of ASTEM Gestioni
Director of Linea Più
Sole Director of Società Immobiliare Cremasca S.r.l.
Procurator/Techinical Director of Consorzio Informatica
Territorio S.r.l.

The business address of the members of the Board of Directors is the Issuer’s registered office.
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Board of Statutory Auditors
The current members of the Board of Statutory Auditors were appointed for a three-year term by a
resolution passed at the Issuer’s shareholders’ meeting held on 7 February 2013.
The table below sets out the current members of LGH’s Board of Statutory Auditors, and their
principal posts held outside the Issuer.
Name
Mario Minoja ............................

Position
Chairman

Umberta Bianchessi ..................

Statutory Auditor

Vittorino Orione ........................

Statutory Auditor

Claudio Romeo Bodini .............

Alternate Auditor

Carlo Murano ............................

Alternate Auditor

Principal activities outside the Issuer
Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors of Banca Aletti
& C S.p.A.
Alternate Auditor of Linea Gestioni
Alternate Auditor of Linea Distribuzione
Statutory Auditor of Linea Com
Alternate Auditor of Linea Energia
Chairman of the Board of Statutory Auditors of S.C.R.P.
S.p.A.
Alternate Auditor of SCS
Alternate Auditor of Linea Distribuzione
Alternate Auditor of Linea Più
Alternate Auditor of Linea Com
Chairman of the Board of Statutory Auditors of Pavia
Acque s.c.a.r.l.
Statutory Auditor of Alta Langa Servizi S.p.A.
Statutory Auditor of Società Autoservizi Pubblici
Oltrepo S.p.A.
Liquidator of Voghera Energia Vendita S.p.A.
Chairman of the Board of Statutory Auditors of AEM
Cremona
Chairman of the Board of Statutory Auditors of Padania
Acque Gestione.
Chairman of the Board of Statutory Auditors of Castel
S.p.A. in liquidation
Alternate Auditor of Autostrade Centro Padane S.p.A.
-

The business address of the members of the Board of Statutory Auditors is the Issuer’s registered
office.
Conflicts of interest
So far as the Issuer is aware, there are no potential conflicts of interests between any duties of the
members of the Board of Directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors and their private interests.
Independent auditors
The Issuer’s current independent auditors are Reconta Ernst & Young S.p.a. (“Ernst & Young”)
which audited the annual financial statement of LGH as at and for the years ended 31 December 2012
and 2011. Ernst & Young, with its registered office at Via Po’ 32, 00198 Rome, Italy, is registered
under No. 02 in the Special Register (Albo Speciale) held by Commissione Nazionale per le Società e
la Borsa (“CONSOB”) and is also a member of the Italian association of auditing firms, Associazione
Nazionale Revisori Contabili (“ASSIREVI”).
Ernst & Young’s appointment was initially conferred for the period 2009 – 2011 and was renewed for
the period 2012–2014 by the shareholders’ meeting held on 20 June 2012.
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EMPLOYEES
As at 30 June 2013, LGH Group had 1,256 employees.
The table below sets forth the number of LGH Group’s employees as at 30 June 2013 and 2012:
As at 30 June
2012

2013
Employees
LGH ...............................................................................................................................
Companies controlled by LGH .....................................................................................
LGH Group ..................................................................................................................
Manager .........................................................................................................................
Middle management/white-collar staff .........................................................................
Blue-collar staff .............................................................................................................
Total ..............................................................................................................................
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141
1,115
1,256
23
566
667
1,256

139
1,201
1,340
27
588
725
1,340

DESCRIPTION OF THE GUARANTORS
AEM GESTIONI
History and Development
AEM Gestioni (together with Astem Gestioni, Ecolevante, Greenambiente and Linea Più, collectively,
the “Guarantors”) is a limited liability company (società a responsabilità limitata) incorporated
under the laws of the Republic of Italy on 21 October 2004 for a duration of up to 31 December 2050
(which may be extended by a shareholders’ extraordinary resolution).
AEM Gestioni is registered at the Companies’ Register (Registro delle Imprese) of Cremona under
registration number 01336340193. Its registered office is at Viale Trento e Trieste 38, Cremona (CR)
26100, Italy and the telephone number of its registered office is +39 0372 4181.
Business Overview
AEM Gestioni, a wholly owned subsidiary and a SOT of the Issuer, is a company operating in local
public services in the Municipality of Cremona. In particular, AEM Gestioni is responsible for the
production and distribution of electricity, district heating services, as well as the collection and
disposal of waste. Moreover, it also carries out several public services, including public lighting, the
design and maintenance of road surfaces and the grouting of the streets to clear snow in winter
months.
Financing
The main financing agreement to which AEM Gestioni is a party, as borrower, is a loan agreement
with UBI Banca S.c.p.a. for an amount of € 4,250,000 which was drawn down on 12 December 2008,
is repayable in 14 instalments and is due to expire on 31 December 2013.
Public concessions
AEM Gestioni holds concessions in the following business areas:
•

Electricity distribution, granted by the Italian Ministry of Economy (i.e. Ministero dello Sviluppo
Economico, formerly Ministero delle Attività Produttive) and expiring on 31 December 2030;

•

District heating, granted by the Municipality of Cremona and expiring on 31 December 2030;
and

•

Waste management, granted by the Municipality of Cremona and expiring on 31 December 2030.

Other
The key events for AEM Gestioni in 2012 may be summarised as follows:
•

Transfer to AEM Service S.r.l. of the business areas relating to the management of roads and to
the design of plants;

•

Transfer to Linea Più of the gas and electricity front office staff (i.e. employees dealing directly
with customers) in the province of Cremona;

•

Transfer to Padania Acque Gestione of the integrated water services.

Shareholdings in other companies
AEM Gestioni has a minority shareholding of 13.88% in Casalasca Servizi S.p.A., a company active
in environmental services (i.e. brokerage, collection, transportation and disposal of waste and
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mechanised street cleaning) and other activities such as assessment and collection of taxes on the
behalf of municipalities.
For further information on AEM Gestioni’s position within the Group, see “Description of the Issuer –
Group Structure”.
Share Capital
As at 31 December 2012, AEM Gestioni had an issued and fully paid-up share capital of
€11,649,196.00.
Shareholders
AEM Gestioni is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Issuer.
Management
Board of Directors
The following table sets forth the names of the current members of AEM Gestioni’s Board of
Directors, their positions and principal activities outside of AEM Gestioni.
Name
Federico Zamboni
Giuseppe Demuro

Position
Chairman
Director

Ersilia Baruffini

Director

Principal activities outside AEM
Gestioni
General Manager of the Municipality of
Lodi
Director of LGH
Director of Linea Gestioni
Employee in LGH

The current members of the Board of Directors were appointed on 27 May 2013 for a three-year term
expiring at the date of the approval of AEM Gestioni’s financial statements as of 31 December 2015.
Board of Statutory Auditors
The following table sets forth the names of the current members of the AEM Gestioni’s Board of
Statutory Auditors, their positions and principal activities outside AEM Gestioni.
Name
Giovanni Costa

Position
Chairman

Antonio Alquati
Anna Maria Petralito
Marco Angelo Marinoni
Matteo Romagnoli

Statutory Auditor
Statutory Auditor
Alternate Auditor
Alternate Auditor

Principal activities outside AEM
Gestioni
Statutory Auditor of Casalasca Servizi
S.p.A.
Statutory Auditor of Linea Energia

The current members of the Board of Statutory Auditors were appointed on 28 July 2011 for a
three-year term.
Conflicts of interest
So far as AEM Gestioni is aware, there are no potential conflicts of interests between any duties of the
members of the Board of Directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors and their private interests.
Employees
As at 30 June 2013, AEM Gestioni had 250 employees.
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ASTEM GESTIONI
History and Development
Astem Gestioni is a limited liability company (società a responsabilità limitata) incorporated under
the laws of the Republic of Italy on 1 April 2005 for a duration of up to 31 December 2050 (which
may be extended by a shareholders’ extraordinary resolution).
Astem Gestioni is registered at the Companies’ Register (Registro delle Imprese) of Lodi under
registration number 04813200963. Its registered office is at Strada Vecchia Cremonese snc, Lodi
(LO), 26900 Italy, and the telephone number of its registered office is +39 0371 42021.
Business Overview
Astem Gestioni, a wholly owned subsidiary and a SOT of the Issuer, manages the heating and
environmental services for the Municipality of Lodi and other municipalities in the same province. In
particular, it is in charge of waste disposal, energy production through co-generation plants and
district heating services.
Public concessions
Astem Gestioni holds 16 concessions in the environmental services business area, in the following
municipalities: Boffalora d’Adda, Cornegliano Laudense, Galgagnano, Marudo, Oltre Adda
Lodigiano, Pieve Fissiraga, Casalpusterlengo, Castiglione D’Adda, Sant’Angelo Lodigiano, Borghetto
Lodigiano, Graffignana, Villanova del Sillaro, Paullo, Lodi, Lodivecchio and San Martino in Strada.
The most important is the concession granted by the Municipality of Lodi and expiring in 2030.
Other
The key event for Astem Gestioni in 2012 is the transfer to Linea Più of the gas and electricity front
office staff (i.e. employees dealing directly with customers) in the province of Lodi.
Subsidiaries
Astem Gestioni has no subsidiaries.
For further information on Astem Gestioni’s position within the Group, see “Description of the Issuer
– Group Structure”.
Share Capital
As at 31 December 2012, Astem Gestioni had an issued and fully paid-up share capital of
€1,290,319.00.
Shareholders
Astem Gestioni is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Issuer.
Management
Board of Directors
The following table sets forth the names of the current members of Astem Gestioni’s Board of
Directors, their positions and principal activities outside of Astem Gestioni.
Name
Salvatore Nupieri
Patrizia Villa
Giovanni Soffiantini

Principal activities outside Astem
Gestioni
Chairman of Parco Tecnologico Padano
Employee of LGH
General Manager of S.C.R.P. S.p.A.

Position
Chairman
Director
Director
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Director of LGH
Director of Linea Più
Sole Director of Società Immobiliare
Cremasca S.r.l.
Procurator/Technical Director of Consorzio
Informatica Territorio S.r.l.

The current members of the Board of Directors were appointed on 31 July 2013 for a three-year term
expiring at the date of the approval of Astem Gestioni’s financial statements as of 31 December 2015.
Board of Statutory Auditors
The following table sets forth the names of the current members of Astem Gestioni’s Board of
Statutory Auditors, their positions and principal activities outside Astem Gestioni.
Name
Emanuele Fasani

Position
Chairman

Roberto Quesami
Veronica De Angeli
Ferdinando Bertoglio
Luigina Bolognini

Statutory Auditor
Statutory Auditor
Alternate Auditor
Alternate Auditor

Principal activities outside Astem
Gestioni
Chairman of the Board of Statutory
Auditors of Parco Tecnologico Padano
S.r.l.
Statutory Auditor of EAL Compost S.r.l.
Statutory Auditor of Ecolevante
Statutory Auditor of SAL Società Acque
Lodigiana S.r.l.
Statutory Auditor of Astem

The current members of the Board of Statutory Auditors were appointed on 31 July 2013 for a
three-year term expiring at the date of the approval of Astem Gestioni’s financial statements as of
31 December 2015.
Conflicts of interest
So far as Astem Gestioni is aware, there are no potential conflicts of interests between any duties of
the members of the Board of Directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors and their private interests.
Employees
As at 30 June 2013, Astem Gestioni had 96 employees.

119

ECOLEVANTE
History and Development
Ecolevante is a joint stock company (società per azioni) incorporated under the laws of the Republic
of Italy on 30 October 1989 for a duration of up to 31 December 2030 (which may be extended by a
shareholders’ extraordinary resolution).
Ecolevante is registered at the Companies’ Register (Registro delle Imprese) of Brescia under
registration number 04064280722. Its registered office is at Via XXV Aprile 18, Rovato (BS), 25038,
Italy, and the telephone number of its registered office is +39 030 77141.
Business Overview
Linea Ambiente, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Issuer, holds an 85% shareholding in Ecolevante.
Ecolevante is exclusively responsible for the management of the waste disposal plant of Grottaglie, in
the province of Taranto, in southern Italy.
Public concessions
The waste disposal areas are divided in three waste lots:
•

Two lots which have been cultivated from 9 September 1999 to 3 November 2008 — currently
the lots are temporarily covered; and

•

One lot activated on 18 August 2008: composed of six functionally independent compartments
(for the period from 2008 to 2011, the first, second and third compartments have been receiving
waste one after the other); an overall capacity of m3 gross has been authorised for this lot by
means of Environmental Integrated Authorisation (Autorizzazione Integrata Ambientale) no. 426
of 3 July 2008.

Other
Linea Ambiente purchased its 85% shareholding in Ecolevante from two private individual
shareholders in 2011.
Subsidiaries
Ecolevante has no subsidiaries.
For further information on Ecolevante’s position within the Group, see “Description of the Issuer –
Subsidiaries and Associated Companies”.
Share Capital
As at 31 December 2012, Ecolevante had an issued and fully paid-up share capital of €1,150,000.00.
Shareholders
As at the date of this Prospectus, Ecolevante’s share capital is owned as follows:
Name
Linea Ambiente ........................................
Giuseppe Settanni ....................................
Total ..........................................................

Percentage of ordinary shares

No. of ordinary shares
85%
15%
100%
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977,500
172,500
1,150,000

On 1 July 2011 Linea Ambiente and Mr. Settanni entered into a shareholders’ agreement (the
“Ecolevante Shareholders’ Agreement”), having a duration of five years, the main provisions of
which are summarised below:
•

Put and call options: Linea Ambiente and Mr. Settanni hold a call and put option, respectively,
on the 15% shareholding currently owned by Mr. Settanni. Each option can be exercised by the
relevant party between 1 July 2014 and 30 June 2015. Should Mr. Settanni exercise his put
option, he would be bound by a non-competition undertaking for a period of five years following
the exercise of the put option;

•

Restrictions on the sale of shares: there is a lock-up provision for the entire duration of the
Ecolevante Shareholders’ Agreement, by means of which either party cannot transfer its
shareholding, unless within the LGH Group;

•

Tag-along: Should a third party wish to purchase Linea Ambiente’s shareholding in Ecolevante,
Mr. Settanni has a right to sell its shareholding to the same third party; and

•

Board of Directors: Mr. Settanni has the right to appoint one Director of Ecolevante.

An addendum to the Ecolevante Shareholders’ Agreement was entered into on 31 July 2013, pursuant
to which should a Board of Directors of Ecolevante be appointed, Mr. Settanni will have the right to
appoint one member if the Board of Directors is composed of three members or to appoint two
members if the Board of Directors is composed of five members. The Chairman of the Board of
Directors will in any event be appointed by Linea Ambiente.
Management
Board of Directors
The following table sets forth the names of the current members of Ecolevante’s Board of Directors,
their positions and principal activities outside of Ecolevante.
Name
Alessandro Conter

Position
Chairman

Franco Mazzini

Director

Luca Filippi
Giuseppe Settanni
Roberta Busi

Director
Director
Director

Principal activities outside
Ecolevante
Chairman of the Board of Directors of
LGH
Chairman of the Board of Directors of
Lomellina Energia
Director of MF Waste
CEO of LGH
Director of Linea Più
Director of Blugas Infrastrutture
Director of AEM Cremona
Director of ASM Pavia
-

The current members of the Board of Directors were appointed on 22 October 2013 and the Chairman
was appointed by the Board of Directors on 30 October 2013, for a three-year term expiring at the
date of the approval of Ecolevante’s financial statements as of 31 December 2015.
Board of Statutory Auditors
The following table sets forth the names of the current members of Ecolevante’s Board of Statutory
Auditors, their positions and principal activities outside Ecolevante.
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Name
Gianpiero Capoferri

Position
Chairman

Gianpaolo Magnini
Ferdinando Bertoglio
Lorenza Marchesi

Statutory Auditor
Statutory Auditor
Alternate Auditor

Marco Bonandrini

Alternate Auditor

Principal activities outside
Ecolevante
Alternate Auditor of Linea Più
Alternate Auditor of Linea Energia
Alternate Auditor of Astem Gestioni
Chairman of the Board of Statutory
Auditors of Linea Ambiente
Director of Cogeme
Statutory Auditor of Linea Ambiente

The current members of the Board of Statutory Auditors were appointed on 1 July 2011 for a
three-year term.
Conflicts of interest
So far as Ecolevante is aware, there are no potential conflicts of interests between any duties of the
members of the Board of Directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors and their private interests.
Employees
As at 30 June 2013, Ecolevante had 22 employees.
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GREENAMBIENTE
History and Development
Greenambiente is a limited liability company (società a responsabilità limitata) incorporated under
the laws of the Republic of Italy on 7 October 2004 for a duration of up to 31 December 2050 (which
may be extended by a shareholders’ extraordinary resolution).
Greenambiente is registered at the Companies’ Register (Registro delle Imprese) of Siracusa under
registration number 01486690892. Its registered office is at Ex SS 114 c.da Petraro 12, Priolo
Gargallo (SR), 96010, Italy, and the telephone number of its registered office is +39 030 77141.
Business Overview
Greenambiente, a subsidiary of the Issuer, is a company operating in the waste management sector.
Greenambiente is responsible for the collection and disposal of waste, as well as for the design and
construction of controlled landfill, recycling systems and for energy recovery. In particular, it owns
and directly manages the waste disposal plant of municipal solid waste in Augusta (SR), in Sicily, in
southern Italy.
Public concessions
The waste disposal activity carried out in lot 1 of the plant’s landfill commenced in 2007, following
the obtainment of an approval (nulla osta) issued by the Province of Siracusa on 17 August 2007, by
means of Officer’s Determination (Determinazione Dirigenziale) No. 134.
The waste disposal activity carried out in lot 2 of the plant’s landfill commenced in 2008 following
the obtainment of an approval (nulla osta) issued by the Province of Siracusa on 21 April 2008, by
means of Officer’s Determination (Determinazione Dirigenziale) No. 80/Sett. XII.
The project provides for a total capacity of disposal of 965,626 m3 of waste, for a period of activity of
about five years (2007-2012), with a total estimated disposal of 135,000 tonnes per annum.
Subsidiaries
Greenambiente has no subsidiaries.
For further information on Greenambiente’s position within the Group, see “Description of the Issuer
– Subsidiaries and Associated Companies”.
Share Capital
As at 31 December 2012, Greenambiente had an issued and fully paid-up share capital of €50,000.00.
Shareholders
As at the date of this Prospectus, Greenambiente’s share capital is owned as follows:
Name
LGH ..........................................................
Ekotrans S.r.l. ...........................................
Total..........................................................

Percentage of shareholding

Amount of the shareholding
80%
20%
100%

40,000
10,000
50,000

Management
Board of Directors
The following table sets forth the names of the current members of Greenambiente’s Board of
Directors, their positions and principal activities outside of Greenambiente.
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Name
Vito Falgares
Gianluca Delbarba
Alessandro Galli

Position
Chairman
Director
Director

Principal activities outside Greenambiente
-

The current members of the Board of Directors were appointed on 21 July 2011 for a three-year term
expiring at the date of the approval of Greenambiente’s financial statements as of 31 December 2013.
Board of Statutory Auditors
The following table sets forth the names of the current members of Greenambiente’s Board of
Statutory Auditors, their positions and principal activities outside Greenambiente.
Name
Giampaolo Chirichelli

Position
Chairman

Alessandra Vaiani

Statutory Auditor

Silvano Mombelli

Statutory Auditor

Ezio Codenotti

Alternate Auditor

Giovanna Prati

Alternate Auditor

Principal activities outside Greenambiente
Chairman of ASM Pavia
Chairman of the Board of Statutory Auditors
of Linea Com
Member of the Board of Auditors (Collegio
dei Revisori dei Conti) of the Municipality of
Crema
Statutory Auditor of Federazione Provinciale
COLDIRETTI of Brescia
Chairman of the Board of Statutory Auditors
of Cogeme
Statutory Auditor of Cogeme

The current members of the Board of Statutory Auditors were appointed on 31 July 2013 for a
three-year term expiring at the date of the approval of Greenambiente’s financial statements as of
31 December 2015.
Conflicts of interest
So far as Greenambiente is aware, there are no potential conflicts of interests between any duties of
the members of the Board of Directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors and their private interests.
Employees
As at 30 June 2013, Greenambiente had 14 employees.
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LINEA PIÙ
History and Development
Linea Più is a joint stock company (società per azioni) incorporated under the laws of the Republic of
Italy on 28 June 2002 for a duration of up to 31 December 2050 (which may be extended by a
shareholders’ extraordinary resolution).
Linea Più is registered at the Companies’ Register (Registro delle Imprese) of Pavia under registration
number 01275720199. Its registered office is at Via Donegani 21, Pavia (PV), 27100 Italy, and the
telephone number of its registered office is +39 0382 434611.
Business Overview
Linea Più, a wholly owned subsidiary and a SOB of the Issuer, is in charge of the sales network. In
particular, it is involved in the sale of gas and electricity. It also carries out the photovoltaic business
through the design, sale, installation and maintenance of photovoltaic plants.
Financing
The main financing agreements to which Linea Più is a party, as borrower, are:
•

Syndicated loan agreement between the Issuer and Banca IMI S.p.A., as agent bank, for an
amount of €50,000,000, which was drawn down on 14 March 2013, is repayable in 16
instalments, and is due to expire on 31 December 2017. In particular, Linea Più is one of the
borrowers for an amount of €10,000,000; and

•

Syndicated loan agreement between the Issuer and Banca Infrastrutture Innovazione e
Sviluppo S.p.A., as agent bank, for an amount of €130,000,000, which was drawn down on
1 July 2010, is repayable in 16 instalments, and is due to expire on 30 June 2015. In
particular, Linea Più is one of the borrowers, for an amount of €31,000,000.

Other
The key events for Linea Più in 2012 may be summarised as follows:
•

Purchase from AEM Gestioni of the gas and electricity front office staff (i.e. employees
dealing directly with customers) in the province of Cremona;

•

Purchase from Astem Gestioni of the gas and electricity front office staff (i.e. employees
dealing directly with customers) in the province of Lodi; and

•

Purchase from Cogeme Gestioni of the gas and electricity front office staff (i.e. employees
dealing directly with customers) in the city of Rovato.

Subsidiaries
Linea Più has a 99.6% shareholding in STeAM, a company involved in the management of
cogeneration plants and of the district heating network of Rho.
Linea Più has a minority shareholding in the following companies:
•

a 49% shareholding in ASM Codogno S.p.A.: ASM Codogno is a multi-utility company in the
city of Codogno (about 15,000 inhabitants), mainly operating in urban waste collection, and
gas distribution and sale (through its subsidiary ASMU Codogno); and

•

a 4.03% shareholding in Gestione Multiservice Soc. Cons. A.R.L., a facilities management
company.
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For further information on Linea Più’s position within the Group, see “Description of the Issuer –
Group Structure”.
Share Capital
As at 31 December 2012, Linea Più had an issued and fully paid-up share capital of €5,000,000.00
consisting of 50,000 ordinary shares of €100 each.
Shareholders
Linea Più is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Issuer.
Management
Board of Directors
The following table sets forth the names of the current members of Linea Più’s Board of Directors,
their positions and principal activities outside of Linea Più.
Name
Carlo Alberto Conti
Franco Mazzini

Position
Chairman
Director

Rosaria Pedercini

Director

Claudio Benelli
Giovanni Soffiantini

Director
Director

Principal activities outside Linea Più
Employee of the Province of Pavia
Chief Executive Officer of LGH
Director of Blugas Infrastrutture
Director of AEM Cremona
Director of Linea Energia
Director of Linea Ambiente
Director of Linea Energia
General Manager of S.C.R.P. S.p.A.
Director of LGH
Director of Astem Gestioni
Sole Director of Società Immobiliare
Cremasca
Procurator/Techinical Director of Consorzio
Informatica Territorio

The current members of the Board of Directors were appointed on 3 June 2013 for a three-year term
expiring at the date of the approval of Linea Più’s financial statements as of 31 December 2015.
Board of Statutory Auditors
The following table sets forth the names of the current members of Linea Più’s Board of Statutory
Auditors, their positions and principal activities outside of Linea Più.
Name
Davide Antonio Ceresoli

Position
Chairman

Lanfranco Bolasco

Statutory Auditor

Giulio Francesco Riva

Statutory Auditor

Umberta Teresita Bianchessi

Alternate Auditor

Principal activities outside Linea Più
Vice Chairman of the Board of
Directors and Chief Executive Officer
of Cogeide S.p.A.
Sole Auditor of Azienza Speciale
Servizi di Formazione Provinciale di
Cremona
Chairman of the Board of Statutory
Auditors of Grandovere Depurazione
S.r.l.
Chairman of the Board of Statutory
Auditors of S.C.R.P. S.p.A.
Statutory Auditor of LGH
Statutory Auditor of Linea Com
Alternate Auditor of Linea
Distribuzione
Alternate Auditor of Linea Energia
Alternate Auditor of Linea Più
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Giampiero Capoferri

Alternate Auditor

Chairman of the Board of Statutory
Auditors of Ecolevante
Alternate Auditor of Linea Energia

The current members of the Board of Statutory Auditors were appointed on 28 July 2011 for a
three-year term expiring at the date of the approval of Linea Più’s financial statements as of
31 December 2013.
Conflicts of interest
So far as Linea Più is aware, there are no potential conflicts of interests between any duties of the
members of the Board of Directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors and their private interests.
Employees
As at 30 June 2013, Linea Più had 92 employees.

127

REGULATION
EU and Italian laws heavily regulate the Group’s core energy and waste management businesses and
may affect the Group’s operating profit or the way it conducts business. The principal legislative and
regulatory measures applicable to the Group are summarised below. Although this summary
contains the principal information that the Issuer considers material in the context of the issue of the
Notes, it is not an exhaustive account of all applicable laws and regulations and might need
explanations of details. Prospective investors and/or their advisers should make their own analysis of
the legislation and regulations affecting the Group and of the impact it may have on an investment in
the Notes and should not rely on this summary only.
Electricity and Gas Business
On 14 August, 2009, the European institutions adopted the so-called “third energy package”
consisting of a set of several directives and regulations1 aimed at completing the liberalization process
of both the electricity and the gas market.
The main provisions of the third energy package concern the separation of production and supply
activities from transmission network operations. To achieve this goal, Member States of the
European Union have to choose between the following options:
(i)

full ownership unbundling, which entails that vertically integrated undertakings sell their gas
and electricity grids to an independent operator entrusted to carry out all network operations;

(ii)

Independent System Operator (“ISO”), which entails that vertically integrated undertakings
maintain the ownership of the gas and electricity grids, but are obliged to nominate an
independent operator for the management of all network operations; and

(iii)

Independent Transmission Operator (“ITO”). This option is a variant of the ISO option under
which vertically integrated undertakings do not have to designate an ISO, but have to abide by
strict rules ensuring separation between supply and transmission activities.

The third energy package also provides for several measures aimed at ensuring that the new
liberalisation regime is not detrimental to vulnerable energy consumers and also aimed at specifically
enhancing consumers’ rights, such as the right (i) to change a supplier within three weeks from the
request and free of charge, (ii) to obtain compensation if quality targets are not met, (iii) to receive
information on supply terms through bills and company websites and (iv) to see complaints dealt with
in an efficient and independent manner.
Finally, the third energy package provides for the creation of a European Union agency for the
coordination of national energy regulators, which will issue non-binding framework guidelines for the
national agencies thereby facilitating the harmonisation of energy regulation across the European
Union.
In Italy the principles provided under the third energy package (in particular, EU Directives
2009/72/EC, 2009/73/EC and 2008/92/EC) have been transposed by means of Legislative Decree
No. 93 of 1 June 2011 and by means of several resolutions adopted by the Italian Natural Gas and
Electricity Authority (“Autorità per l’Energia Elettrica ed il Gas” or “AEEG”), the independent body
which regulates, controls and monitors the electricity and gas markets in Italy. The AEEG has been
established by Law No. 481 of 14 November 1995, with the purpose of “protecting the interests of

1

Among such directives and regulations it is worth mentioning Regulation (EC) No. 713/2009, which creates
an Agency for cooperation between national energy regulatory authorities, Directives No. 2009/72/EC and
No. 2009/73/EC on electricity and natural gas and Regulations (EC) No. 714/2009 and No. 715/2009 on
access to transmission and transport infrastructures.
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users and consumers, promoting competition and ensuring efficient, cost-effective and profitable
nationwide services with satisfactory quality levels”. The AEEG mission includes “defining and
maintaining a reliable and transparent tariff system, reconciling the economic goals of operators with
general social objectives, and promoting environmental protection and the efficient use of energy. It
provides an advisory and reporting service to the government and parliament, and formulates
observations and recommendations concerning issues in the regulated sectors of electricity and gas”.
For the sake of completeness, in the light of European regulation principles and fair completion
principles, it is worth noting that AEEG introduced the first unbundling regulation in the Italian
natural gas and electricity markets in 2003, prior to the adoption of the so-called “third energy
package”.
The main provisions of Legislative Decree 93/2011 and of the relevant AEEG resolutions, amongst
others, provide for the following:
(a)

Unbundling of the Transmission System Operator (the “TSO”). In particular:
-

in the electricity sector, the unbundling between grid ownership and generation
activity has been confirmed and the TSO may not operate power generation plants.
In addition, the TSO in the electricity sector is not only independent and separated
from the other players of the market, including the local distribution activities, but it
also owns the quality of concessionaire of the national transmission and dispatching
grid (subject to fair access and transparency principles regulation, as better detailed
below);

-

in the natural gas sector, the unbundling between grid ownership and selling/purchase
activities has been also confirmed. In addition, the TSO in the natural gas sector is
not only independent and separated from the other players of the market, including
the local distribution activities, but it also owns the national transmission and
balancing grid (subject to fair access and transparency principles regulation, as better
detailed below); and

-

in both cases, functional, accounting and administrative separation rules and wider
control and approval powers have been assigned to the AEEG (together with the
national antitrust authority).

(b)

Integration of renewable energy sources generation into the electrical system.

(c)

Confirmation of the AEEG resolutions’ provisions with respect to fair and transparent
principles of access to the grid, on the one hand, and exemption from the third party access
(“TPA”) obligation, on the other hand, to the new interconnection infrastructure. In
particular:
-

with reference to the electricity sector, the duration of the exemption from the TPA
obligation (for a maximum of 50 per cent. or 80 per cent. of new capacity) will be set
on a case-by-case basis and the exemption will elapse if the relevant works are not
started or the relevant infrastructure has not entered into operation within the time
limit set out in the relevant exemption measure; and

-

with reference to the natural gas sector, in addition to the time limit provided by the
relevant exemption measure, the new rules provide for a 25-year cap for the duration
of the exemption and for the activation of an open season procedure in order to assess
the interest of third parties in the relevant infrastructure notwithstanding the TPA
exemption.
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Italian Energy Regulation
The Ministry for Economic Development (“MED”) and the AEEG share the responsibility for overall
supervision and regulation of the Italian electricity sector. In particular, the MED establishes the
strategic guidelines for the electricity sector, while the AEEG sets the regulations concerning specific
and technical matters. The AEEG, inter alia:
(a)

sets electricity and gas distribution tariffs, as well as the price for previously regulated (or
“captive”) customers, which have not yet chosen a different supplier;

(b)

establishes guidelines for the production and distribution of services, as well as specific and
overall service standards and automatic refund mechanisms for users and consumers in cases
where standards are not met and for the accounting and administrative unbundling of the
various activities under which the electricity and gas sectors are organised;

(c)

in order to safeguard the customers, interest, monitors the conditions under which the services
are provided, has inspection powers and may access plants and request documentation and
data exhibition from operators, and applies sanctions and fines also determining when the
operators must provide refunds to users and consumers;

(d)

handles out-of-court settlements and arbitrations of disputes between users or consumers and
service providers;

(e)

provides and updates a specific set of rules to protect the final customers with respect to the
transparency of the prices applied as well as to a minimum set of rights the same final client
must be entitled with towards the supplier;

(f)

reports to the Italian Antitrust Authority (the “AGCM”) any suspected infringements of
antitrust law by companies operating in the electricity and gas sectors;

(g)

removes obstacles to the access of new operators to the electricity and gas market; and

(h)

imposes severe fines (calculated as a percentage on the yearly turnover of the operator) to any
market operator resulting in breach of any regulation approved by the AEEG.

In addition to the AEEG, the AGCM also plays an active role in the energy market by safeguarding
and monitoring competition between suppliers and protecting the right of the clients to choose their
suppliers.
1.

Electricity

1.1

Production
Electricity production has been liberalised since 1 January 2003. Pursuant to Article 8 of the
Legislative Decree No. 79 of 16 March 1999 (the “Bersani Decree”, which implements
Directive 96/92/EC), in order to increase the level of competition in the market, no single
electricity generation company is allowed to generate or import, directly or indirectly, more
than 50 per cent. (calculated as an average over three years) of the total electricity generated
in and imported into Italy. Any operator which exceeds such threshold can incur severe fines
imposed by the AGCM pursuant to article 15 of Decree Law No. 287 of 10 October 1990.
Permits and authorisations are still required for building electricity production plants and vary
according to which kind of electricity production plant is to be installed and in which location.
1.1.1

Hydroelectric Generation
A special concession regime is provided by the Bersani Decree for hydroelectric
power plants (i.e. those with an average nominal power higher than 3 MWs) which
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require large-scale diversions of water for hydroelectric generation. These plants are
built and operate on the basis of ad hoc concessions assigned and granted by the
competent Region through a public tender procedure.
By way of Law Decree No. 83 of 22 June 2012 (the “Development Decree”), the
Italian government issued certain regulations which affect the way in which tenders
are carried out. More specifically, Article 37 of the Development Decree, which
amends Article 12 of the Bersani Decree, provides that five years prior to the
expiration of a large water concession, the competent authority shall launch a public
tender for the assignment, subject to the payment of consideration, of such large
water concession, in accordance with local regulations and the fundamental principles
of competition protection, freedom of establishment, transparency and
non-discrimination. Such new concession shall be granted for a period of 20 years,
up to a maximum of 30 years, depending on the required level of investment.
In addition, in relation to large water concessions which either have already expired
or are due to expire earlier than 31 December 2017 (in relation to which the aforementioned five-year limit would not be applicable), the new provisions have
established a special transitional regime, under which the relevant tenders must be
called within 2 years of the effective date of the implementing ministerial decree (as
per Article 12, paragraph 2 of Legislative Decree No. 79 of 16 March 1999), and the
new concession will start at the end of the fifth year following the original expiry date
and in any case no later than 31 December 2017.
Article 37 of the Development Decree further establishes that the outgoing
concession holder has to transfer to any new concession holder its relevant division in
exchange for a consideration previously determined and agreed upon by the parties to
the transaction.
1.2

Transport and Dispatching
Electricity transmission and dispatching activities, which include the management and
maintenance of the national transmission grid, are characterised by a condition of natural
monopoly since they serve the purpose of carrying through highest and high voltage lines of
the electricity produced by power plants and the imported electricity to the areas of
consumption, where it will be available for end users after being processed at a lower voltage.
The concession for transmission and dispatching activities has been granted by means of
MED Decree of 20 April 2005, as subsequently amended by MED Decree of
15 December 2010, to Terna S.p.A. (“Terna”), a listed company whose largest shareholder is
Cassa Depositi e Prestiti S.p.A., a state-owned financial institution.
Pursuant to Article 3 of the Bersani Decree and the TPA principles, Terna has to connect to
the network all parties who request connection. The AEEG establishes the rules and
regulations necessary for ensuring equal conditions of access to the network to all parties,
though priority to the use of renewable and cogeneration source electricity is given.
In this respect, a full set of rules, complying with the EU regulation (and in particular with the
TPA) is set under the code for transmission, dispatching, developing and security of the grid
(the “Grid Code”). The Grid Code is in force since 1 November 2005 and is applied in
relations between Terna and grid users. It has been drafted and issued by Terna pursuant to
the Prime Minister Decree dated 11 May 2004 and to the AEEG provisions set forth by
AEEG Resolution No. 250 of 30 December 2004, which address unification between
ownership and management of the grid. The Grid Code has then been approved through
AEEG Resolution No. 79 of 29 April 2005 and AEEG Resolution No. 49 of 3 March 2006. It
undergoes periodic updating, in accordance with the procedures of the same Grid Code.
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1.3

Distribution
Distribution service concerns the medium and low voltage networks, which provides
electricity to end users (mainly for housing needs and small production needs). The Bersani
Decree provides that distribution services shall be performed on the basis of concessions
issued by the former Ministry of Industry (now the MED). The operators holding concessions
have de facto authority to manage the service on a monopolistic basis in their area of
competence. Pursuant to Article 9 of the Bersani Decree, concessions granted by
31 March 2001 to distributors operating at the date of enactment of the same Bersani Decree
shall be in force until 31 December 2030; from then on, new concessions shall be granted
through public tenders.
The distribution companies are required to connect to their networks all parties who request
connection, provided that the technical rules and resolutions adopted by the AEEG are
complied with, without compromising the continuity of the service and in compliance with
the applicable technical regulations and provisions. In particular, on the basis of the same
principles grounding the Grid Code, the AEEG has published and approved a standard
distribution code which shall be applied and used by local distribution companies and regulate
their relationship with the users of the medium and low voltage networks.
Moreover, the AEEG has set a strict regulation concerning functional and accounting
unbundling in order to guarantee the independence between distribution and the other
activities related to the electricity business.

1.3.1

The New Tariff structure for transmission, distribution and metering
The AEEG established a tariff regime that came into effect on 1 January 2000. This regime
replaced the “cost plus” system for tariffs with a new “price-cap” tariff methodology. The
price-cap mechanism sets a limit on annual tariff increases corresponding to the difference
between the target inflation rate and the increased productivity attainable by the service
provider, along with any other factors allowed for in the tariff, such as quality improvements.
Under the price-cap methodology, tariffs will be reduced by a fixed percentage each year
encouraging regulated operators to improve efficiency and gradually passing savings onto end
customers.
By way of Resolution ARG/elt No. 199/11, the AEEG adopted the consolidated text of
provisions to regulate the transmission and distribution of electricity (“TIT”) and the
consolidated text of provisions regulating the supply of the Electricity Metering Service
(“TIME”) for the fourth regulatory period (2012 - 2015).
In relation solely to the tariff adjustment for metering services, variations with respect to the
previous regulatory period were included in the return on invested capital (set at 7.6 per cent.
per annum), in the value of the X-factor (the coefficient of recovery for efficiency imposed by
the regulator, set at 7.1 per cent. per annum) and also in revenue equalisation for low voltage
metering services. With reference to the distribution service, many of the tariff regulation
schemes already in force during the previous regulatory period were maintained, in particular:
(a)

the adoption of tariff decoupling, which requires a mandatory tariff to be applied to
end users and a reference tariff for the definition of revenue restrictions, specific by
operator, calculated on the basis of the number of users (“PoD”);

(b)

the application of the profit-sharing method for the definition of initial operating cost
levels to be recognised in the tariff;
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(c)

the updating of the tariff quota covering operating costs through the price-cap
method, setting the annual objective for increased productivity (X-factor) at
2.8 per cent. for distribution activities;

(d)

the evaluation of invested capital using the re-valued historical cost method;

(e)

the definition of the rate of return on invested capital through weighted average cost
of capital (“WACC”) (the rate set for 2012 - 2013 is 7.6 per cent. for investments
made up to 31 December, 2011 and 8.6 per cent. for investments made subsequent to
that date); and

(f)

the calculation of depreciation on the basis of the useful lives valid for regulatory
purposes.

The rules envisage incentives, using differentiated WACCs (+1.5/+2.0 per cent.) and for a
minimum of eight years to a maximum of twelve, for specific types of investments in the
distribution network, such as those relating to the construction of new transformer stations,
investments in replacing existing transformers and smart grids, renewal and strengthening of
the medium voltage networks in the historic centres, and energy storage. Moreover, it is
worth mentioning that the WACCs system is currently undergoing a public consultation in
order to discuss possible modifications to such system.
Please consider that all the regulations briefly summarised above, also in the light of the
envisaged tender on new concessions, are subject to current review and possible amendments
by the AEEG, also in the light of the positions and comments to be expressed by the market
players (thus, with specific reference to the mechanism and criteria of acknowledgment of the
return on the investments the concessionaire should be awarded with).
1.4

Sale and purchase
Sale and purchase activities have been also liberalised by the Bersani Decree. Moreover,
pursuant to Article 1, paragraph 2 of Law No. 239 of 23 August 2004 (the “Marzano Law”),
no governmental licence, consent or permit is required to carry out electricity sale and
purchase activities.
Supply activity can be divided into wholesale and retail levels.
Wholesale transactions may be carried out over the counter, or may take place in the power
exchange market (please refer to the following section 1.7), or may consist of purchases by
the so-called Acquirente Unico S.p.A. (literally, the “Single Buyer”), which is the public
company is in charge of entering into supply contracts in order to guarantee the availability of
the necessary generating capacity and the supply of electricity in conditions of continuity,
security and efficiency of service of the entire system, as well as equal treatment, including
tariff treatment.
Retail supply is instead characterised by direct contracts with the end users and to such
transactions the contract rules for the safeguard of consumer rights also apply (i.e. Legislative
Decree of 6 September 2005, No. 206), in addition to the safeguard regulation and rules
approved by the AEEG.
Pursuant to Law Decree No. 73 of 18 June 2007, as of 1 July 2007, domestic end users have
the right to withdraw from their pre-existing electricity supply contracts according to the
procedures established by the AEEG which allow them to select a different electricity
provider. If the end user does not select a provider, domestic end users not supplied with
energy on the open market have a guaranteed supply from the distributor or the distributor’s
affiliate.
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For those end users that decide not to purchase electricity on the open market, the regulations
provide as follows:
(i)

households and small businesses that have fewer than 50 employees, lower than €10
million of turnover, and low levels of electricity consumption may access a regulated
market (“servizio di maggior tutela”) for which the AEEG establishes the electricity
tariffs;

(ii)

all other businesses not included under point (i) above have access only to the
“safeguarded service” (“servizio di salvaguardia”) which guarantees the necessary
supply of electricity, but usually at higher prices than market rates, in order to
incentivise these consumers to access the open market; and

(iii)

in both cases under points (i) and (ii) above, the price structure and its updating,
together with the standard of supply, are defined in detail by AEEG resolutions
(recently, AEEG Resolution No. 408/2013/R/eel, dated 26 September 2013, updated
as the economic conditions for the “servizio di maggior tutela” for the period
1 October 2013 – 31 December 2013).

Furthermore, it is worth noting that companies wishing to access the electricity network must
enter into a transportation agreement with the relevant distributor and (directly or indirectly)
with the national transmission grid operator.
With respect to such profiles, pursuant to the Grid Code, to gain access to such systems,
unless the relevant companies are entitled with particular financial soundness, such companies
have to make and deliver a bank guarantee covering the due performance of its payment
obligations.
1.5

Import and Export
The MED together with the AEEG are the authorities entrusted to determine the modalities
and the procedure which would allow the manager of the grid (Terna) to refuse access to the
grid for the electricity to be imported for an eligible customer in case the country where the
electricity has been produced doesn’t recognise the same qualification for the same type of
clients.
Article 10 of the Bersani Decree provides that the AEEG shall also issue measures addressing
the environmental and economic compatibility of the electricity imported from non-EU state
members taking into account reciprocity conditions.
By means of Resolution ARG/elt 162/2011, the AEEG enacted the provisions set out in the
Ministerial Decree of the MED dated 11 November 2011 concerning the rules for import and
export of electricity into/from the Italian border, as well as the management of congestions on
the interconnection network with the interested neighbouring countries, applicable starting
from year 2012, thus simplifying and pre-defining the terms and conditions of access on a
cross-border basis to the interconnection capacities (homogenising the European rules
amongst the different TSOs involved).
In particular, starting from 1 January 2012 the allocation of rights of utilisation of transport
capacity (“DCT”) shall be in accordance with a harmonised set of rules for the Central West
Europe Region, the Central South Europe Region and Switzerland (the “Access Rules”),
drafted collectively by the transmission system operators (the “TSOs”) of the countries
belonging to these regions (including Terna). The Access Rules are based on tender
procedures carried out for purposes of allocating the DCT (the “Auctions”) on a single
auction platform. Access Rules also regulate the access to Secondary Market trading.
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The auction platform is managed by CASC S.A. (Capacity Allocation Service Company),
which has been appointed by the TSOs as joint auction office (the “Joint Auction Office”).
Auctions concern DCT on a yearly, monthly or daily basis and are carried out as explicit
closed auctions, comprising a single round.
CASC S.A. has made available on its website specific rules for the allocation of intraday
capacity on north Italian borders (i.e. borders with France, Austria, Switzerland and
Slovenia). In particular, starting from 28 May 2013 such rules shall apply to cross-border
trading on the border with Austria.
Once the requirements for participating to the Auctions has been fulfilled, the applicant will
be entitled to submit one or more bids (the “Bids”) for DCT, pursuant to the conditions and
procedures set forth under the Access Rules. DCT, once awarded, can also be traded between
allowed operators on the secondary market.
On 3 January 2013 the Ministerial Decree of the MED dated 20 December 2012 aimed at
regulating terms and conditions for the import/export of electricity for the year 2013 was
published in the Official Gazette. In particular, the Decree at hand has, on one side, defined
the import/export transport capacity for year 2013 and, on the other side, confirmed that also
during 2013, the allocation of rights of utilisation of transport capacity shall be made on the
basis of the Access Rules.
1.6

Promotion of Renewable Resources

1.6.1

Green Certificates
Pursuant to Article 11 of the Bersani Decree, producers and importers introducing more than
100 GWh of electricity generated from conventional sources into the national transmission
grid in any year must, in the following year, introduce into the national transmission grid an
amount of electricity produced from renewable sources (“Renewable Obligation”).
Electricity from renewable sources may be produced directly or purchased from other
producers who have obtained tradable green certificates (“Green Certificates”) representing
a fixed amount of electricity certified as generated from plants powered by renewable sources
qualified as IAFR (“impianti a fonte rinnovabile”, literally plants fed by renewable sources)
by Gestore dei Servizi Energetici – GSE S.p.A., a state-owned company which promotes and
supports renewable energy sources in Italy (“GSE”).
According to Ministerial Decree of the MED dated 18 December 2008, plants qualified as
IAFR were entitled to receive Green Certificates for a certain number of years (up to 15
years).
The Green Certificates may be traded through bilateral contracts or in the Green Certificates’
market organised and managed by the GME. In case a producer is not able to, or decides not
to, sell its Green Certificates on the GME market nor through bilateral agreements, GSE is
obliged to purchase, at the producer’s request, the unsold Green Certificates.
Legislative Decree No. 28 of 3 March 2011 (“Decree No. 28”) heavily amended the above
mentioned Green Certificates regulation.
Pursuant to Decree No. 28, electric power produced during the 2011 - 2015 period by plants
entering into operation by 31 December 2012 will continue to be incentivised through the
Green Certificates mechanism in accordance with the current regulation. The only
amendments introduced by Decree No. 28 to the current Green Certificates mechanism,
besides the gradual cancellation of the obligation for traditional producers to buy Green
Certificates, affect the regime for withdrawal of unsold Green Certificates by GSE and, in
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particular, the price of withdrawal which will be equal to 78% of the price indicated under
Article 2, paragraph 148, of Law No. 244 of 24 December 2007 (i.e. the price of Green
Certificates put on the market by GSE, equal to the difference between €180 and the average
price of electric energy in the previous year recorded by AEEG).
As from 2016 the Green Certificates Mechanism will no longer be applicable.
The provisions of Decree No. 28 were further implemented by Ministerial Decree of the MED
of 6 July 2012, which applies to new, totally rebuilt, reactivated, repowered/upgraded or
renovated plants which will be commissioned on or after 1 January 2013.
The Ministerial Decree of the MED of 6 July 2012 provides for, inter alia, two separate
support schemes based on plant capacity and in connection with plants fed by renewables
which entered into operation from 2014 (i.e. Article 7 of the mentioned MED Decree):
-

all-inclusive feed-in tariff: for plants with a capacity of up to 1 MW;

-

incentive for plants with a capacity of above 1 MW.

The Ministerial Decree of the MED of 6 July 2012 specifies, for each year from 2013 to 2015,
a quota to be allocated as an incentive. The quota is divided by the type of source and the
plant.
The Ministerial Decree of the MED of 6 July 2012 identifies the value of the base feed-in
tariffs for each source, the type of plant and the capacity class for plants which will be
commissioned in 2013. The tariffs will decrease by 2% in each of the subsequent years until
2015. Such Ministerial Decree provides the following procedures for supporting electricity
generation:

1.6.2

-

participation in a competitive public auction for the plants with a capacity of more
than 5 MWs;

-

enrolment in a specific information register handled by GSE for plants with a
capacity of up to 5 MWs; and

-

direct access for plants, in accordance with Article 4, paragraph 3.

Photovoltaic power plants
Photovoltaic solar plants benefit from a feed-in premium tariff on top of the price of the
electricity generated (the so - called “Conto Energia”). The Conto Energia has been
regulated in previous years by several ministerial decrees (the so-called “First, Second,
Third and Fourth Conto Energia”). Currently, the incentive regime applying to solar plants
is provided for by the Ministerial Decree of the MED of 5 July 2012 (the so-called “Fifth
Conto Energia”). The feed-in tariffs set forth under the Fifth Conto have a comprehensive
nature, including both the incentive component and the remuneration of the electricity
produced.
GSE is entitled to conduct inspections on the plants and to revoke the incentives in case of a
discrepancy between the documentation and design submitted to the GSE within the
application for incentives and the works carried out, as well as in case of false statements
rendered by the operator to the GSE in order to achieve the incentives.
Please note that, pursuant to the current legislation in force, the maximum threshold of
incentives provided by the law and constituting all the Conto Energia has been reached and,
as a consequence, no further incentives for any new photovoltaic plant can be granted in the
future by the Italian Government through the GSE. This is to say that any operator in the
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Italian market which will submit new requests for feed-in tariffs to the GSE in relation to new
photovoltaic plants to be built will not be granted any incentive pursuant to the Conto
Energia.
1.6.3

CO2 Emissions
In the framework of the Kyoto Protocol, in 2003, the EU adopted Directive 2003/87/EC (the
“Emissions Trading Directive”) establishing a scheme for greenhouse gas emission
allowance trading, implemented in, Italy by Legislative Decree No. 216, dated 4 April 2006
(“Decree No. 216/2006”). This Decree also established the National Committee for the
management of the Emission Trading Directive — within the Ministry of Environment — as
the competent national authority.
Pursuant to the Emission Trading Directive, the power generation sector in Europe is required
to participate in the European Union Emissions Trading System, a market-based system for
reducing greenhouse gas emissions. Operators are expected to reduce their emissions by
21 per cent. by 2020. On 1 January 2013, the third phase of implementation of the Emissions
Trading Directive, expected to take place between 2013 and 2020, began.
This phase envisages a series of major changes introduced by Directive 2009/29/EC,
implemented in Italy by Legislative Decree No. 30, dated 13 March 2013 (“Decree
No. 30/2013”), which repealed the above-mentioned Decree No. 216/2006.
The main change regards the method for allocating emissions allowances. Under Decree
No. 30/2013, as from 2013, emission allowances — previously allocated for free — will be
auctioned. GSE is in charge of auctioning Italian emission allowances.
However, a certain portion of allowances will still be assigned free of charge, until 2020.
In this respect, Member States’ National Committees were required to submit to the EU
Commission a list of the installations admitted to the free allowances assignment, on the basis
of Directive 2003/87/EC, as modified. This process has been finalised through Commission
Decision 2013/448/EU which admitted all installations proposed by the Italian Committee to
the assignment of allowances free of charge.

1.7

Regulated markets
The Power Exchange is a marketplace managed by Gestore dei Mercati Energetici – GME
S.p.A. (the “Market Operator”) for spot trading of electricity between wholesalers. It began
operations on 1 April 2004. Producers can sell their electricity on the Power Exchange
Market (the “IPEX”), an electronic marketplace where the clearing price is obtained by the
intersection of electricity demand bids with supply offers submitted by participants to the
market. Alternatively, bilateral contracts may be stipulated. The IPEX is also a physical
market, where the schedules of electricity injections into and withdrawal from the power grid
are defined under an economic merit-order criterion.
The Single Buyer plays an important role in the market, since its goal is ensuring continuous,
secure, efficient and competitively-priced electricity supply to clients remaining in the
“Universal Service” regime (consisting, since 1 July 2007, of residential clients and small
business clients that have not chosen a supplier in the market), in order to enable them to reap
the benefits of the electricity liberalisation process. The Single Buyer is the largest
wholesaler in the market, purchasing about 30 per cent. of the total national demand. It
purchases electricity on the IPEX through bilateral contracts (including contracts for
differences) with producers, and imports electricity.
Other participants in the IPEX are producers, integrated operators, wholesalers and some
large electricity users. The AEEG and AGCM constantly monitor the IPEX to ensure that it
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reaches the expected goals concerning an increase in competition between electricity
producers and enhancing the efficiency of the Italian electricity system.
IPEX is divided into the Spot Electricity Market (which is in turn divided into Day-Ahead
Market, Intra-Day Market and Ancillary Services Market) and the Forward Electricity Market
(“FEM”) in which forward electricity contracts with physical delivery are traded. Alongside
the IPEX, there is the Electricity Derivatives Market (“IDEX”) where special derivative
instruments with electricity as the underlying asset are traded; IDEX is managed by Borsa
Italiana S.p.A.
2.

Natural Gas
By means of Legislative Decree No. 164 of 23 May 2000 as subsequently amended (the
“Letta Decree”), Italy implemented the Directive 1998/30/ECon liberalisation of the gas
sector, introducing competition into the Italian natural gas market through the liberalisation of
import, export, transport, dispatching, and sale of gas.
The liberalisation process was successively strengthened by Directive 2003/55/EC, which
introduced, on the one hand, stricter unbundling obligations on companies operating in the
gas transport, distribution and sale sectors and, on the other hand, incentives for new import
infrastructure.

2.1

Dispatching
Pursuant to Article 8 of the Letta Decree, natural gas transport and dispatching are considered
activities of public interest and are regulated accordingly. By means of Ministerial Decree of
the MED dated 22 December 2000, the National Gas Network has been outlined. Currently,
Snam Rete Gas S.p.A. (“SRG”) owns and operates 32.245 Km of pipelines in Italy as
declared by the same SRG.
By means of AEEG resolution No. 75 dated 1 July 2003, as amended, the AEEG issued the
“Gas Grid Code”, which provides for detailed rules and procedures concerning the
dispatching and balancing services in order to ensure the efficiency of the entire national
natural gas transmission grid. Based on the same principles implemented in the electricity
sector (i.e. transparency, TPA and fair access to the grid principles), the companies which
provide transport and dispatching services may not refuse to connect to the high-pressure
natural gas network users who are compliant with the AEEG rules. In particular, access may
be refused for one of the three following reasons: (i) lack of capacity or interconnection,
(ii) granting the access would prevent the undertaking from carrying out the public-service
obligations assigned pursuant to the applicable laws and regulations, and (iii) serious
economic and financial difficulties related to take-or-pay contracts entered into by the
undertaking before the Letta Decree.

2.2

Distribution
Pursuant to the Letta Decree, distribution is considered as a public service and may be carried
out only by companies which do not already provide other services in the gas sector, as sale,
dispatching or storage activities. Such service has been gradually opened to competition.
In particular, starting from 1 January 2003, local public governments (mainly municipalities)
were obliged to transform the local public entities (which, at that time, were the only
concessionaires of the distribution service) into private companies. However, for the first two
years after the transformation, the local public government could still be the sole shareholder
of these new companies, therefore maintaining direct public control on the distribution
activity.
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The distribution service is currently awarded by local governments on the basis of public
tenders for a term up to 12 years. Ministerial Decree of the MED dated 19 January 2011
indicates the minimum independent geographic areas which shall be singularly awarded by
the local governments. Ministerial Decree of the MED dated 12 November 2011, no. 226 sets
the relevant tender rules and criteria for awarding the local distribution concessions, detailing,
inter alia, tender timescales, composition of the commissioning body, requirements for
participation and redemption value.
Tenders are mandatory starting from 1 January 2006 for the concessions which had been
assigned before the enactment of the Letta Decree without a tender and were held by such
public companies; such concessions terminated on 1 January 2006 irrespective of the original
term of the concession and tender procedures have been held from then on. On the contrary,
starting on 31 December 2000, the 12-year term limit applies to concessions being awarded
before the enactment of the Letta Decree through a tenders.
Similar to the electricity distribution sector, the AEEG approved and published by means of
Resolution No. 108, dated 6 June 2006, the standard “Gas Distribution Network Code”, to
be adopted by any natural distribution company and which explains and lists the various
services and their required levels of performance which characterise the distribution service.
Among these it is worth mentioning: acceptance of the gas delivered by the client entitled to
pour gas in the distribution plant, transport of the accepted gas to the required delivery spots,
measurement of the accepted and transported gas, connection of the client to the gas network
and maintenance of the network under its competence. The Gas Distribution Network Code
is based on the same principles grounding the Grid Code; it shall be applied and used by local
distribution companies and it shall regulate their relationship with the users of the lowpressure natural gas networks.
Distribution companies are required to connect to their networks all parties who request
connection, provided that the technical rules and resolutions adopted by the AEEG under the
Gas Distribution Network Code are complied with, without compromising the continuity of
the service and in compliance with the applicable technical regulations and provisions.
The AEEG each year sets the relevant tariffs for the distribution service, which must be
applied by the distribution companies to the clients. AEEG Resolution dated
20 December 2012 No. 553/2012/R/gas sets the tariffs for year 2013 to be paid to the
distribution company by the clients.
Moreover, the AEEG has set a strict regulation concerning functional and accounting
unbundling in order to guarantee the independence between distribution and the other
activities related to the natural gas business.
2.3

Sale and purchase
Pursuant to the Letta Decree, as of 1 January 2003, companies that wish to sell gas to end
customers must obtain a licence from the Ministry of Productive Activities (now MED).
Such licence is issued on the basis of criteria set by MED, provided that the company meets
certain requirements (e.g. appropriate technical and financial capacity) and may only be
refused on objective and non-discriminatory grounds.
Pursuant to articles 17 and 18 of the Letta Decree, as amended by article 30 of Legislative
Decree No. 93 of 1 June 2011, companies which sell gas to end users have to enrol in a
dedicated list drafted by the MED.
From 1 January 2002, only companies that are not engaged in any other activity in the natural
gas sector, other than as importers, drillers or wholesalers, may sell gas.
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It is worth noting that companies wishing to access the gas network must enter into a
transportation agreement with the relevant distributor and (directly or indirectly) with the
natural gas dispatching and natural gas storage systems.
With respect to all the above profiles, pursuant to the Gas Grid Code, the Storage Code –
which has been issued by AEEG Resolution No. 119 dated 21 June 2005 - and the Gas
Distribution Network Code, the relevant companies have to deliver a bank guarantee covering
the performance of their payment obligations in order to gain access to all such systems Such
guarantee is not necessary only in the case where the companies wishing to carry out the
relevant activities prove to be financially sound on the basis of the criteria set forth in the
relevant Code.
By means of Resolution No. 71, dated 9 June 2011, the AEEG introduced a set of new rules
to limit the application of the economic conditions to residential customers, non-residential
customers with a consumption level below 50,000 cubic meters/year and users involved in
providing public assistance services. Moreover, by means of Resolutions No. 124/2013/r/gas
dated 28 March 2013 and No. 196/2013/r/gas dated 9 May 2013, AEEG introduced
modifications to the tariff regime so as to reduce costs for end customers and to adjust prices
to the current wholesale market transactions instead of taking into account long-term
contracts. In particular, such resolutions aim at clarifying the impact of the different cost
elements which compose the final amount of the tariff and at aligning the amount of each of
such cost elements to the cost of the service each is referred to. Invoices to final clients shall
explicitly show the amounts of such costs.
2.4

Import and Export
Pursuant to Article 3 of the Letta Decree, the import of gas concerning contracts with a
duration longer than one year are subject to an authorisation by the MED (the “Import
Authorisation”). The authorisation is granted to the companies which have fulfilled the
following requirements: (i) have sufficient technical and financial capacity compared to the
amount of gas to be imported; (ii) provide adequate information and guarantees on the origin
of the gas; and (iii) demonstrate reliability of the procurement source, of the cultivation plants
and of the transport system. The Import Authorisation is automatically granted if the MED
does not object to the issuance within three months from the filing of the request.
Moreover, Import Authorisations are subject to the condition that the importer offers on the
virtual regulated market called “PSV” (punto di scambio virtuale) — which is an electronic
billboard entirely managed by SRG — a quota of the imported gas, pursuant to the Ministerial
Decrees of the MED of 19 March 2008 and of 23 February 2012, which implemented
article 11, paragraph 2, of Law Decree No. 7 dated 31 January 2007, and AEEG Resolution
ARG/gas 20/11 (which provides further details on the economic criteria).
For the import of gas concerning contracts with a duration shorter than one year, instead of
the Import Authorisation, a thirty-day advance communication to the MED is required.
Importers and exporters must notify the MED on a monthly basis as to the amounts of gas
imported and exported to and from Italy, specifying countries of origin and, in case of
purchase at a hub, the average composition of the gas imported in the previous year.

2.5

Regulated markets
From 2002, operators can freely sell and purchase any quantity of natural gas on the PSV.
SRG is not a party to the transactions performed on the PSV system, but it has the duty to
(i) ensure third-party access to the infrastructure itself, and (ii) provide for a balancing service
specifically aimed at optimising the gas flows through SRG’s portion of the gas network for
balancing-related purposes. In such respect, article 3 of AEEG Resolution No. 22/04
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expressly qualifies the PSV as a “regulated marketplace for natural gas and transportation
capacity”.
Law No. 99, dated 23 July 2009, provided for the constitution of a market exchange for the
supply and sale of natural gas. It envisages that the Market Operator, in compliance with the
principles of transparency, competition and non-discrimination, would be designated as a
manager of the natural gas exchange market.
Accordingly, the Ministerial Decree issued by the MED on 18 March 2010 established the
trading platform for the import gas exchange (“P-Gas”), managed by the Market Operator in
compliance with the principles of transparency, competition and non-discrimination.
Afterwards, partially reproducing a structure similar to that already implemented in the
electricity market, in October 2010 a true gas exchange started with the GME taking on the
role of central counterparty (M-Gas platform, structured in day-ahead market — “MGP-Gas”
— and in an intraday market — “MI-Gas”).
In December 2011, the gas balancing market on the “PB-Gas” platform also started, managed
by GME and with SRG playing a role of central counterparty. The balancing market
introduces an ex-post gas exchange session aimed at balancing the whole gas system and,
accordingly, shipper positions (the part of the supply chain that produces or imports gas, or
buys it from domestic producers or other shippers) by buying or selling stored gas and
therefore exchanging physical quantities of gas. Through the central platform, accessible to
all operators, they may acquire, on the basis of economic merit, the resources required to
balance their positions and ensure the balance of the network, for the purposes of overall
system security.
Moreover, gas companies also participate in the TEE Market. For further details on such
topic, please refer to paragraph 3 below.
3.

Efficiency in the end usage of energy
The distribution companies of electricity and natural gas are required by the Bersani Decree to
undertake energy efficiency measures for the final user that are in line with pre-defined
quantity targets fixed by a MED decree.
An incentive mechanism has been implemented by Ministerial Decree of 20 July 2004 issued
by the MED, subsequently amended and updated by means of MED Decree
21 December 2007 and MED Decree 28 December 2012, which set the national energy
savings targets. The efficiency targets are mandatory and must be achieved by distribution
companies of electricity and natural gas on a yearly basis.
The energy savings targets for the 2013 - 2016 period have been set by the MED through its
Decree of 28 December 2012. Instead, pursuant to the same Decree, in case from
1 January 2017 the energy savings targets system ceases to be in force and no more energy
savings targets are determined, in such event, the GSE shall buy the TEEs (as defined below)
already issued or that will be issued on the basis of the efficiency projects already started, at a
price which shall be equal to 95% of the average price of the TEEs during the period
2013 - 2016. However, please note that further national legislation (yet to be discussed and
approved) implementing EU Directive No. 29/2009/EC, which sets efficiency goals up to year
2020, can still be enacted.
For the 2013 - 2014 period, only the minimum percentage achievement obligation has been
reduced from 60 per cent. to 50 per cent. The MED established that the residual obligation
can be covered over the subsequent two years (rather than in the following year, as provided
for under the previous Decrees).
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Penalties and fines are imposed on the distributors that do not deliver to the GSE a sufficient
number of TEEs by May 31 of each year proving the fulfilment of the mandatory energy
savings targets. To avoid such scenario, the obliged entities (i.e. distribution companies of
electricity and natural gas) can purchase on the market an amount of Energy Efficiency
Certificates (“TEEs”), also called “White Certificates”, corresponding to the portion of the
mandatory target not achieved on a yearly basis.
To feed this imposed, possible demand of TEEs from the entities obliged to achieve the
efficiency targets, any entity — whether subject to the above obligations or not — that
achieves specific energy saving goals by pursuing specific efficiency projects approved by the
competent authorities is entitled to receive from the GSE a number of TEEs proportional to
the efficiency result so gathered by implementing the relevant efficiency projects.
As a matter of fact, TEEs can be sold and purchased between companies (including to
distribution companies of electricity and natural gas that have not met their mandatory
targets). Such transactions are carried out by means of bilateral contracts or on a specific
market created and regulated by the GSE in agreement with the AEEG2.
Furthermore, through its Decree of 28 December 2012, the Ministry for Economic
Development introduced specific incentives to promote the production of thermal energy
from renewable resources, as well as small-scale energy efficiency initiatives.
The incentives, for which both government entities and private parties are eligible, are paid by
the GSE in equal annual instalments for a maximum of five years. Eligible projects include
improvements to the building outline (government entities only) as well as the installation of
heat pumps, thermal solar collectors and electric heat pump water heaters. Access to the
incentives requires meeting certain minimum requirements, broken down by type of
intervention.
The Decree of 28 December 2012 also charges the AEEG with specifying rates for the use of
electric heat pumps with a view to encouraging energy efficiency and reducing pollution
emissions.
4.

Regulations applicable to the supply of local public services
The relevant Italian legislation regarding public services of economic importance (such as the
waste management service) and the mechanisms available to local entities to award and
operate them was outlined by Article 113 of Legislative Decree No. 267 of 18 August 2000
(so-called “TUEL”).
The model provided under Article 113 of TUEL has been deeply reformed by Article 23-bis
of Law Decree No. 112 of 25 June 2008 (“Law Decree No. 112/2008”, converted with
amendments into Law No. 133 of 6 August 2008) which introduced a new discipline aimed at
opening public services to competition, in line with European liberalisation principles.
However, a national referendum held on 12 and 13 June 2011 repealed Article 23-bis of Law
Decree No. 112/2008.
Following the referendum, new legislation on the matter was adopted (Article 4 of Law
Decree No. 138 of 13 August 2011 — “Law Decree No. 138/2011” — converted into Law
No. 148 of 14 September 2011, as subsequently amended) which substantially reproduced the

2

From the year 2013, the GSE replaced the AEEG in the verification of efficiency projects and
acknowledgement of the TEE. These may also be sold and purchased on an ad hoc virtual trading platform
managed by the Market Operator (the “TEE Market”).
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provisions of the previous regulation abrogated by the referendum. For that reason, with
judgment No. 199 dated 20 July 2012, the Constitutional Court declared the illegitimacy of
Article 4 of Law Decree No. 138/2011.
Consequently, the regulation of public services of economic importance has been provided by
Law Decree No. 179 of 18 October 2012 (“Law Decree No. 179/2012”); however, it does not
apply to (i) gas, (ii) electricity, and (iii) municipal pharmacies.
With respect to local public services, Article 34, paragraphs 20 - 22 of Law Decree
No. 179/2012 provides that:
(a)

before granting the concessions, public entities (for the purpose of ensuring the
compliance with European principles and parity among operators) shall publish on
their websites a report clarifying the type of the award of the concession they have
chosen (i.e. the public bidding procedure for selecting a private company, the public
bidding procedure for selecting the private partner of a public-private company, and
the direct award to wholly-owned public companies) and the relevant reasons
underlying the choice;

(b)

with reference to the concessions existing as of the date of entering into force of the
decree (i.e. 20 October 2012) which do not comply with the requirements set out by
the European regulations, these concessions must be adjusted to such requirements by
31 December 2013 and the report mentioned under point (a) above must be published
by the same date; should the awarding authority fail in complying with this
obligation, the relevant concession shall cease at 31 December 2013;

(c)

with reference to those concessions which do not provide for an expiry date, the
competent awarding authority shall integrate the concession agreement with an expiry
date; should the awarding authority fail in providing an expiry date, the relevant
concession shall cease at 31 December 2013; and

(d)

concessions granted to companies whose shares were listed on a stock exchange prior
to 1 October 2003 (and to their subsidiaries) will terminate according to the terms
originally indicated in the concession agreement or in the other relevant acts; if no
specific expiry date is provided, the concession shall expire not later than
31 December 2020, and no formal resolution from the awarding authority will be
required in this respect.

As to the procedures for the assignment of local public services, Law Decree No. 179/2012
does not contain any specific provisions, except for the general principle according to which
the local public service must be assigned on a homogeneous territorial basis (“ambiti
territoriali ottimali e omogenei”). Therefore, considering that:
(i)

Article 23-bis of Law Decree No. 112/2008 has been repealed by the abovementioned referendum; and

(ii)

Article 113 of TUEL, for the part abrogated by Article 23-bis, cannot be revived,
according to Constitutional Court judgment No. 24/2011 (deciding on the
admissibility of the national referendum),

for the time being, public entities shall apply the principles and regulations provided for by
the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union and, in general terms, by EU Law and
relevant case law. In this respect, the relevant authority shall alternatively award the new
concession:
(1)

to private companies, selected by means of a public bidding procedure;
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(2)

directly to public-private companies, should the private partner be selected through a
tender having as its object (i) the award of the position as shareholder and, at the
same time, (ii) the award to the private shareholder of operational tasks connected to
the management of the service; and

(3)

directly to companies wholly owned by public entities if the sole purpose of such
companies is to supply services to those public entities and if the awarding authority
may exert over the concessionaire public company the same control that the authority
exerts over its offices and departments (so-called “in-house” companies).

4.1

Integrated Waste Management service

4.1.1

The Environmental Code
The Integrated Waste Management service consists of the activities carried out to optimise the
management of waste, including the collection, transportation, treatment and disposal of
waste, and the street sweeping.
Integrated Waste Management services are regulated by Legislative Decree No. 152 of
3 April 2006 (“Environmental Code”) which initially provided for the following principles:
(a)

segregated waste collection should achieve fixed goals in relation to certain
timeframes: 35 per cent. by 31 December 2006, 45 per cent. by 31 December 2008
and 65 per cent. by 31 December 2012;

(b)

each Region has been divided into various districts (“Ambiti territoriali Ottimali” or
“ATO”). A waste district authority (“Autorità di Ambito Territoriale Ottimale” or
“AATO”) has been established for each ATO, in order to organise, award and
supervise integrated urban waste management services;

(c)

the AATOs were entrusted with the task to draft a district plan of waste management,
in accordance with the criteria set out by the relevant regional government;

(d)

the municipalities’ responsibilities related to integrated waste management have been
transferred to the AATOs;

(e)

landfills should be phased-out as a disposal system for waste materials; and

(f)

a hierarchy of priority in waste management activities has been set forth by the
Environmental Code, in compliance with EU legislation and pursued through the
application of the “polluter pays” principle, which encourages reduction of waste
production and is aimed at ensuring its effective management:
(i)

preparation for reuse;

(ii)

recycling;

(iii)

recovery, including energy generation; and

(iv)

disposal.

With respect to the above-mentioned principles, the AATOs which were responsible for the
Integrated Waste Management service have been abolished since 31 December 2012, by
means of Law No. 42 dated 26 March 2010. The entity stepping into the role of the AATOs
shall be identified by each Region based on specific criteria of subsidiarity, adequacy and
differentiation.
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4.1.2

Integrated Waste Operator
The Environmental Code regulated the award of tenders for operating the Integrated Waste
Management service (in favour of a single operator for each ATO) by means of a competitive
procedure to be organised by the AATOs pursuant to Article 23-bis of Law Decree
No. 112/2008, as subsequently amended.
As mentioned above, AATOs have been abolished from 31 December 2012 and the Regions
were required to identify the entity responsible to carry out the role previously performed by
the AATOs in accordance with the principles of subsidiarity, differentiation and adequacy.
In addition, the national referendum held on 12 and 13 June 2011 (see previous paragraph 4),
repealed Article 23-bis of Law Decree No. 112/2008 which provided for the regulation of
public services of economic importance.
Consequently, in compliance with the legislation subsequently adopted (i.e. Law Decree
No. 179/2012), the procedures for awarding the waste services must comply with the
principles of the EU Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union and with the general
principles on public tender procedures including, in particular, the principles of economy,
efficacy, neutrality, transparency, proper advertising, non-discrimination, fairness of
treatment, mutual acknowledgment and proportionality.

4.1.3

Waste Tariff Mechanism
Article 14 of Law Decree No. 201/2011, converted into Law No. 214 of 22 December 2011,
establishes a new tax (so-called TARES - waste services tax) in all municipalities, effective as
of 1 January 2013, to cover the costs of urban and similar waste disposal services and the
costs relating to the municipalities’ indivisible services (such as public lighting, local police,
etc.).
Consequently, as of 1 January 2013, all withdrawals relating to the management of urban
waste previously applicable (so-called TIA1, TIA2 and TARSU) were eliminated.
The tax consists of:
-

a portion calculated in relation to the essential components of the service costs, which
mainly involve investments for works and related depreciation; and

-

a portion dependent on the quantity of waste handled, the service provided and the
extent of operating expenses, so as to ensure total coverage of the investment and
operating costs.

The municipalities which have realised system to measure the quantity of waste conferred to
the waste management service may provide for the application of a tariff instead of the above
mentioned tax. The tax must be paid to the municipality. However, the municipalities may
assign, up until 31 December 2013, the management of the tax (or of the tariff, if applicable)
to entities that, as at 31 December 2012, perform the waste management service and
assessment and collection of TARSU, TIA 1 or TIA 2, even separately.
4.2

Waste management under “free competition” regimes
The Environmental Code sets forth an extensive regulation of waste management activities.
Several obligations are established for all the subjects involved in the waste management
chain. Waste collectors, transporters, dealers and brokers must enrol in the National Register
of Environmental Operators (“Albo Nazionale Gestori Ambientali”). On the other hand, the
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activities of waste recovery and disposal are subject to an authorisation issued by the
competent Region.
In addition, specific management obligations are imposed on waste operators. In particular,
they must keep an unloading and uploading register, fill out a waste identification transport
form and submit to the competent Chamber of Commerce an annual environmental
declaration on the origin, classification and description of the waste produced (“Modello
Unico di Dichiarazione”).
Furthermore, it is worth mentioning that since 2009, the Italian legislator has issued rules and
regulations establishing that the paper-based traceability system for the transport of waste
(based on the waste identification transport forms) was to be replaced with a web-based
traceability system. To this end, waste operators must enrol in a traceability system called
SISTRI and periodically upload the relevant information regarding the transport of waste.
However, also due to technical difficulties, the entry into force of this system has been
postponed up until 1 October 2013 or 3 March 2014, depending on the activity which is
carried out.
The Environmental Code also provides administrative and criminal sanctions for the violation
of the above-mentioned regulation. In addition, waste regulation is tightly connected to the
discipline of clean-up procedures which applies, for example, in cases where an unlawful
management of waste leads to damage to the soil, subsoil or underground waters.
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TAXATION
Italian Tax Treatment of the Notes
The following is a general description of certain Italian tax considerations relating to the purchase,
the ownership and the disposal of Notes. It does not purport to be a complete analysis of all tax
considerations relating to the Notes and does not discuss every aspect of Italian taxation that may be
relevant to a holder of the Notes especially but not only if such holder is subject to special
circumstances or if such holder is subject to special treatment under applicable law. Prospective
purchasers of Notes should consult their own tax advisers as to which countries’ tax laws could be
relevant to acquiring, holding and disposing of the Notes and receiving payments of interest,
principal and/or other amounts under the Notes and the consequences of such actions under the tax
laws of those countries. This summary is based upon the law as in effect on the date of this Prospectus
and is subject to any change in law that may take effect after such date.
This summary is based upon Italian tax laws and practice in effect as at the date of this Prospectus,
which may be subject to change, potentially with retroactive effect. For Noteholders who are not
resident in Italy for tax purposes, applicable tax treaties may reduce or nullify the Italian withholding
tax rates set out below.
Italian Legislative Decree No. 239 of 1 April 1996, as amended and supplemented (“Decree
No. 239”), regulates the tax treatment of interest, premium and other income (including the difference
between the redemption amount and the issue price) (hereinafter collectively referred to as “Interest”)
from certain securities issued, inter alia, by Italian stock companies listed in a regulated market or
multilateral trading facility situated or operating in an EU country or in a white list country of the
European Economic Area. The provisions of Decree No. 239 apply to Notes issued by the Issuer that
qualify as obbligazioni (bonds) or titoli similari alle obbligazioni (securities similar to bonds)
pursuant to Article 44 of Presidential Decree No. 917 of 22 December 1986, as amended and
supplemented (“Decree No. 917”). A tax reform relating to income from securities and capital gains
was introduced by Law Decree No. 138 of 13 August 2011, converted into Law No. 148 of
14 September 2011, entered into force as from 1 January 2012 (“Decree No. 138”). Pursuant to
Decree No. 138, as from 1 January 2012, the maturity date of Notes is not relevant for the application
of the tax regime provided for by Decree No. 239. As a consequence the described tax treatment
applies irrespective as to whether or not the maturity date of the Notes exceeds 18 months.
Taxation of Interest
Italian resident Noteholders
Pursuant to Decree No. 239, as amended:
(a)

payments of Interest accrued as from 1 January 2012 are subject to a final imposta sostitutiva
at the rate of 20 per cent. if made to beneficial owners who are: (i) individuals resident in Italy
for tax purposes not holding the Notes in connection with entrepreneurial activities, unless
they have entrusted the management of their financial assets, including the Notes, to an
authorised intermediary and have opted for the Risparmio Gestito regime according to
Article 7 of Legislative Decree No. 461 of 21 November 1997 (see “Capital gains” below);
(ii) Italian resident partnerships (other than società in nome collettivo, società in accomandita
semplice or similar partnerships), de facto partnerships not carrying out commercial activities
and professional associations; (iii) Italian resident public and private entities, other than
companies and trusts, not carrying out commercial activities; and (iv) investors exempt from
Italian corporate income taxation.

In the event that the Noteholders described under (i) and (iii) above are engaged in entrepreneurial
activities to which the Notes are connected, the imposta sostitutiva applies as a provisional tax.
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(b)

payments of Interest in respect of Notes are not subject to imposta sostitutiva if made to
beneficial owners that are: (i) Italian resident corporations or permanent establishments in
Italy of non-resident entities to which the Notes are effectively connected; (ii) Italian resident
collective investment funds, Italian resident pension funds and Italian resident real estate
investment funds; (iii) Italian resident partnerships carrying out commercial activities (società
in nome collettivo or società in accomandita semplice); (iv) Italian resident individuals not
holding the Notes in connection with an entrepreneurial activity who have entrusted the
management of their financial assets, including the Notes, to an Italian authorised financial
intermediary and have opted for the Risparmio Gestito regime.

To ensure that payment of Interest in respect of Notes is made without the application of the imposta
sostitutiva, investors indicated in sub-paragraph (b) above must (i) be the beneficial owners of Interest
payments; and (ii) deposit the Notes and the relevant coupons (if any) in due time directly or
indirectly with an Italian authorised financial intermediary or a permanent establishment in Italy of a
foreign intermediary (hereinafter referred to as the “Intermediary” and collectively, the
“Intermediaries”).
Interest accrued on the Notes is included in the corporate taxable income (and in certain
circumstances, depending on the “status” of the Noteholders, also in the net value of production for
the purposes of regional tax on productive activities - IRAP) of beneficial owners who are Italian
resident corporations or Italian permanent establishments of foreign entities to which the Notes are
effectively connected, subject to taxation according to the ordinary rules and at the ordinary rates.
Italian resident collective investment funds (the “Funds”) would not be subject to imposta sostitutiva
provided that the Notes and the relevant coupons (if any) are deposited in a proper and timely manner
directly or indirectly with an Intermediary. In such case, Interest is included in the annual net accrued
result of the Fund, which may be subject to a withholding tax of 20 per cent. upon distribution to the
unitholders (final or on account depending on the status of the unitholder).
Italian pension funds subject to the regime provided by Article 17 of Legislative Decree No. 252 of
5 December 2005 (the “Pension Funds”) are generally subject to an 11 per cent. substitute tax on
their annual net accrued result. To the extent that the Notes and the relevant coupons (if any) are
deposited in a proper and timely manner directly or indirectly with an Intermediary, Interest on Notes
is not subject to imposta sostitutiva but is included in the calculation of said annual net accrued result.
Where a Noteholder is an Italian resident real estate investment fund to which the provisions of Law
Decree No. 351 of 25 September 2001, as subsequently amended, apply, Interest accrued on the Notes
is subject neither to imposta sostitutiva nor to any other income tax in the hands of the real estate
investment fund to the extent that the Notes and the relevant Coupons (if any) are deposited in a
proper and timely manner directly or indirectly with an Intermediary.
Non-Italian resident Noteholders
Interest in respect of Notes paid to non-Italian resident beneficial owners of the Notes with no
permanent establishment in Italy to which the Notes are effectively connected, are not subject to
imposta sostitutiva provided that:
(a)

such beneficial owners are resident, for tax purposes, in a white-listed State or territory
included in the list set forth by the Italian Ministerial Decree dated 4 September 1996, as
amended from time to time. According to Law No. 244 of 24 December 2007, a decree still to
be issued is proposed to introduce a new “white list” replacing the current one. Until the
mentioned new “white list” is issued, those counties which are listed in the Ministerial Decree
4 September 1996 as amended from time to time are deemed “white listed countries”; and
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(b)

all the requirements and procedures set forth in Decree No. 239 and in its implementation
rules in order to benefit from the exemption from imposta sostitutiva are met and complied
with in due time.

Decree No. 239 also provides for additional exemptions from imposta sostitutiva on Interest paid to
(i) international bodies or entities set up in accordance with international agreements which have
entered into force in Italy; (ii) institutional investors, whether or not subject to tax, established in a
State or territory allowing for an adequate exchange of information with Italy; and (iii) Central Banks
or other entities managing, inter alia, the official reserves of a foreign State.
To ensure that payment of Interest in respect of Notes is made without the application of imposta
sostitutiva, investors indicated above must (i) be the beneficial owners of Interest payments (or must
be certain non-Italian resident institutional investors); (ii) deposit in due time the Notes together with
the relevant coupons (if any) directly or indirectly with an Intermediary; and (iii) file in due time with
the relevant depository a declaration, in which they declare that they are eligible to benefit from the
applicable exemption from imposta sostitutiva (certain non-Italian resident institutional investors may
be required to file certain additional documentation). Such declaration is valid until withdrawn or
revoked and must not be submitted if a certificate, declaration or other similar document meant for
equivalent uses has been submitted previously to the same depository.
Payments made by a Guarantor
With respect to payments made to Italian resident Noteholders by a Guarantor, in accordance with one
interpretation of Italian tax law, any such payment made by the Guarantor could be treated, in certain
circumstances, as a payment made by the relevant Issuer and would thus be subject to the tax regime
described in the previous paragraph of this section.
Capital gains
Italian resident Noteholders
Pursuant to Legislative Decree No. 461 of 21 November 1997 (“Decree No. 461”) as amended, inter
alia, by Decree No. 138, a 20 per cent. Italian capital gains tax (“CGT”) is in certain cases applicable
to capital gains realised on the sale or transfer of the Notes for consideration or on redemption thereof.
For the purposes of determining the taxable capital gain, any Interest on the Notes accrued and unpaid
up to the time of, respectively, the purchase and the sale of the Notes must be deducted both from the
purchase price and the sale price.
The CGT is payable on capital gains realised by Italian resident individual Noteholders not engaged in
entrepreneurial activities to which the Notes are effectively connected. Such Noteholders can opt for
one of the three following regimes:
(a)

pursuant to the tax return regime (Regime della Dichiarazione), which is the standard regime,
the Noteholder has to assess the overall capital gains realised in a given fiscal year, net of any
relevant incurred capital losses, in his annual income tax return and pay CGT due on capital
gains so assessed together with the income tax due for the same fiscal year. Capital losses
exceeding capital gains can be carried forward to offset capital gains of the same kind in the
following fiscal years up to the fourth. Pursuant to Decree No. 138, only 62.5 per cent. of
capital losses incurred up to 31 December 2011 can be offset against capital gains realised
after 31 December 2011 (within the original time framework). As such regime constitutes the
ordinary regime, the Noteholder must apply it whenever he does not opt for any of the two
other regimes;

(b)

pursuant to the discretionary investment portfolio regime (Risparmio Amministrato regime),
the Noteholder may elect to pay CGT separately on capital gains realised on each sale,
transfer or redemption of the Notes. Such separate taxation of capital gains is allowed subject
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to (i) the Notes being deposited with an Intermediary and (ii) an express election for the
Risparmio Amministrato regime being made in due time in writing by the relevant
Noteholder. The Risparmio Amministrato lasts for the entire fiscal year unless revoked. The
Intermediary is responsible for accounting for CGT in respect of capital gains realised on
each sale, transfer or redemption of the Notes. Where a particular sale, transfer or redemption
of the Notes results in a net loss, the Intermediary is entitled to deduct such loss from gains
subsequently realised on assets held by the Noteholder with the same Intermediary within the
same relationship of deposit, in the same fiscal year or in the following fiscal years up to the
fourth. Pursuant to Decree No. 138, only 62.5 per cent. of capital losses incurred up to
31 December 2011 can be offset against capital gains realised after 31 December 2011
(within the original time framework). The Noteholder is not required to declare the gains in
its annual income tax return and remains anonymous; and
(c)

pursuant to the discretionary investment portfolio regime (Risparmio Gestito regime), if the
Notes are part of a portfolio managed by an Italian asset management company, capital gains
are not subject to CGT, but contribute to determine the annual net accrued result of the
portfolio, which is subject to an ad-hoc 20 per cent. substitute tax to be applied on behalf of
the Noteholder by the asset management company. Any net capital losses of the investment
portfolio accrued at year-end may be carried forward and offset against future net profits
accrued in each of the following fiscal years up to the fourth one. Under such regime the
Noteholder is not required to declare the capital gains in its annual income tax return and
remains anonymous. Pursuant to Decree No. 138, only 62.5 per cent. of net capital losses of
the investment portfolio accrued until 31 December 2011 may be carried forward and offset
against future net accrued profits (within the original time framework).

Any capital gain realised upon the sale for consideration or redemption of the Notes is treated as part
of the taxable business income (and, in certain cases, may also be included in the taxable net value of
production for IRAP purposes), subject to tax in Italy according to the relevant tax provisions, if
derived by Noteholders who are (i) Italian resident companies or similar commercial entities;
(ii) Italian permanent establishments of foreign entities to which the Notes are effectively connected;
or (iii) Italian resident individuals engaged in entrepreneurial activities, where such capital gains are
realised within the scope of the entrepreneurial activity carried out.
In the case of Notes held by Funds, capital gains realised upon disposal of the Notes are not taxable at
the level of such Funds. Generally, a 20 per cent. withholding tax applies on distributions to the
unitholders (on account of taxes or as final tax depending on the status of the unitholder), subject to
certain exemptions.
In the case of Notes held by Italian Pension Funds, capital gains on the Notes contribute to determine
the annual net accrued result of same Pension Funds, which is generally subject to an 11 per cent.
substitute tax.
Capital gains on Notes held by Italian Real Estate Investment Funds are not taxable at the level of
same Real Estate Investment Funds, save for the tax regime introduced by Law Decree No. 70 of
13 May 2011 with respect to the taxation of units holders (see paragraph “Taxation of Interest”
above).
Non-Italian resident Noteholders
According to the provisions set forth by Articles 23 and 67 of the Decree No. 917, the 20 per cent.
CGT provided for by Art. 5 of Decree No. 461 may in certain circumstances be payable on capital
gains realised upon sale, transfer or redemption of the Notes by non-Italian resident individuals and
corporations without a permanent establishment in Italy to which the Notes are effectively connected,
if the Notes are held in Italy.
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However, pursuant to Article 23 of Decree No. 917, any capital gains realised by non-Italian residents
without a permanent establishment in Italy to which the Notes are effectively connected through the
sale for consideration or redemption of the Notes are exempt from taxation in Italy to the extent that
the Notes are listed on a regulated market (as defined in the EC Directive No. 2004/39/EC) in Italy or
abroad, and that in certain cases subject to timely filing of required documentation (in the form of a
declaration (autocertificazione) of non-residence in Italy) with Italian qualified intermediaries (or
permanent establishments in Italy of foreign intermediaries) with which the Notes are deposited, even
if the Notes are held in Italy and regardless of the provisions of any applicable double tax treaty.
Where the Notes are not listed on a regulated market in Italy or abroad:
(a)

pursuant to Article 5 of Decree No. 461, and to Article 6 of Decree No. 239, non-Italian
resident beneficial owners of Notes with no permanent establishment in Italy to which the
Notes are effectively connected are exempt from taxation in Italy on any capital gains realised
upon sale for consideration or redemption of the Notes if they are resident, for tax purposes,
in a country which recognises the Italian tax authorities’ right to a satisfactory exchange of
information (included in the “white list” as amended and supplemented, see paragraph
“Taxation of Interest” above).
In this circumstance, if non-Italian residents without a permanent establishment in Italy to
which the Notes are effectively connected elect for the Risparmio Amministrato regime or the
Risparmio Gestito regime, exemption from Italian taxation on capital gains applies on the
condition that they file in time with the authorised financial intermediary an appropriate
declaration (autocertificazione) stating that they meet the requirement of residence, for tax
purposes, in one of the above mentioned countries which recognises the Italian fiscal
authorities’ right to a satisfactory exchange of information;

(b)

in any event, non-Italian resident individuals or entities without a permanent establishment in
Italy to which the Notes are effectively connected that may benefit from a double taxation
treaty with Italy providing that capital gains realised upon sale or redemption of Notes are to
be taxed only in the country of tax residence of the recipient, subject to the relevant
procedural requirements are not subject to taxation in Italy on any capital gains realised upon
sale for consideration or redemption of the Notes.
In these circumstances, if non-Italian residents without a permanent establishment in Italy to
which the Notes are effectively connected elect for the Risparmio Amministrato regime or the
Risparmio Gestito regime, exemption from Italian taxation on capital gains generally applies
on the condition that they file in time with the authorised financial intermediary appropriate
documents which include, inter alia, a certificate of residence from the competent tax
authorities of the country of residence of the non-Italian resident.

Inheritance and gift taxes
Subject to certain conditions, transfer of Notes, mortis causa or by reason of donation, are subject to
inheritance and gift taxes.
Inheritance and gift taxes apply according to the following rates and exclusions:
(a)

transfers to spouses and to direct relatives: 4 per cent. on the value of the Notes exceeding
€1 million for each beneficiary;

(b)

transfers to brothers and sisters: 6 per cent. on the value of the Notes exceeding €100,000 for
each beneficiary;

(c)

transfers to relatives (parenti) within the fourth degree, to direct relatives in law (affini in
linea retta), indirect relatives in law (affini in linea collaterale) within the third degree other
than the relatives indicated above: 6 per cent. on the value of the Notes; and
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(d)

other transfers: 8 per cent. on the value of the Notes.

If the heir/beneficiary is affected by a handicap deemed “critical” pursuant to Law No. 104 of
5 February 1992, inheritance and gift taxes apply only on the value of the Notes exceeding €
1,500,000.
Transfer tax and stamp duty (bollo) on securities account (deposito titoli)
Article 37 of Law Decree No. 248 of 31 December 2007, converted into Law No. 31 of
28 February 2008, abolished the Italian transfer tax (fissato bollato) provided for by Royal Decree
No. 3278 of 30 December 1923, as amended and supplemented.
Following the repeal of the Italian transfer tax, as from 31 December 2007 contracts relating to the
transfer of securities are subject to registration tax as follows: (i) public deeds and notarised deeds
(atti pubblici e scritture private autenticate) executed in Italy should be subject to a lump sum €200
registration tax; (ii) private deeds (scritture private non autenticate) should be subject to a lump sum
€200 registration tax only in the case of use or voluntary registration.
Pursuant to Law Decree 6 December 2011, No. 201 a stamp duty (bollo) is due at the rate of
0.15 per cent. as of fiscal year 2013 computed on the market value of the Notes, if deposited c/o an
Italian resident financial intermediary or c/o an Italian permanent establishment of a foreign financial
intermediary. Should the market value be absent the tax base would correspond to the nominal or
redemption value of the Notes. The stamp duty cannot be lower than €34.20 and, as of 2013, it cannot
exceed €4,500, for taxpayers different from individuals.
If the Notes are held abroad (i.e., c/o foreign financial intermediary or c/o a foreign permanent
establishment of an Italian financial intermediary) by Italian resident individuals, a property tax is due
at the rate of 0.15 per cent. as of fiscal year 2013, computed on the market value of the Notes. Should
the market value be absent the tax base would correspond to the nominal or redemption value of the
Notes.
Tax monitoring obligations
Pursuant to Law Decree No. 167 of 28 June 1990, individuals, non-profit entities and certain
partnerships (in particular, società semplici or similar partnerships in accordance with Article 5 of
Decree No. 917) resident in Italy under certain conditions are required to report in their yearly income
tax return, for tax monitoring purposes, the amount of securities (including the Notes) held abroad at
the end of each tax year.
Should the above mentioned persons qualify as beneficial owner (“titolari effettivi”) of the securities
(including the Notes) in accordance with Article 1(2)(u) and the Technical Annex of the Decree 21
November 2007 no. 231, they shall have to report them in their tax return.
The above persons are, however, not required to comply with the above reporting requirements in
respect of securities deposited for management with qualified Italian financial intermediaries and in
respect of contracts entered into through their intervention, upon condition that the items of income
derived from such securities are collected through the intervention of the same intermediaries.
EU Savings Directive
Under EC Council Directive 2003/48/EC on the taxation of savings income (“EU Savings
Directive”), Member States are required to provide to the tax authorities of another Member State
details of payments of interest (or similar income) paid by a person within its jurisdiction to, or
collected by such a person for, an individual resident in that other Member State or to certain limited
types of entities established in that other Member State. However, for a transitional period,
Luxembourg and Austria are instead required (unless during that period they elect otherwise) to
operate a withholding system in relation to such payments (the ending of such transitional period
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being dependent upon the conclusion of certain other agreements relating to information exchange
with certain other countries).
On 10 April 2013, Luxembourg officially announced that it will no longer apply the withholding tax
system as from 1 January 2015 and will provide details of payment of interest (or similar income) as
from this date.
A number of non-EU countries and territories including Switzerland have adopted similar measures (a
withholding system in the case of Switzerland). The European Commission has proposed certain
amendments to the EU Savings Directive which, if implemented, may amend or broaden the scope of
the requirements described above.
Implementation in Italy of the EU Savings Directive
Italy has implemented the EU Savings Directive through Legislative Decree No. 84 of 18 April 2005
(“Decree 84”). Under Decree 84, subject to a number of important conditions being met, in the case
of interest paid to individuals which qualify as beneficial owners of the interest payment and are
resident for tax purposes in another Member State, Italian qualified paying agents shall report to the
Italian Tax Authorities details of the relevant payments and personal information on the individual
beneficial owner and shall not apply the withholding tax. Such information is transmitted by the
Italian Tax Authorities to the competent foreign tax authorities of the State of residence of the
beneficial owner.
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SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE
Banca IMI S.p.A. and UniCredit Bank AG (together, the “Joint Lead Managers”) and Barclays
Bank PLC (the “Co-Lead Manager” and, together with the Joint Lead Managers, the “Managers”)
have, in a subscription agreement dated 26 November 2013 (the “Subscription Agreement”) and
made between the Issuer, the Guarantors and the Managers, upon the terms and subject to the
conditions contained therein, jointly and severally agreed to subscribe and pay for the Notes at their
issue price of 99.444 per cent. of their principal amount less a combined commission. The Issuer has
also agreed to reimburse the Joint Lead Managers for certain of their expenses incurred in connection
with the management of the issue of the Notes. The Managers are entitled in certain circumstances to
be released and discharged from their obligations under the Subscription Agreement prior to the
closing of the issue of the Notes.
General
No action has been or will be taken in any jurisdiction by the Issuer, the Guarantors or any Manager
that would, or is intended to, permit a public offering of the Notes, or possession or distribution of this
Prospectus or any other offering material, in any country or jurisdiction where action for that purpose
is required. Persons into whose hands this Prospectus comes are required by the Issuer, the
Guarantors and the Managers to comply with all applicable laws and regulations in each country or
jurisdiction in which they purchase, offer, sell or deliver Notes or have in their possession or
distribute or publish this Prospectus or any other offering material relating to the Notes, in all cases at
their own expense.
Each Manager has represented, warranted and agreed that it will to the best of its knowledge and
belief comply with all the relevant laws and regulations in each jurisdiction in which it purchases,
offers, sells or delivers Notes or has in its possession or distributes the Prospectus or any other
offering material, in all cases at its own expense.
United States of America
The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act or any state securities
laws in the United States. The Notes are being offered only outside the United States by the Managers
to certain investors in offshore transactions in reliance on Regulation S, and may not be offered, sold
or delivered within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, “U.S. persons”, except
pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the
Securities Act. Terms used in this paragraph have the meaning given to them by Regulation S.
Each Manager has represented and warranted that it has not offered and sold the Notes, and that it will
not offer and sell the Notes (a) as part of its own distribution at any time or (b) otherwise until
forty (40) days after the later of the commencement of the offering and the Closing Date, except in
accordance with Rule 903 of Regulation S. Accordingly, none of the Managers, any of their
respective Affiliates (as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act) nor any person acting on its or their
behalf has engaged or will engage in any directed selling efforts with respect to the Notes, and each of
the Managers has represented and agreed that they have complied and will comply with the offering
restrictions requirement of Regulation S. Each Manager has agreed that, at or prior to confirmation of
sale of the Notes, it will have sent to each distributor, dealer or person receiving a selling concession,
fee or other remuneration that purchases the Notes from it during the distribution compliance period a
confirmation or notice to substantially the following effect:
“The securities covered hereby have not been registered under the United States Securities
Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and may not be offered and sold within the
United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, “U.S. persons” (i) as part of their
distribution at any time or (ii) otherwise, until forty (40) days after the later of the
commencement of the offering and the Closing Date, except pursuant to an exemption from,
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or in a transaction not subject to, the regulation requirements of the Securities Act. Terms
used above have the meanings given to them by Regulation S.”
Terms used in the above paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S.
Each Manager has represented, warranted and agreed with the Issuer that:
(a)

except to the extent permitted under U.S. Treasury Regulation §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) (the “D
Rules”):
(i)

it has not offered or sold, and during the forty (40) day restricted period will not offer
or sell, Notes in bearer form to a person who is within the United States or its
possessions or to a United States person; and

(ii)

it has not delivered and will not deliver in definitive form within the United States or
its possessions any definitive Notes in bearer form that are sold during the restricted
period;

(b)

it has, and throughout the restricted period will have, in effect procedures reasonably designed
to ensure that its employees or agents who are directly engaged in selling Notes in bearer
form are aware that such Notes may not be offered or sold during the restricted period to a
person who is within the United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except
as permitted by the D Rules;

(c)

if it is a United States person, (i) it is acquiring the Notes in bearer form for the purposes of
resale in connection with their original issue and (ii) if it retains Notes in bearer form for its
own account, it will only do so in accordance with the requirements of U.S. Treasury
Regulation §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D)(6); and

(d)

with respect to each Affiliate (as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act) of any Manager
that acquires Notes in bearer form from such Manager for the purpose of offering or selling
such Notes during the restricted period, such Manager undertakes to the Issuer that it will
either (i) repeat and confirm the representations and agreements contained in subparagraphs (a), (b) and (c) on its behalf or (ii) obtain from such affiliate for the benefit of the
Issuer the representations and undertakings contained in sub-paragraphs (a), (b) and (c)
above.

Terms used in the above paragraph have the meaning given to them by the Code and regulations
thereunder, including the D Rules.
In addition, until forty (40) days after the commencement of the offering, an offer or sale of securities
within the United States by a dealer (whether or not participating in the offering) may violate the
registration requirements of the Securities Act.
Each Manager has acknowledged that the Notes will be represented upon issuance by the Temporary
Global Note which is not exchangeable for Permanent Global Notes or definitive Notes until the
expiration of the 40-day distribution compliance period and, for persons other than distributors, until
certification of beneficial ownership of the Notes by a non-U.S. person or a U.S. person who
purchased securities in a transaction that did not require registration under the Securities Act. Terms
used in this paragraph have the meaning given to them by Regulation S.
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The Republic of Italy
The offering of the Notes has not been cleared by CONSOB pursuant to Italian securities legislation.
Accordingly, no Notes may be offered, sold or delivered, nor may copies of the Prospectus or of any
other document relating to the Notes be distributed in the Republic of Italy, except:
(i)

to qualified investors (investitori qualificati), as defined under Article 100 of the Legislative
Decree No. 58 of 24 February 1998, as amended (the “Italian Financial Act”), as
implemented by Article 26, paragraph 1(d) of Consob Regulation No. 16190 of
29 October 2007, as amended (“CONSOB Regulation No. 16190”), pursuant to Article 34ter, first paragraph, letter b), of CONSOB Regulation No. 11971 of 14 May 1999, as amended
(“CONSOB Regulation No. 11971”); or

(ii)

in other circumstances which are exempted from the rules on public offerings pursuant to
Article 100 of the Italian Financial Act and its implementing CONSOB Regulations including
Regulation No. 11971.

Any such offer, sale or delivery of the Notes or distribution of copies of the Prospectus or any other
document relating to the Notes in the Republic of Italy must be in compliance with the selling
restriction under (i) and (ii) above and:
(a)

made by investment firms, banks or financial intermediaries permitted to conduct such
activities in the Republic of Italy in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Italian
Financial Act, Regulation No. 16190, Legislative Decree No. 385 of 1 September 1993 as
amended (the “Banking Act”) and any other applicable laws or regulation;

(b)

in compliance with Article 129 of the Banking Act and the implementing guidelines of the
Bank of Italy, as amended, pursuant to which the Bank of Italy may request information on
the offering or issue of securities in Italy or by Italian persons outside of Italy; and

(c)

in compliance with any other applicable laws and regulations or requirement imposed by
CONSOB or the Bank of Italy or any other Italian authority.

United Kingdom
Each Manager has represented, warranted and agreed that:
(a)

it has only communicated or caused to be communicated, and will only communicate or cause
to be communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the
meaning of section 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended (the
“FSMA”)) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of the Notes in circumstances in
which section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer and the Guarantors; and

(b)

it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA and the
regulations adopted thereunder with respect to anything done by it in relation to any Notes in,
from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.
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GENERAL INFORMATION
1.

Listing and Admission to Trading. Application has been made for the Notes to be listed on
the Official List and admitted to trading on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange. Admission is expected to take effect on or about the Closing Date.

2.

Authorisation. The Issuer and the Guarantors have obtained all necessary consents,
approvals and authorisations in Italy in connection with the issue and performance of the
obligations under the Notes and the Guarantees relating to them. The creation and issue of
the Notes has been authorised by resolutions of the extraordinary shareholders’ meeting of the
Issuer passed on 7 October 2013, by its Board of Directors passed on 6 November 2013 and
by its Chief Executive Officer on 21 November 2013. The giving of the Guarantees relating
to the Notes by the Guarantors has been authorised by resolutions of the Board of Directors of
each Guarantor passed on the following dates: AEM Gestioni S.r.l., 8 November 2013; Astem
Gestioni S.r.l., 5 November 2013; Ecolevante S.p.A., 30 October 2013; Greenambiente S.r.l
on 30 October 2013; and Linea Più S.p.A on 6 November 2013.

3.

Expenses Related to Admission to Trading. The total expenses related to admission to
trading are estimated at €10,850.

4.

Legal and Arbitration Proceedings. Save as disclosed in “Description of the Issuer –
Litigation”, neither the Issuer nor the Guarantors nor any other member of the Group is or has
been involved in any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such
proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the Issuer or the Guarantors are aware)
in the 12 months preceding the date of this document which may have or have in such period
had a significant effect on the financial position or profitability of the Issuer, the Guarantors
or the Group.

5.

Auditors. The consolidated financial statements of the Group as at and for the years ended
31 December 2011 and 2012 have been prepared in accordance with IFRS and have been
audited without qualification by Reconta Ernst & Young, which is registered under No. 70945
in the Single Register of Legal Auditors at the Ministry of Economy and Finance (Registro
Unico dei Revisori Legali presso il Ministero dell’Economia e delle Finanze), State General
Accounting (Ragioneria Generale dello Stato). Reconta Ernst & Young is also a member of
ASSIREVI, the Italian association of auditing firms.
The Guarantors’ non-consolidated annual financial statements as at and for the years ended 31
December 2012 and 2011 have been prepared in accordance with Italian GAAP and have
been audited without qualification by Reconta Ernst & Young.

6.

No Significant / Material Change. Since 31 December 2012, there has been no material
adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer and, since 30 June 2013, there has been no
significant change in the financial or trading position of the Group.
Since 31 December 2012, there has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the
Guarantors and since 30 June 2013 no significant change in the financial or trading position
of the Guarantors or (where applicable) their subsidiaries.

7.

Documents on Display. For so long as any of the Notes are outstanding, copies of the
following documents may be inspected during normal business hours at the specified office of
each Paying Agent:
(a)

the Agency Agreement;

(b)

the Trust Deed (including the Guarantees);

(c)

the constitutive documents of the Issuer and each of the Guarantors;
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(d)

the most recently published audited consolidated annual and unaudited consolidated
half-yearly financial statements of the Issuer, commencing with the audited
consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer as at and for the years ended 31
December 2012 and 2011, and its unaudited consolidated half-yearly financial
statements as at and for the six months ended 30 June 2013; and

(e)

the audited non-consolidated annual financial statements of the Guarantors as at and
for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011.

A copy of this Prospectus and any document incorporated by reference in this Prospectus will
also be available for viewing on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange
(www.bourse.lu).
8.

Legend for any U.S. Person. The Notes and any Coupons appertaining thereto will bear a
legend to the following effect: “Any United States person who holds this obligation will be
subject to limitations under the United States income tax laws, including the limitations
provided in Sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code.”

9.

ISIN and Common Code. The Notes have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear
and Clearstream, Luxembourg. The International Securities Identification Number for the
Notes is XS0997829519 and the Common Code is 099782951. The address of Euroclear is
1 Boulevard du Roi Albert II, B-1210 Brussels, Belgium and the address of Clearstream,
Luxembourg is, 42 Avenue J.F. Kennedy, L-1855 Luxembourg.

10.

Yield. Based upon an issue price of 99.444 per cent. of the principal amount of the Notes, the
yield on the Notes is 4.00 per cent. on an annual basis. The yield is calculated at the Closing
Date on the basis of the issue price. It is not an indication of future yield.

11.

Potential Conflicts of Interest. Certain of the Managers and their affiliates have engaged,
and may in the future engage, in investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions
with, and may perform services for, the Issuer, the Guarantors and their affiliates in the
ordinary course of business. In addition, in the ordinary course of their business activities, the
Managers and their affiliates may make or hold a broad array of investments and actively
trade debt and equity securities (or related derivative securities) and financial instruments
(including bank loans) for their own account and for the accounts of their customers. Such
investments and securities activities may involve securities and/or instruments of the Issuer,
the Guarantors or their affiliates or any entity related to the Notes. Certain of the Managers or
their affiliates that have a lending relationship with the Issuer routinely hedge their credit
exposure to the Issuer or the Guarantors consistently with their customary risk management
policies. Typically, such Managers and their affiliates would hedge such exposure by
entering into transactions which consist of either the purchase of credit default swaps or the
creation of short positions in the Issuer’s or the Guarantors’ securities, including potentially
the Notes offered hereby. Any such short positions could adversely affect future trading
prices of the Notes. The Managers and their affiliates may also make investment
recommendations and/or publish or express independent research views in respect of such
securities or financial instruments and may hold, or recommend to clients that they acquire,
long and/or short positions in such securities and instruments. For the purpose of this
paragraph the word “affiliates” also includes parent companies. In particular Intesa Sanpaolo
S.p.A., the parent company of Banca IMI S.p.A., one of the Managers under the Notes, has
made significant financing to the Issuer and to certain subsidiary companies and has a conflict of
interest in as much as part of the proceeds from the issue of the Notes may be used to repay
previous loans granted to LGH Group (please, see the “Use of Proceeds” section for further
potential conflicts of interest). Furthermore, Banca IMI S.p.A. as a Manager under the Notes will
receive a commission (as further described in “Subscription and Sale”. Moreover, UniCredit
S.p.A., the parent company of UniCredit Bank AG, one of the Managers under the Notes, has
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provided corporate finance services to LGH Group in the last twelve months and has a
significant lending relationship with the Issuer and certain subsidiary companies within LGH
Group, and has a conflict of interest in as much as part of the proceeds from the issue of the
Notes may be used to repay previous loans granted to LGH Group. Furthermore, as a
Manager, UniCredit Bank AG will receive a commission (as further described in
“Subscription and Sale”).
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